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Shenzhen International Holdings Limited is a company incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability and is listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The Group is principally
engaged in the investment, construction and operation of logistic
infrastructure facilities, as well as the provision of relevant logistic
services which include third party logistic services and logistic

information services.

As at the date of this report, Shenzhen Investment Holding
Corporation, an investment holding institution owned by Shenzhen
Municipal Government and under the supervision of Shenzhen
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Bureau, is
the controlling shareholder of the Company holding approximately

40.55% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The Group’s development strategy defines the Pearl River Delta,
Yangtze River Delta and the Pan-Bohai Rim in the PRC as the
strategic development regions. Through acquisitions, restructuring
and integration, the Group will focus on the investment, construction
and operation of logistic infrastructures such as toll roads and
logistic parks. With the support of infrastructures, information
technology and supply chain technology, the Group will aim at
continuously perfecting the organisation of logistic networks and
the construction of facilities and gradually form a long-term strategic
partnership with its customers and supply chain partners, thereby

establishing the Group’s core competitiveness.
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Under the supervision of Shenzhen State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Bureau
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For identification purpose only
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Listed company in Hong Kong

FE Fifr 2 A
Listed company in the PRC

FBEm L DI ERINK B LK EE (115 EERTZ)
Total mileage of toll highways calculated on the basis of equity interests (including in operations and under construction)
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— Key Events in 2009

—HR
February
e FRANBHENERMINARI CZTNFERATBRERERER] —
e The construction of Nanjing Xiba Wharf was listed as a key project of
Communications Construction in Nanjing City in 2009

A

April

o EEYIRKINEI ERSE —HAMMNBTEEHR0.261EME0.52 - HINEERE14.18FHK

e South China Logistics successfully obtained approval for the increase of plot ratio of its
first phase land area from 0.26 to 0.52. Gross floor area was increased by 141,000 square
metres

iR

May

e EFYIRERYITZTRFR T DRIITEELE]

e South China Logistics was named as “Advanced Enterprise
in Shenzhen City” by the Shenzhen Municipal Government

ez
June
— o XYl EAARE10.69E T W EHA R A F45% Em
e Shenzhen Expressway acquired 45% equity interest in Jihe East Company at a
consideration of RMB1,069 million

e EEYIRMMEFYRAF O (BEEMBENT.28F K MEEITIREREARR
e The main construction project of the two logistic centres at South China Logistics
(total operating area 72,000 square metres) commenced

£ A
July

e AHYMIRE _BWRF O (LEMBEISEFT AR NERIERRF £/
RIBEBVTHARNIEERBEHAER T -—SFFRTK

e The construction of Phase Il logistic centre at Shenzhen Western
Logistics (total operating area 150,000 square metres) commenced. The
first phase project with an area of 73,000 square metres is expected to
complete by end 2010

e FESRTKIRERIMY  HRSELAREERELE —
e The main trunk of Qinglian Expressway was completed and start
operating and collecting toll at expressway toll standards
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Key Events in 2009

September
s EFYRETERTREMAEBIRGNERNETE MR ERETEBHERE —
e South China Logistics promoted its businesses in Hong Kong to peers

from southern China and Hong Kong at the Exchange
Seminar on Bonded Logistics Business

TA

October

o EEYIRKNEISE BB THEERZEEBES FIENT.7EFHAKR12.098 F 75 K

e South China Logistics successfully acquired its second phase land area. Site area and gross floor area
increased by 77,000 square metres and 120,900 square metres respectively

November
s XleREE_ZTNFERITHEEER] —
® Shenzhen Expressway received the “2009 Shenzhen Mayor’s Quality

Award”
December
= «AEELRE=ETE ) ERY A REHEES  ETRE

TSR

e The Group participated in the China (Shenzhen) International
Logistics and Transportation Expo, promoting the Group’s
brand name and businesses
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Financial Highlights

BYEET
HK$ million
35,000 -

30,000 [~
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15,000 - 13.966
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5,000

T

REEE

Total assets value

26,915

23,419

14,548

32,448

2005

2006 2007 2008

REREGESREEFE

2009

Net asset value attributable to shareholders

BT
HK dollar
0.6

04 [

03 +

02

0.1 |

per share

0.48

0.37
0.35

0.50

2005

2006 2007 2008

BREFN (EX)

Earnings per share (basic)

Bl
HK cents

18

3.75

15.69

2.61

2009

2005
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2006 2007 2008

2009

BT
Total equit
BEEET quity
HK$ million
14,000
12,720
12,000 |- 11,534
9,883
10,000 |-
8000 | 789 7,849
6,000 |
4,000
2,000 |
0
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
IR R FEML 2R
Profit attributable to shareholders
BYEET
HK$ million
1,800
1,606
1,500 |-
1,200 |-
900 |
600 517 568 577
428
300 |- 8ot 289
’ l
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
R Core Business
W 3% HEE  Non-recurring items
SRASRKE
Cash dividend per share
ML
HK cents
5 —
4 -
3.50
3 L
2 L
1.45 1.46
1.00
tr 71
0.55 0.60 i
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
KREARE Final dividend
W ERIIRE Special dividend
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Financial Highlights

ANALYSIS OF REVENUE AND PROFIT BEFORE

2R FINANCE COSTS AND TAX BY PRINCIPAL
ACTIVITIES
(B¥EHEER) (HK$ million) EEBEATR
HEEHER
BR (Fi8)
Share of
profit/(loss) of
BERR associates and
(F518) jointly
WA Operating controlled st
Revenue profit/(loss) entities Total
—ZEZTAF
2009
¢ UN Toll Road
- L ON - Toll revenue 2,513 1,241 295 1,536
—EERBEA — Construction revenue 1,212 1 — 1
3,725 1,242 295 1,637
Wi E Logistic Park 177 51 2 53
i AR 7% Logistic Service 178 7 — 7
4,080 1,300 297 1,597
EE @A Head office 1 388 — 388
B 5% K2 B 7% Profit before finance costs and tax
B A B 22 ) 4,081 1,688 297 1,985
B 75 e 2 Finance income
IR %N Finance costs 569
RS ARA — JF 8 Finance costs - net (541)
R B4 AT 2 F Profit before income tax 1,444
—TENF
2008
¢ UN7 Toll Road
—BBEWA - Toll revenue 2,037 1,120 222 1,342
—EERBEA — Construction revenue 3,646 2 — 2
5,683 1,122 222 1,344
& Logistic Park 147 47 1) 46
i AR 7% Logistic Service 122 (1) 6 5
5,952 1,168 227 1,395
ESEEE Head office — 146 — 146
B 58 K2 B 7% Profit before finance costs and tax
B AN B 22 ) 5,952 1,314 227 1,541
B 75 e 2 Finance income
B RS A Finance costs 446
RS AKAR — JF 8 Finance costs - net (384)
FR BT & A Profit before income tax

1,157
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Financial Highlights

MBERBRE

AEESIOEMBRFELREREENBE
MEIRAOT - —EFNFEEBIIRBEELEE
BRHBHRE  —FEN\FEEBEIREE _FTF
NFEREGVBRRIULBHF  —TTRF

E-TTLHFYRDIREEEVHERRAER
4o

ES Results

A Revenue

W 5 AT 2 F Profit before income tax
Fris Income tax expense

Rt DB R R 2 BT

Profit before minority
interests

DHR R S Minority interests

% R e 15 & Profit attributable to
shareholders

BEEREE Assets and liabilities

BEEEE Fixed assets

REME Investment properties

REE QR 2 = Investments in associates

RERZEFI RS

Investments in jointly
controlled entities

AHEEZHBEE Available-for-sale financial
assets

mILEAE Intangible assets

Hth IER ED EF Other non-current assets

RBEE,/ (BE) FE Net current assets/(liabilities)

ERBAE Non-current liabilities

BEFERE Net assets

= Equity

BETRA Issued capital

] Reserves

AR SR AE 2 Shareholders’ equity

DHRR R S Minority interests

wrEs Total equity
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is depicted below. The
2009 figures are extracted from the audited financial statements.
The 2008 figures are extracted from the comparatives in the
2009 audited financial statements. The 2005 to 2007 figures

are compiled based on the management accounts.

BE+-A=+t-RLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EEhEF —ETNF —ETHF ZEER —TTRF
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
BT T BEET T BEET T ook i abiv ook i abiv
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
4,080,949 5,951,614 4,984,600 2,632,367 2,398,672
1,443,983 1,156,665 3,002,451 637,129 736,506
(266,885) (190,043) (5650,900) (55,826) (60,134)
1,177,098 966,622 2,451,551 581,303 676,372
(311,239) (391,636) (329,010) (280,403) (248,604)
865,859 574,986 2,122,541 300,900 427,768
R+=-—H=+-—A8

As at 31 December
—EZNEF —TENF —TTLF —EEREF —EERF
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
BT T BEET T BEET T ook abv ook i abv
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
3,521,077 2,487,334 1,887,233 1,282,424 1,476,608
44,443 49,183 32,580 19,710 19,230
1,455,216 1,441,731 1,423,285 3,796,711 3,706,623
300,350 773,559 923,679 1,025,034 1,104,153
142,366 95,726 222,652 188,509 893,499
22,463,694 18,125,699 13,716,069 6,278,009 4,788,109
99,170 — — 2,356 41,657
(1,701,065) (1,394,310) 1,872,604 (1,827,021) (931,016)
(13,605,561) | (11,696,317) (8,543,920) (2,916,365) (3,255,419)
12,719,690 9,882,605 11,634,182 7,849,367 7,843,444
1,414,193 1,402,742 1,421,818 1,208,757 1,135,505
5,610,943 3,607,179 5,464,525 3,245,850 3,564,043
7,025,136 4,909,921 6,886,343 4,454,607 4,699,548
5,694,554 4,972,684 4,647,839 3,394,760 3,143,896
12,719,690 9,882,605 11,634,182 7,849,367 7,843,444
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Chariman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Group for the Year amounted
to HK$866 million, representing an increase of 51%. Under the
impact of the financial crisis, the Group’s core businesses remained
stable despite the severe challenges caused by the substantial
decline in import and export value in the PRC. The core businesses
recorded a profit of HK$577 million, representing an increase of
2%.

The Board recommended the payment of a final cash dividend
of HK1.46 cents per share to shareholders for the Year, representing
an increase of 1% over the previous year and exemplifying the
Group’s stable dividend policy. The Board also recommended a
special cash dividend of HKO.71 cent per share. Total cash dividend
for the Year was HK2.17 cents per share.

Between 2007 and 2008, we achieved a strategic expansion of
the core business through measures including large scale mergers
and acquisitions and restructuring, as well as project investments
in new business areas, thereby leading to rapid growth in asset
scale and business capacity. Compared to early-2007, the gross
floor areas of the Group’s logistic parks has grown from 610,000
square metres to 1,300,000 square metres, and operating area
of logistic centres has grown from 60,000 square metres to 280,000
square metres, while equity-based mileage of expressways operated
by the Group has expanded from 100 kilometres to over 500
kilometres currently. We have been increasing our control of strategic
resources by turning the companies with participating interests
including Shenzhen Western Logistics, South China Logistics,
Shenzhen EDI and Shenzhen Expressway into those with absolute
controlling interests as of now. Bases of core businesses have
been gradually extended from Shenzhen to Nanjing and Yantai
with vertical developments in different detailed segments of
businesses including port investment and chemical logistics. Amidst
the rapid expansion during such period, we have established a
management and control system of strategic controlling by the
Group (more details in the Corporate Governance Report) and
have adjusted our internal property rights and organisational structure,
thereby realising the implementation of flat management. In order
to further accelerate the enhancement of profitability, the Company
will effect the economies of scale through focusing on developing
innovative business models, optimising resources integration,
strengthening internal control and enhancing capital operation,
thereby stocking reserves for the Company’s future development.

FI BT B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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Chariman’s Statement
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R -
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Faced with a complex and difficult business environment in 2009,
by focusing more on enhancement of internal development the
Group strictly adhered to the mainstream of “controlling the
investment pace, strengthening management and control as a
group, and enhancing corporate quality and profitability” and
proactively carried out different tasks. We have been insisting
on promoting and implementing the overall development strategy
of the Group. Through strengthening construction management
of projects and follow-up capital injection, we actively developed
and unearthed currently held production capacity. The Group
also unified its brand with information development, so as to
reorganise internal resources and to enhance corporate
competitiveness. The Group strengthened capital management
and lowered financial costs while proactively taking precautions
against liquidity risks and supporting internal management and
development. By exploring innovative business models, we actively
identified means to optimise the utilisation of resources and maximise
business profitability; whilst pushing ahead with meticulous and
regulated management with all-round risk management and systems
building. Thus, the Group maintained stable and considerable
operating results.

With a continued expansion of the Group’s business, there is an
urgent need to have the original varied brands of various subsidiaries
integrated on a systematic basis. Therefore, the Company initiated
a unified branding strategy in 2009. Through the creation of the
Group’s unified brand image, products of all subsidiaries are
organically connected with the market, a distinct brand positioning
and its identification system were set up. The Group will continuously
enhance brand awareness and influence in the market, and hopes
that this will ultimately gain recognition and trust from customers
and partners.

We realised, as a corporate citizen, that we have to take our
responsibility as a unit of the society. Hence, we have been proactively
contributing in areas such as charity and environmental protection.
We regard social responsibility as a long-term corporate conduct.
During the Year, there were 1,800 employees participated in our
voluntary activities. We will continue our endeavours in the future.
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Chariman’s Statement

We realise clearly our development stage and challenges ahead.
Therefore, we will redouble our efforts to enhance our capability
in sustainable development, strengthen backup power for long-
term development, as well as achieve healthy and gradual
development. Looking towards 2010, we will focus on enhancing
existing core businesses while coping with challenges ahead through
proactive and moderate expansion of investment, prudent capital
operation and continued enhancement of management. We will
also enhance communication with different sectors in order to
make our initiatives more positive, reasonable and suitable for
the market. We realise the high hopes placed on us and will
strive to meet them and advance steadily.

| would like to, on behalf of the Board, take this opportunity to
express my heartfelt gratitude to all shareholders and investors
for their continuous support to the Group. In particular, | would
also like to thank all the staff of the Group for their valuable service
and contribution during the Year.

Guo Yuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis

¥/&EMOkEE REVIEW OF RESULTS

E-ETNFmERLEEIRET - Z&EE  Amid the challenging economic environment in 2009, profit
IR FE(E B FEBE8.66E L & —TZ )\ attributable to shareholders of the Group amounted to HK$866

>|

/~I

FRIBIEINGT1% © million, representing a significant increase of 51% over 2008.
g/

—EZhEF —ETNF OB

2009 2008 Increase/

BETT BEETIL  (Decrease)

HK$’000 HK$’000 %

WA (kU & AR Revenue (excluding construction

BERBUKA) revenue from toll roads) 2,869,253 2,306,887 24
U B N B Y 22 45 AR 75 UL A Construction revenue from toll roads 1,211,696 3,644,727 (67)
@A Total Revenue 4,080,949 5,951,614 (31)
Brfi & BA AR ANBI & | Profit before finance costs and tax 1,985,078 1,540,560 29
AN Core Business 1,619,920 1,414,217 15
JEREEETE B Non-recurring items 365,158 126,343 189
% R A 2 7 Profit attributable to shareholders 865,859 574,986 51
AN Core Business 576,975 568,341 2
SEREEIEIRA Non-recurring items 288,884 6,645 4,247
FREXREF GEWL) Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 6.17 4.06 52
2R OB Core Business (HK cents) 4.11 4.02 2
JEeeEEE A GBI Non-recurring items (HK cents) 2.06 0.04 5,050
FRrREE Dividend per share
— REARR B (B - Final dividend (HK cents) 1.46 1.45 1
— BRI AR 2 (B — Special dividend (HK cents) 0.71 —  TEAN/A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CORE BUSINESS

At the beginning of 2009, impacted by the global financial crisis,
the externally oriented economies of Shenzhen and its nearby
areas saw their economic activities and commerce and trade
exchanges being significantly affected by sluggish external demands.
In the second quarter of 2009, an array of stimulus measures
implemented by governments of various countries started to take
effect, and the global economy resumed growth in the second
half of 2009. With a view to tackling the global financial crisis,
the Chinese government has initiated a series of policies aimed
at encouraging domestic demands, and rapidly arrested the
significant decline of economic growth. Although for the whole
year of 2009 China still registered a decrease of 13.9% in export
value, such decrease was already a significant improvement
compared to the decline of 23.5% for the first half of 2009.

Since the second half of 2009, international trade gradually
rebounded, cargo transport volume also picked up, and private
car ownership continued to rise due to the launch of revival plans
for the car industry by the Chinese government. The opening of
the Group’s expressways in recent years has also led to a rapid
growth in toll revenue, while the total operating area of the Group’s
logistic centres has increased substantially by 155,000 square
metres from the second half of 2008 to the end of 2009, bringing
a new revenue contribution for the Year. Meanwhile, the Group
has also successfully expanded its market by introducing a number
of new quality customers, thereby recording considerable growth
in revenues from the logistic park business and the logistic service
business.
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Logistic service

88%
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The Group’s revenue (excluding construction revenue from toll
roads) in 2009 was up 24% over the previous year, with the
growth rate being reflected mainly in the second half of the Year.
Revenue in the second half of 2009 increased by 36% as compared
to the corresponding period of the previous year, much higher
than the year-on-year increase of 12% in the first half of the
Year. Toll revenue and revenues from logistic park and logistic
service businesses in the second half of 2009 went up by 41%,
19% and 26%, respectively, over the first half of the Year. Total
revenue also increased by 39% over the first half of the Year.

Year 2009 was a difficult year for the logistics industry. Under
shrinking market conditions, we maintained revenue growth by
increasing operating scale. However, this also increased fixed
costs, resulting in a decrease in gross profit margin. We cut various
expenses and controllable costs, thereby reducing the yearly
management fees by 6% and maintaining year-by-year growth
in operating profit. The Group’s profit before finance costs and
tax of the core business amounted to HK$1,620 million (2008:
HK$1,414 million), representing an increase of 15% over the same
period of previous year.
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Nevertheless, with the Group’s net finance costs significantly
increased by 41% over the previous year and with the domestic
income tax rate rising from 18% to 20%, the growth in operating
profit was being offset to a certain extent. During the Year, profit
attributable to shareholders of the core business amounted to
HK$577 million (2008: HK$568 million), an increase of 2%.

Non-Recurring Profit of HK$283 million from Disposal
of A Shares of CSG

During the Year, the A share market in the PRC saw an improvement
while the overall stock market witnessed a stable increase, leading
to a quickened pace in the Group’s disposal of shares in CSG
as compared to 2008. During the Year, the Group disposed of a
total of 29.31 million A shares of CSG at an average consideration
of approximately RMB16.16 (HK$18.34) per share, and the Group
realised a non-recurring profit of approximately HK$283 million.

Final Dividend and Special Dividend were HK1.46
cents and HKO0.71 cent respectively, with payout ratio
maintained at 35%

The Board recommended a final cash dividend of HK1.46 cents
per share for the Year (2008: HK1.45 cents), representing an
increase of 1% over the previous year. The Board also recommended
the payment of a special cash dividend of HKO.71 cent per share
(2008: Nil) for the profit from disposal of assets. Total cash dividend
for the Year was HK2.17 cents per share, an increase of 50%,
while total dividends amounted to HK$307 million (2008: HK$203
million), an increase of 51%, and representing 35% (2008: 35%)
of net profit.
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ANALYSIS OF MAJOR BUSINESS OPERATION

Toll Road Business

The Group operates and invests in the toll road business in the
Shenzhen region, other regions in Guangdong Province and other
provinces in China. Significant cash flow is generated from the
toll road business, and the Group has leading management and
operation capabilities. The mileage of the expressways currently
operated by the Group has exceeded 500 kilometres, bringing
considerable business scale and stable cash income to the Group.

The Group operates the toll road business mainly through its
50.889% owned Shenzhen Expressway, of which H shares and
A shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange respectively. The Group holds or controls
16 expressway projects through Shenzhen Expressway and directly
holds 89.93% and 45% interests in Longda Expressway and
Wuhuang Expressway (the remaining 55% interests are owned
by Shenzhen Expressway), respectively.

RYIBIFR 2 A% A BR /A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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BRE

(WRE)
I PN -3 & EERR Length
Toll Highways Location Operating Period (Approximate Kilometres)
BEARR I 200546 A-2035%6 A 28.2
Longda Expressway Shenzhen June 2005-June 2035
BE =R EI 19959 5 5-20274 3 A 19.3
Meiguan Expressway Shenzhen May 1995-March 2027
BT R EI 19999 5 F-20274 3 A 21.7
Jihe West Shenzhen May 1999-March 2027
AR R R EI 1997410 A-202743 A 23.9
Jihe East Shenzhen October 1997-March 2027
B R 23l 20064 5H-202743 A 15.2
Yanpai Expressway Shenzhen May 2006-March 2027
BiFEmR 23l 20014 48-203143 A 29.1
Yanba Expressway Shenzhen April 2001-March 2031
MYt E RN 20084 1 H-2033%F1 A 33.1
Nanguang Expressway Shenzhen January 2008-January 2033
KE @R EI 2002492 H-2025%12 A 20.1
Shuiguan Expressway Shenzhen February 2002-December 2025
KEERE el 2005 10A-2025%12 A 5.2
Shuiguan Extension Shenzhen October 2005-December 2025
A B®R 2004F11H-2027%7R4 79.7
Yangmao Expressway Guangdong November 2004-July 2027
B1EIE B BR 2004912 8-2027%11 A 39.8
Guangwu Project Guangdong December 2004-November 2027
IHRIER B 2005% 11 A-202748 A 37.5
Jiangzhong Project Guangdong November 2005-August 2027
BN =R B =R [EfFHEREBEFI =R 42
Guangzhou Western Second Guangdong to be approved by relevant

Ring Expressway authorities

BER R BR 20094 7H-20345 7R 215
Qinglian Expressway Guangdong July 2009-July 2034
B &R ik 19974 9H-202249A4 70.3
Wuhuang Expressway Hubei September 1997-September 2022
RO REK ilEz] 19994 11 A-20294 12 34.5
Changsha Ring Road Hunan November 1999-December 2029
BAR= A 20059 10H-2035%10 A 15.6
Nanjing Third Bridge Jiangsu October 2005-October 2035

FI BT B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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B Toll revenue increased by 23% to HK$2,513 million

B Profit before finance costs and tax increased by
14% to HK$1,537 million

B Profit attributable to shareholders increased by 3%

to HK$614 million
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Major factors affecting the operating performance of the Group’s
toll road business during the Year include:

Domestic macro economy: Due to the continuing impact
of the global financial crisis in the first half of 2009, China’s
economic growth slowed down, thereby curbing consumption
growth. Crowding out effect was brought to the financial
market and property market as a result of the deviated
development of the industrial structure in Shenzhen, curbing
its economic development. Coupled with rising costs and
declining profitability, operations of simple processing
businesses have been shifted into the Mainland or curtailed,
thereby affecting the development of cargo transportation.
In the second half of 2009, the economy of Pearl River Delta
region improved gradually and the stimulating effect from
domestic demands gradually appeared. Growths in investments
and consumption improved month-by-month while declines
in foreign trade and exports continued to narrow. Growth
in industrial production gradually re-climbed, thereby resulting
in positive impact on the traffic volume and toll revenue of
the toll road industry.

National policies: In early 2009, the PRC government
implemented the revival plan for the automobile industry,
including a temporary reduction in vehicle purchase tax and
the provision of one-off financial subsidies for vehicle change,
which has stimulated vehicle sales and has indirectly driven
an increase in traffic volume on the toll road operation.

Adjustment to “Green Passage Toll-Free Policy”: In June
2009, the revised “Green Passage” policy was implemented
in Hubei Province whereby the criteria for vehicles enjoying
the policy were tightened, thereby directly boosting the toll
revenue generated on Wuhuang Expressway.
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s THEBRT  EXERNINES  MEK
AHEE ERBRAHEE/KERR
TREE  AERBSEARMMBI A
BEEE - RO FEE H-EREEL
FEERENER - RI BN E
BOREME®R - B AT BEEMNTRER
BEEELHRRKT - RAER LRSS
HERLERARS  E-FHHTL
BB b EL PR AR BB FE N -

o Industry competition: The increase in transport capacity
of railways and the decrease in shipping costs impacted
the overall highway transportation industry. Widening and
expansion works of nearby expressways and local roads,
as well as openings of new roads, had hindered traffic growth
to a certain extent. Meanwhile, upon the implementation
of fuel tax reforms, prices of petroleum products sold in
China have hit a record high. A surge in fuel costs could
increase operating costs for vehicles, thereby further lowering
the competitiveness of highway transportation as compared
to railway and waterway transportation.

20

EAEE Longda Expressway
ZEBAF —ZEENF =Bl
2009 2008 Increase
E2FH/EERA Total Annual Toll Revenue
(B¥Aa&ET) (HK$Million) 443 423 5%
2FBERE Total Annual Traffic Volume
(T ) (Vehicle/Thousand) 20,961 19,321 8%
AHEERA Average Daily Toll Revenue
(BETIT) (HK$Thousand) 1,214 1,160 5%
HYERE Average Daily Traffic Volume
(F ) (Vehicle/Thousand) 57.42 52.93 8%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Year, Longda Expressway recorded a toll revenue
of HK$443 million (2008: HK$423 million), up 5% over the
previous year. Profit before finance costs and tax amounted
to HK$292 million (2008: HK$284 million), representing an
increase of 3% over the previous year. Profit attributable to
shareholders amounted to HK$220 million (2008: HK$224 million),
representing a decrease of 2% over the previous year.

During the Year, as favourably impacted by a series of policies
implemented for the automobile industry in China, the traffic
volume of private cars (Class 1) on Longda Expressway
increased by 17% over the previous year. However, affected
by an overall decline in China’s foreign exports, the travelling
frequency of truck vehicles (Class 5) with a higher toll rate
dropped, with their traffic volume decreasing by 15% over
the previous year, thereby lowering the growth rate of toll
revenue on Longda Expressway.

Major measures adopted by Longda Expressway to enhance
its overall operating performance during the Year

The expansion project for the Guangming toll station would
provide favourable traffic conditions to facilitate the construction
and development of Guangming New District, while the
construction of Guangming New District and continued
development and improvement of its tourism and catering
industries would bring about positive effect on the traffic
growth at the Guangming station.

Improved traffic signages in neighbouring areas and marketing
and publicity through Dalingshan TV (in Dongguan) and Shenzhen
Radio would enable more people to know about Longda
Expressway so as to attain its goal of attracting more vehicles
to travel on Longda Expressway. Such effect would considerably
boost the growth of traffic volume on this road section.

Set up specific work objective, strictly reinforcing the
requirements of toll management and continuously enhancing
work efficiency and service quality, thereby increasing the
attraction of travelling.

Construction of Widening Section of Longda Expressway

On 20 May 2009, the Group signed an entrusted construction
agreement pursuant to which Shenzhen Expressway is
entrusted to construct the Longhua extension section of
Longda Expressway (located in Baoan District, Shenzhen,
starting from the Yuanfen footbridge situated in Bulong Road
and ending at a place connected with Longda Expressway,
with a mileage of approximately 1.949 kilometres).
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In June 2009, the tender work for the widening project of
Longhua section on Longda Expressway was completed
and construction works commenced in October 2009.
Currently, the construction of pile foundation widening, retaining
walls of Longhua River, drainage and road foundation was
commenced. The project is expected to be completed and
put into use at the end of 2010. The two-way 8-lane widened
section will effectively ease traffic flows towards Buiji, Longhua
and Guanlan in Shenzhen and will play a positive role in
growing the traffic volume on this section.
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RESE Wuhuang Expressway
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2009 2008 Increase
2FLIRBWA Total Annual Toll Revenue
(B¥BaET) (HK$Million) 451 419 8%
PFRERE Total Annual Traffic Volume
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AHEERA Average Daily Toll Revenue
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A ERE Average Daily Traffic Volume
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Year, toll revenue on Wuhuang Expressway
amounted to HK$451 million (2008: HK$419 million),
representing an increase of 8% over the previous year. Profit
before finance costs and tax amounted to HK$235 million
(2008: HK$222 million), representing an increase of 6% over
the previous year. Profit attributable to shareholders amounted
to HK$65.29 million (2008: HK$59.77 million), representing
an increase of 9% over the previous year.

Inland cities in general suffered less impact from the global
financial crisis than coastal cities in China. With several
expressways including Hanghong Expressway and Daguangbei
Expressway in Hubei Province commenced operation in 2009,
the traffic volume of Wuhuang Expressway was boosted
by the resulting improvement in road networks.

The new Huangshi toll station was put into use in May 2009,
which has substantially reduced traffic congestion at the
old Huangshi toll station, thereby improving the tolling
environment of Wuhuang Expressway.

Major measures adopted by Wuhuang Expressway to enhance
its overall operating performance during the Year

In September 2009, construction of new electronic toll lanes
at each toll gate of Wuhuang Expressway commenced and
the whole project was completed in mid-December 2009.
Equipment and passage software were tested successfully.
Having met the requirements for traffic operation, electronic
toll lanes were formally launched in January 2010.

The Hubei Provincial Bureau of Expressway Management
required expressway management companies in the province
to replace original traffic signposts in accordance with the
new naming rules for road networks in 2009. Wuhuang
Expressway actively pushed forward the replacement of
traffic signposts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RN & &E

Shenzhen Expressway

RARBEFINSEFEEHWRE ABRRALE  During the Year, operating performances of the toll roads held
EMEERROT : by the Company through Shenzhen Expressway were as follows:
HYREERE HIFEREBKRA
Daily Mixed Average Daily
Traffic Volume Toll Revenue
H-FENF
HaEL 5 i
SR H-ZENF /(A
ERiG —TEAF  HLEN Increase/
Interest 2009 Increase —EEAF (decrease)
held by (T&) as 2009 as
Shenzhen  (Vehicle/ compared (¥ F7x) compared
[E- g3 Toll highways Expressway Thousand) to 2008  (HK$000)  to 2008
FHHE Shenzhen region:
BERR Meiguan Expressway 100% 98 6% 924 4%
BEAR Jine West 100% 73 8% 1,079 2%
BETRER Jihe East* 100% 93 2% 1,409 2%
B R Yanpai Expressway 100% 34 6% 435 (5%)
HEsR Yanba Expressway 100% 17 19% 242 10%
MrER Nanguang Expressway* 100% 32 97% 343 73%
KERR Shuiguan Expressway 40% 118 1% 1,217 8%
KERRR Shuiguan Extension 40% 32 15% 230 14%
EREEMHE Other regions in Guangdong province:
BxmR Yangmao Expressway 25% 20 8% 1,099 8%
BEEE Guangwu Project 30% 11 14% 347 16%
IHIEE Jiangzhong Project 25% 51 12% 802 9%
BMNE R Guangzhou Western Second Ring
Expressway 25% 15 55% 535 58%
BETE B ¥ Qinglian Expressway** 76.37% 16 @A N/A 942  TEMN/A
PERME ] Other provinces in China:
REsR Wuhuang Expressway 55%% 32 1% 1,287 8%
RORE Changsha Ring Road 51% 7 22% 73 6%
HR=1E Nanjing Third Bridge 25% 20 9% 763 6%
Bfet - Notes:
a ARARRRINEGED R B RERRIE% K65% = (& 4 The Company and Shenzhen Expressway hold 45% and 55% (totalling 100%)
HAE100%) ° interests in Wuhuang Expressway respectively.
# BEZEZNFAA=THR  FlERUBERARNE ¢ Since 30 September 2009, the shareholding of Shenzhen Expressway in Jihe
R& L 51 55 % B A1ZE100% © East Company increased from 55% to 100%.
* BARER T NF—AKBE - * Nanguang Expressway became operational at the end of January 2008.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The toll for the main trunk of Qinglian project was collected according to expressway
toll standards since 1 July 2009. There are differences between the open toll
mode and expressway closed toll mode in terms of toll standards, vehicle
classification and statistics. Therefore, Qinglian Expressway did not provide
comparables and on-balance sheet data are merely operating data after operation
of Qinglian Expressway, excluding operating data on Liannan Section and the
Class Il road under Guangdong Qinglian Highway Development Company Limited
(“Qinglian Company”) which still collected toll based on Class | toll standards.
In 2009, the overall daily toll revenue of Qinglian Company was approximately
HK$750,000, of which the daily toll revenue was HK$520,000 for the first half
of the Year and was HK$980,000 for the second half of the Year.

During the Year, Shenzhen Expressway recorded a toll revenue
of HK$1,619 million (2008: HK$1,195 million), representing
an increase of 35% over the previous year. Profit before
finance costs and tax amounted to HK$1,009 million (2008:
HK$837 million), representing an increase of 21% over the
previous year. Profit attributable to shareholders amounted
to HK$329 million (2008: HK$311 million), representing an
increase of 6% over the previous year.

During the Year, traffic volumes and toll revenues from a
majority of highway projects operated and invested by
Shenzhen Expressway recorded year-on-year growths. In
particular, the growth rates on Nanguang Expressway and
Guangzhou Western Second Ring Expressway, which were
newly opened in recent years, exceeded 50%. Expressway
toll standards have been applied to Qinglian Expressway
since 1 July 2009, and a daily average toll revenue of
HK$940,000 was achieved, which basically met expectations.

Major measures adopted by Shenzhen Expressway to enhance
its overall operating performance during the Year

Proactive marketing strategies: With respect to the opening
of Qinglian Expressway and enhancement of the operating
performance of Nanguang Expressway, thorough visits and
inspection were conducted in neighbouring enterprises and
communities and a number of special studies on traffic volume
were carried out. A goal-specific marketing proposal was
worked out. Various publicity activities were held to deepen
the awareness of drivers and passengers and their familiarity
with travelling routes and to attract more customers to travel
on its roads.
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Pushing forward the work on inter-network tolling:
Upgraded and replaced the original non-stop toll collection
system, and actively pushed forward the work on implementing
the inter-network toll collection system amongst different
regions in Guangdong province. The inter-network toll collection
system will raise the traffic efficiency of the overall road
networks, and will also help enhance the operating performance
of various road sections of the Group within the road networks.

Optimising operation management mode: The operation
management was made more scientific and regulated by
reforming the revenue settlement mode and the tunnel
management mode and further regulating the toll station
management system so as to effectively improve work efficiency
and lower operating costs.

Strengthening maintenance management on road assets:
Regularly conducted quality check on the roads and
continuously carried out road administration patrol so as
to timely identify road situations and discover unsafe factors
and take immediate measures of removal, remedy or
maintenance, thereby ensuring the quality, safety and traffic
smoothness of the roads.
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Key Projects Construction

Qinglian project: In the first half of 2009, the closure works
for reconstruction, construction of supplementary roads and
installation of electric equipment and traffic safety facilities
on the main trunk (Feng Touling-to-Lianzhou and Fengbu-
to-Jdingkou sections) of Qinglian project were completed,
thereby enabling the project to make a smooth transition
into an expressway on 1 July 2009 as planned. The road
section started from that date to operate and collect toll in
accordance with expressway toll standards.

Liannan Section’s re-construction project: Currently,
reconstruction to expressway of the Liannan Section ( Lianzhou
to Fengbu section) of Qianglian project started since April
2009. Revamping works on the original road surface was
completed and such section has resumed its operation.
The works on line-position change of remaining sections
and closure works are expected to be completed at the
beginning of 2011. Upon completion of the reconstruction
of Liannan Section, toll mileage of Qinglian Expressway will
be increased by approximately 27 kilometres, thereby effectively
raising the smoothness of the whole Qinglian Expressway
and boosting the overall operating performance of Qinglian
Expressway.

Major Acquisition

To further enlarge its scale of assets and profit base and to
increase recurring cash revenue, Shenzhen Expressway
contracted for the acquisition of 45% equity interest in Jihe
East Company and related shareholders’ loans of the transferor
at a total consideration of RMB1,068.8 million (approximately
HK$1,213.2 million) on 1 June 2009. Shenzhen Expressway
currently owns 100% equity interest in Jihe East Company.
The eastern section of Jihe Expressway, which has a sound
operating record, is one of the toll roads with dense traffic
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in Shenzhen area. Increasing the interest in it will bring a
stable cash revenue to Shenzhen Expressway while expanding
the latter’s quality asset scale. This will also facilitate Shenzhen
Expressway’s unified planning for project management and
operation in the future.

Major Work in 2010

° In 2010, Shenzhen Expressway will aim to enhance its operation
and management standards, and reinforce the marketing
strategies for Nanguang Expressway, Yanba Expressway
and Qinglian Expressway so as to achieve its target operating
revenue. It will proactively proceed with various construction
projects and entrusted construction projects. Meanwhile,
Shenzhen Expressway will optimise its overall lending structure
and endeavour to lower its overall borrowing costs and finance
costs; actively research and explore directions for new industry
investments so as to expand the room of its business
development; further strengthen risk management, ensuring
that the management system is properly complied with in
order to meet the actual needs of business development.

The toll road business of the Group continues to be a business
with strong cash flow and stable development, and will serve as
a strong support for other operations.

Logistic Park Business

The Group owns various well-equipped logistic parks in major
cities including Shenzhen, Nanjing and Yantai, Shangdong Province,
with a site area of 1.7 million square metres and gross floor area
of 1.47 million square metres, with 330,000 square metres logistic
centres currently in operation. These areas provide logistic
infrastructure facilities and value-added services such as
warehousing, transportation, loading and unloading.

The Group has established various logistic infrastructures at
Shenzhen-Hong Kong cross-border checkpoints, Shenzhen ports
and Shenzhen Airport through its wholly-owned South China Logistic
Park and Western Logistic Park, as well as its 50% interest in
SZ Airport Express Center in the logistic park of Shenzhen Airport,
Such logistic infrastructures are aimed at creating strategically
complementary synergies. In early 2009, the Group completed
the acquisition of 51% interest in Huatongyuan Logistic Centre
which is a major project for the logistic service industry in Baoan
District in Shenzhen City.
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South China Logistic Park and Western Logistic Park have been
listed by Shenzhen City as key construction projects in 2009.

Besides Shenzhen and the Pearl River Delta region, the Group
has also invested in logistic parks in the Yangtze River Delta
and the Pan-Bohai Rim, including the wholly-owned Nanjing Chemical
Industrial Park Logistic Centre and the 55.39%-owned Yantai
Bonded Logistic Centre.

All logistic parks operated by the Group are scarce strategic
resources in respect of geographical locations and operational
natures. The operating areas of currently completed logistic centres
account for merely one third of the total buildable area, therefore
offering a lot of room for further development and growth. The
stable operation of the logistic parks has laid a good foundation
for the Group’s establishment of a logistics network, the expansion
of its business scale and the unearthing of potential in profitability.

YIif A Logistic Centre
RAERBIYFRH L Yantai Bonded Logistic Centre
W ZERYARH S Huatongyuan Logistic Centre
BSR4 SZ Airport Express Center
ERFAFIEEER  Nanjing Xiba Port Project
B Bzt TEYHHA  Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park Logistic Centre
FAEBYIFE  Western Logistic Park
W =EYWHRE  South China Logistic Park

B F#EF Commercial Building
FEJBFEYRA L Huatongyuan Logistic Centre
W EEY%RE  South China Logistic Park

# 5 20105 220128 BB AEEEAEHT

# Note: 2010-2012 figures are management estimates
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Yantai Bonded Logistic Centre

Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park Logistic Centre
Jing : ustr gistl Located in the economic and technology

Located in Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park, development zone in Yantai City,

Provides professional logistic services including Provides bonded warehousing, customs-
petrochemical logistics, customs declaration for monitored transportation, normal
dangerous and non-dangerous petrochemical goods, ] '
transportation, warehousing and value-added services goods warehousing and

for petrochemical enterprises.
Land area: 95,000 square metres
Gross floor area: 48,000 square metres

transportation, and delivery services
d area: 70,000 square metres
ss floor area: 50,000 square metres

2009 operating area: 48,000 square metres g are 5,000 square

)

Yantai
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SZ Airport Express Center

Located in Shenzhen Baoan International Airport,

Provides express cargo services

Land area: 32,000 square metres

Gross floor area: 25,000 square metres
2009 operating area: 25,000 square metres
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Western Logistic Park

Located in the Qianhaiwan Logistics Park,
Provides logistic centre and container depot.
Land area: 380,000 square metres

Gross floor area: 420,000 square metres
2009 operating area: 37,000 square metres
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South China Logistic Park

Located in Shenzhen Longhua Logistic Park,

Provides logistic centre, empty-container depot, and cross-
border cargo transfer and express custom clearance services

Land area: 611,000 square metres

Gross floor area: 399,000 square metres

2009 operating area: 114,000 square metres
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Huatongyuan Logistic Centre

Located in the vicinity of Meilin gateway of Shenzhen,

Provides integrated services including delivery of goods, docking,
warehousing and offices.

Land area: 116,000 square metres

Gross floor area: 133,000 square metres

2009 operating area: 32,000 square metres
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B Revenue increased by 20% to HK$177 million

B Profit before finance costs and tax increased by
16% to HK$53.74 million

B Profit attributable to shareholders increased by 33%
to HK$49.15 million

pEE S

Logistic Park Business

I 2008
M 2009

5357958 IR
B R AR 2RI FEfL R
Profit before finance Profit attributable

costs and tax to shareholders

The increase in revenue was mainly due to the new income brought
by the increase in total operation area of the Group’s logistic
centres. Total operation area increased by approximately 155,000
square metres from the second half of 2008 to the end of 2009.
In addition, the Group achieved satisfactory results in respect of
new business development, service qualify enhancements and
strengthening the relationships with key customers. Together
with stringent cost controls during the Year, a growth in profit
before finance costs and tax was achieved.
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During the Year, major factors affecting the operating
performance of the Group’s logistic park business include:

Domestic economy: In the first half of 2009, impact from the
financial crisis still lingered on, and China’s foreign trade market
remained sluggish. Particularly, foreign-oriented economies including
the Pearl River Delta region and the Yangtze River Delta region
were more significantly affected. Despite a rapid rebound in the
logistics industry in the second half of 2009, demand for export-
related logistics rebounded relatively more slowly. According to
the statistics from the General Administration of Customs of the
PRC, total value of imports and exports of foreign trade in China
in 2009 decreased by 13.9% over 2008, a significant improvement
as compared to the 23.5% drop in the first half-year. The logistics
industry which is closely associated with foreign trade development
could not make an exception. As logistic park customers reduced
leased area at the logistic centres and cargo turnover at the
logistic centres declined, an increase in the empty-load rate of
international container ships led to a decline in the utilisation
rate of containers. The growth of the logistic park business of
the Group was directly affected.

Land Use Tax and Corporate Income Tax: Logistic parks in
Shenzhen shall pay land use taxes in accordance with the relevant
provisions. During the Year, the Group has paid approximately
HK$7.36 million in aggregate. Meanwhile, the PRC corporate
income tax rate rose from 18% in 2008 to 20% in 2009, thereby
affecting the profit growth of the logistic park business.

Measures undertaken by the Group to cope with the financial
crisis:

° Continuously strengthening and improving the cooperation
with customers and containing the loss of existing customers
through enhancing customer services and providing logistic
services with better quality;

° Enlisting new customers with extra efforts by enhancing
training for existing business development staff, as well as
formulating relevant policies and incentives;

° Proactively adding new business functions, including goods
inspection, testing and maintenance as well as value-added
services at the warehouses, thereby increasing the overall
competitiveness of our logistic parks; and

o Controlling costs and improving operational flows.
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“EEZhE ZTT)N\E
2009 2008 2

BETT  AB%TT  Increase

HK$’000 HK$'000 %
EBMnE 95,749 95,116 1
South China Logistic Park
mERE 42,111 29,122 45
Western Logistic Park
AR IEYRS L 38,901 23,203 68
Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park

Logistic Centre
176,761 147,441 20

80%

60%
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As SZ Airport Express Center is a jointly-controlled entity and is accounted for using the equity method, the Group has not consolidated its

revenue.
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Profit Before Finance Costs and Tax
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2009 2008 Increase/
BT AT (Decrease)
HK$°000 HK$'000 %
ERMRE 29,714 28,082 6
South China Logistic Park
BERYRE 16,983 17,700 (4)
Western Logistic Park
SRR O 1,627 302 439
SZ Airport Express Center
AR TEYRS O 5,411 73 7,312
Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park
Logistic Centre
53,735 46,157 16
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Contribution of profit before finance costs and tax
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Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park Logistic Centre
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Western Logistic Park
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South China Logistic Park
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Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park Logistic Centre
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SZ Airport Express Center
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Western Logistic Park
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South China Logistic Park
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Net profit contribution of the logistic parks
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Logistic Park Business in Shenzhen Region

EEYRE South China Logistic Park
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2009 2008 Increase/

BT T BETFIT  (decrease)

HK$’000 HK$’'000 %

L= Logistic centre 55,112 51,106 8
7o 58 M 1 Empty container depot 21,118 23,806 (11)
EIEEE R Cross border cargo transfer 18,479 19,198 (4)
i Others 1,040 1,006 3

95,749 95,116 1
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Benefitting from two new logistic centres totalling 52,000 square
metres which were put into operation in the second quarter of
2008, their annual revenues in full were brought to South China
Logistic Park for the first time and total revenue from the logistic
centre business increased by 8% over the previous year. However,
impacted by the financial crisis, the manufacturing industry along
the Pearl River Delta shrank with factories being re-allocated to
other regions, and production volume and overall demand for
foreign trade declined. Revenues from the empty-container business
and the cross-border cargo transfer business decreased by 11%
and 4%, respectively, over the previous year.
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South China Logistic Park shall pay the land use tax during the
Year in accordance with the relevant provisions. Supported by
the government’s policies aimed at supporting relevant industries,
land use tax for the area where South China Logistic Park is
located was lowered from RMB9 per square metre to RMB5 per
square metre, thereby mitigating the tax costs of the logistic
park. Such tax in an aggregate amount of HK$3.27 million was
paid during the Year.
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Despite the impact from declines in revenue from some businesses
and increases in land use tax rates and corporate income tax
rates, the scale of the logistic centre at South China Logistic
Park expanded, thereby increasing operating profit to HK$27.14
million, while profit attributable to shareholders for the Year increased
by 5% over the previous year.

Major business developments during the Year

Successfully increased the plot ratio of its land area at the
logistic park, doubling the ratio from 0.26 to 0.52. As a
result, gross floor area of the logistic park increased by
approximately 141,000 square metres, whereas the actual
land premium was merely RMB18.02 million (HK$20.44 million).

Completed its second phase land acquisition in October
2009. The site area and the gross floor area of South China
Logistic Park were thus increased by approximately 77,000
square metres and 120,900 square metres respectively,
while the land premium was finalised at RMB32.7 million
(HK$37.1 million). Currently, total site area and total gross
floor area of South China Logistic Park reached 611,000
square metres and 399,000 square metres respectively, of
which 114,000 square metres of logistic centres are in operation
and will be developed successively in the coming years.

For the two above-mentioned increases in gross floor areas,
the Shenzhen Municipal Government has agreed to waive
a significant portion of the land premium, thereby saving
substantial capital expenditures for South China Logistics
and significantly reducing future operating costs.

Proactively adding new business functions, such as adding
the businesses of goods inspection, testing and maintenance
at the warehouses as well as the business of normal
warehousing. During the Year, the logistic centres maintained
an average occupancy rate of 95%.
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Western Logistic Park

During the Year, revenue from Western Logistic Park increased
by 45% over the previous year, mainly as the first-phase logistic
centre was put into operation in the second half of 2008, thereby
bringing its annual revenue in full to Western Logistic Park for
the first time. Meanwhile, the business expansion of the logistic
centre in the second half of 2009 performed well. Western Logistic
Park shall pay the land use tax in accordance with the relevant
provisions during the Year. Supported by the government’s policies
aimed at supporting relevant industries, the land use tax for the
area where Western Logistic Park is located was lowered from
RMB13 per square metre to RMB9 per square metre, thereby
mitigating the tax costs of the logistic park. Such tax in an aggregate
amount of HK$4.09 million was paid during the Year.
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Major business developments during the Year

The operation obtained qualification for instant tax rebate
for export supervision warehousing in June 2009, thereby
enlisting a number of renowned customers in the logistics
industry. Although the Phase | Logistic Centre of Shenzhen
Western Logistics recorded relatively lower revenue in the
first half-year of 2009, with the enlisting of renowned logistics
enterprises in the third quarter, the Phase | Logistic Centre
achieved full occupancy, leading to a positive gross profit
for the first time in the second half of 2009;

The operation obtained qualification for operating bonded
warehousing of alcohol products, laying a foundation for
supply-chain services for imports of alcoholic products. With
the continued development of the domestic economy,
consumption for imported alcohols will continue to grow.
The development of supply-chain services for imported alcohols
is expected to bring new profits to the logistic park business;

The operation formed strategic partnerships with a number
of multi-national logistics enterprises; and

Phase Il of logistic centre of Western Logistic Park, a site
area of approximately 150,000 square metres, commenced
in July 2009 its first stage of construction works which pertains
to a site area of approximately 73,000 square metres. The
first stage is expected to be completed at the end of 2010.
Upon completion, the operating site area of the logistic centre
will increase from 37,000 square metres to approximately
110,000 square metres.
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Huatongyuan Logistic Centre

The Group completed the acquisition of a 51% equity interest in
Huatongyuan at a consideration of RMB44.88 million in January
2009. Huatongyuan is mainly engaged in the operation and development
of “Huatongyuan Logistic Centre” located in the vicinity of Meilin
gateway of Shenzhen, with a site area of approximately 116,000
square metres and a total gross floor area of 133,000 square metres.
Total investment of the project amounted to approximately RMB260
million. Upon completion, Huatongyuan Logistic Centre will have
an area of approximately 39,000 square metres for shops, 56,000
square metres for logistic centres, and 37,000 square metres for
integrated office buildings and a large-scale car park for trucks. It
is a multi-function logistic centre with integrated services of freight
forwarding, ancillary transportation, warehousing and office.

Huatongyuan Logistic Centre has three zones covering a site
area of 116,000 square metres, of which project construction
for approximately 85,000 square metres of operating site area
in two zones was completed and accepted upon inspection, and
the centre gradually commenced trial run of its operations in the
fourth quarter. The site area of five buildings totalling 44,800
square metres was topped out in November 2009 and internal
construction is underway, which is expected to be completed in
the second quarter of 2010. In December 2009, the occupancy
rate of operational logistic centres and freight stores at Huatongyuan
Logistic Centre reached 89% and 100% respectively. The initial
leasing situation of Huatongyuan Logistic Centre was better than
expected, and it is anticipated to
bring another income contribution
to the Group in 2010.



B35 IR
—TENFLFF  XERARTE  BIHR
L EROREEERERD BEES

= MOFEFELEEMRE  THFFHOEER
FEFHEEZEOR IBERESBEESEERED
¥HEOEBNERBUR EOEKSBEELFH
NEEMGEREEEBRENERREE -
FRBERRSNEEHOEKESARAREEE
K o RFEEHBRABES 1468 (TSN
i-%%ﬁ9%%ﬁ) BREF FFH6% ; &
WA EAFERMNERZEFERRF B
163B L (ZEENF  B¥308TT)  BREF
EF4afE EREFLONEERFEEHN
#E -

Hthith & B Y] 7 B 7%
EREIBYRH O

ERIETIEWRFPLORRNEENRA BB
3,890B T (T N\F : HH2,32087T) @ &
EFLFAB8% - B R BEK AR EF S
BoaBL  BREFABRLEA  TEZHRER
ETEMRFORNBIAFES I LEER

FE4)A19,000F F KRR OE = HEEA— S
ENFRNARIWIRAGER - BLEmMEEL

#940,000F 5K - FEBR R 53\71»,«)5
ETBREMEEERSBIA100%K68% ° AN L&
BMEBRMLW  EHEFER -

BIEE S Lo

Management Discussion and Analysis

SZ Airport Express Center

In the first half of 2009, impacted by the financial crisis, the volume
of import-export express cargo handled at SZ Airport Express
Center dropped significantly. However, under the recovery of
China’s economy during the third and fourth quarters, the export
volume in the second half-year increased markedly as compared
to the first half-year. Benefitting from the customs department’s
preferential policies on import business for express forwarding
enterprises with good reputation, a substantial rebound of import
volume and the commencement of operation of belly cargo business
for Taiwan routes since the fourth quarter, the business volume
of the export air cargo operation with higher charges increased
significantly. With a revenue of HK$31.46 million for the Year
(2008: HK$29.55 million), an increase of 6% over the previous
year, while share of profit in jointly controlled entity under equity
method was HK$1.63 million (2008: HK$300,000), a growth of
4.4 times, SZ Airport Express Center recorded satisfactory growth
in its operating results.

Logistic Park Business in Other Regions
Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park Logistic Centre

During the Year, revenue recorded by Nanjing Chemical Industrial
Park Logistic Centre amounted to HK$38.90 million (2008: HK$23.20
million), representing an increase of 68% over the previous year.
Profit before finance costs and tax amounted to HK$5.41 million,
up significantly over the previous year. The increase was mainly
due to the fact that Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park Logistic
Centre had successfully enlisted new customers. Meanwhile, in
June 2009 the second phase of the logistic centre with an operating
area of approximately 19,000 square metres was put into operation
(total operating area was 40,000 square metres) with satisfactory
leasing results. The occupancy rates of dangerous goods warehouse
and ordinary warehouse were 100% and 68% respectively. Together
with the progress made in the transportation industry, business
of this operation grew steadily.
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Impacted by the economic crisis in early 2009, the productivity
of enterprises in Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park plummeted.
Despite a pick-up in business volume for certain customers, a
number of projects were postponed or shelved. Amidst various
challenges, Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park Logistic Centre recorded
a considerable growth and maintained a good profit margin by
providing quality services to stabilise the operations of existing
customers while proactively enlisting new customers.

Major business developments during the Year

The second phase logistic centre, with an operating area
of 19,000 square metres, was completed in June and became
operational. Total operating area of Nanjing Chemical Industrial
Park Logistic Centre is approximately 40,000 square metres
currently;

With the current logistic centre as a platform, the park
introduced new value-added logistics services and achieved
significant results;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

° The operation has proactively expanded the market and
enhanced reputation, while enlisting new quality customers.
Occupancy rates of dangerous goods warehouses and normal
warehouses were 100% and 68%, respectively; and

° By increasing the vehicle utilisation rate and enhancing
transportation business, such operation grew steadily.

Yantai Bonded Logistic Centre

Yantai Bonded Logistic Centre recorded a revenue of HK$38.25
million (2008: HK$5.28 million) during the Year, an increase of
6.2 times over the previous year, and achieved the objective of
breakeven.

The financial crisis has severely affected the production
and logistics of the Export Processing Zone in Yantai, Shandong
Province. In the first half-year of 2009, Yantai Bonded Logistic
Centre lost some of its customers. However, with a recovery of
the domestic economy in the second quarter, as well as owing
to successful enlisting of new customers, the occupancy rate of
the logistic centre rose and even achieved saturation.
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Major business developments during the Year

The operation providing to a number of customers with services
catering to their upstream/downstream supply chain, s including
procurement and selling logistic and other value-added service;

The operation extended from a single storage and ancillary
transportation business to multiple new logistics businesses
covering trunk line and multimodal transportation, customs
processing, financial logistics and in-warehouse value-added
services, thereby expanding the business scale; and

With a base in Yantai, the operation gradually extended its
businesses to the Pan-Bohai Rim and expanded its business
scale. It set up offices in Qingdao in April 2009 to further
enhance its business development capabilities in other regions.

Construction in Progress

The construction works of the two logistic centres at South
China Logistic Park, with a total operating area of approximately
72,000 square metres, commenced in March 2009, and
the core project has been proceeding on schedule. These
two logistic centres are expected to be completed by April
2010;

Phase Il of logistic centre of Western Logistic Park, a site
area of approximately 150,000 square metres, commenced
in July 2009 its first stage of construction works which pertains
to a site area of approximately 73,000 square metres. The
first stage is expected to be completed at the end of 2010;
and

Five buildings of Huatongyuan Logistic Centre having a total
site area of 44,800 square metres (including logistic centres
and freight forwarding shops) are undergoing internal
construction, which is expected to be completed in the second
quarter of 2010.

Construction and operation of logistic parks play a key role to
the Group’s development strategies and task in future, as well
as constituting a major part of the Group’s logistic business.
Looking forward, the Group will further expand its investment
and development in the existing logistic parks; consolidate and
capitalise on the development experience, talents and customers
of current logistic parks; and identify the best business and profit
model. The Group will also pay close attention to the investment
opportunities of logistic parks in the Pearl River Delta, the Yangtze
River Delta, the Pan-Bohai Rim and major cities in West and
Central China, with a view to facilitating a reasonable deployment
of the logistic business with appropriate expansion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Port Business

Nanjing Xiba Wharf Company, in which the Group holds a 70%
equity interest, was jointly established by the Group, Nanjing
Chemical Industry Park Co., Ltd and Nanjing Port Authority in
April 2008, with an aim to construct and operate five dry bulk
and general terminals for 50,000-ton vessels and depots at Nanjing
Xiba Port.

The Nanjing Xiba Port project is located in Nanjing Chemical
Industry Park, and is the only public solid dry bulk terminal for
over 10,000-ton vessels situated north of Yangtze River. The
project was listed as a key project of Communications Construction
in Nanjing City in 2009.

The Nanjing Xiba Port project will be constructed in two phases.
Estimated total investment for the first phase of the project is
RMBB800 million, involving the construction and operation of two
dry bulk and general terminals for 50,000-ton vessels and a depot
with a site area of 400,000 square metres. The second phase is
expected to commence construction within four years after the
completion and commencement of operation of the first phase’s
terminals and logistic centre. The early phase of the terminal will
rely on operation and transshipment of dry bulk cargo for enterprises
within Nanjing Chemical Industrial Park, and will gradually transform
at a later stage into the operation of professional loading and
unloading of dry bulk cargo, particularly import of coal and iron
ore.

During the Year, satisfactory progress was made in the construction
of two solid dry bulk terminals of 50,000-ton vessels for the first
phase project of Nanjing Xiba Wharf Company. The main construction
project of civil facilities was basically completed at the end of
the Year, and was now under the phase of equipment commissioning.
The two terminals are expected to commence trial operation in
the second quarter of 2010. With the current equipment, the
yearly handling capacity of these two terminals may reach 7 million
tons (of which there are 4 million tons of ship unloading and 3
million tons of ship loading), and relevant equipment will be added
based on the supply and demand to be reviewed in the future.
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Upon completion of the first phase project, five functions of bulk
cargo operation will be realised: ship unloading, depot storage,
ship loading, train loading and automobile loading.

In 2010, the Group will:

° prepare well for commencing a trial run of its operation and
expand the market;

° actively train operating and maintenance personnel to raise
the operating efficiency of the terminals;

° maintain close contact with key customers, actively explore
new customers and provide value-added services for them;
and

° strive to accomplish 3 million tons of cargo transfer to achieve
a breakeven for the first operating year.

The investment and progress of the Xiba Port business has provided
the Group with scarce logistics infrastructure resources in Nanjing,
an important city in the Yangtze River Delta. The project has
also enlarged the scope of the Group’s logistic business, expanded
the room for new developments and helped the formation of the
Group’s resources network and assets deployment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Logistic Service Business

The logistic service business of the Group is primarily to provide
manufacturing enterprises with global third-party integrated logistic
services and electronic logistic information services including logistic
planning, transportation, ordinary warehousing, delivery and
international forwarding. Currently, the Group has set up branches
and delivery centres in over 30 major cities across China and
has established liaison offices and cooperation agents in a number
of places overseas such as the US, Canada and Southeast Asia.

B Revenue increased by 46% to HK$ 178 million

B Profit before finance costs and tax increased by
47% to HK$7.50 million

B Profit attributable to shareholders increased by
27% to HK$6.48 million

YRR S =15

Logistic Service Business

| 2008
M 2009

6,481

5,106

C357958 e
B A A A 2 R LR
Profit before finance Profit attributable
costs and tax to shareholders

- The increase in revenue for the Year was mainly due to the
enlisting of new customers and provision of comprehensive
logistic services, resulting in satisfactory business growth;

- The increase in profit before finance costs and tax was mainly
due to the Group’s reinforced control over costs and expenses.
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In the first half of 2009, trade activities in China continued to be
influenced by the financial tsunami, and the global trade market
was sluggish. To stimulate economic growth, the Chinese
government adjusted its macro-control policies and initiated a
series of policies aimed at expanding domestic demands, increasing
investment and maintaining growth. In the second half of 2009,
due to the above-mentioned policies, business volume of the
Group’s logistic service increased as compared to the first half
of 2009. Benefiting from the relatively rapid growth of domestic
trade, the road transportation business recorded a satisfactory
growth during the Year.

Measures taken by the Group to cope with the financial crisis:

° consolidated and optimised business structure, and withdrew
from operations with low profit margin so as to raise profitability;

° strictly controlled costs and improved efficiency;

° retained quality and creditworthy customers through providing
high-quality professional service and effective management;
and

° strengthened market and business development.

Major business developments of the logistic service business
during the Year:

° The Group successfully enlisted well-known fast consumerable
manufacturers in the country to whom the Group will provide
integrated logistic services. In line with the customer’s needs,
the Group provides personalised logistic services including
warehousing, transportation and regional delivery. During
the Year, the Group has gradually expanded the scope and
volume of its business cooperation with key customers.

o The electronic payment business jointly run by the Group
and a renowned container terminal operator in the PRC
was formally launched, the market reacted positively towards
the business.
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The Group will focus on retaining and developing existing key
customers, gaining insight into the customers’ needs. It will conduct
diversified forms of logistic services based on the existing business
and broaden the logistic services market share to raise profitability.
Meanwhile, the Group will also proactively drive the expansion
of new businesses such as integrated logistic service, financial
logistic service, procurement logistic service and railway logistic
service. Leverage its existing logistic centres as a platform and
making full use of its resources and capital, the Group will actively
develop integrated logistic services based on traditional warehouse
leasing, loading and unloading and transportation. Meanwhile,
the Group will continue to enhance its professional capabilities
in logistic services and expand market awareness so as to increase
its competitiveness, thereby turning the scale and profits of the
logistic service business into an important growing point for the
Group’s future development.

Other Business

With a view to further concentrating resources on the core logistic
business, the Group is gradually reducing its investments in CSG
and is proactively dealing with the disposal of its equity interest
in CSG. Depending on its business development, capital need
for external investment, finance costs and internal resources
coordination, coupled with the conditions of the capital market,
the Group maintains good control of the pace of disposal to
form pleasing interaction with its core business development.

During the Year, as the A-share market in the PRC saw an
improvement while the overall stock market witnessed a stable
increase, leading to a quickened pace in the Group’s disposal
of its equity interests in CSG as compared to 2008. During the
Year, the Group disposed of an aggregate of approximately 29.31
million A shares of CSG at an average selling price of RMB16.16
(HK$18.34) per share, and realised a profit after tax of approximately
HK$283 million. As at the date of this report, the Group holds
99,109,048 A shares of CSG which are freely tradable on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, representing approximately 8.11%
shares in the issued share capital of CSG.
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During the Year, the Group injected an amount of RMB12,500,000
(approximately HK$14,188,400) as additional capital into SCGC
of which the Group held 3.125% equity interests. Upon completion
of the capital increase, the Group’s stake in SCGC remains
unchanged. Such capital increase will ensure the percentage of
shares held by the Group in SCGC thereby maintaining the Group’s
investment value and avoiding an immediate loss due to interest
dilution.

According to the audited financial statements prepared in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards of Shenzhen
Airlines (10% equity interest is owned by the Group), revenue
for the Year was approximately RMB12,050 million (2008:
RMB10,490 million), representing a growth of 15% over 2008;
profit attributable to shareholders (excluding impairment losses)
was approximately RMB230 million (2008: RMB71.49 million).
The audited consolidated results for the Year were net loss of
RMB869 million (2008: net profit of RMB73 million).

On 21 March 2010, the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary Total Logistics, entered into a capital increase agreement
with Air China Limited (“Air China”) and Shenzhen Huirun Investment
Co. Ltd. (“Huirun”), pursuant to which Total Logistics and Air
China have agreed to make a capital contribution totalling
RMB1,030,125,000 to Shenzhen Airlines, of which, Total Logistics
will contribute RMB347,981,250 and Air China will contribute
RMB682,143,750 to subscribe for additional registered capital
of Shenzhen Airlines. Huirun’s liquidator, on behalf of Huirun,
has waived its right to subscribe for the additional registered
capital and agreed that Total Logistics and Air China shall subscribe
for the entire additional registered capital of Shenzhen Airlines.
Upon completion of such capital injection, Total Logistics will
increase its equity interest in Shenzhen Airlines from 10% to 25%.

Amidst the revival of the global economy and the continuous
growth of economy of the PRC, the domestic air transportation
industry in the PRC is expecting another new cycle of growth.
The capital increase in Shenzhen Airlines is favourable to the
improvement of the financial position of Shenzhen Airlines and
to the sustained development of Shenzhen Airlines. The capital
injection presents a valuable investment opportunity to the Group
and will further enhance shareholders’ return.
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B % AR R FINANCIAL POSITION
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31 December
—EENEF —ZZETN\F Zm,”
2009 2008 O A)
BEBEHETT BEBEET Increase/
HK$ million HKS$ million (Decrease)
HEE Total Assets 32,448 26,915 21%
Y =R Total Liabilities 19,728 17,082 16%
MrEm Total Equity 12,720 9,883 29%
KREERLEEFE Net Asset Value attributable
to shareholders 7,025 4,910 43%
A% B 1L B % Net Asset Value attributable to
BEFEGEET) shareholders per share (HK dollar) 0.50 0.35 43%
4 Cash 1,683 2,061 (18%)
IRITE R Bank Borrowings
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BEFE Net Borrowings 13,209 10,250 29%
BEEAEX Debt Asset Ratio
(B @& HBEE) (Total Liabilities / Total Assets) 61% 63% (2%)*
BERBHEEELX Ratio of Total Borrowings to Total Assets 46% 46% —
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Cash Balance

The cash of the Group as at 31 December 2009 amounted to
HK$1,683 million (31 December 2008: HK$2,061 million). The
Group maintained a strong operating net cash inflow during the
Year at HK$1,303 million, Cash balance decreased as compared
to the previous year, mainly due to payment for capital expenditures
in 2009. The Group currently holds adequate capital with a sound
financial position, and have sufficient financial resources to cope
with an unstable economic environment. Cash held by the Group
as at 31 December 2009 comprised an amount of approximately
HK$1,607 million denominated in Renminbi and an amount of
HK$75 million denominated in HK dollar.

Bank Loan

As at 31 December 2009, total bank loans of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$10,751 million (31 December 2008: HK$8,346
million), of which 19.4%, 8.5% and 72.1% were due for repayments
within one year, the second year and the third year or afterwards
respectively. Of such loans, approximately HK$3,041 million are
repayable in Hong Kong dollars, HK$8.34 million are repayable
in US dollars and the remaining balance of approximately HK$7,702
million are borrowings from banks in the PRC and repayable in
Renminbi. Capital expenditures of the Group for the Year amounted
to HK$3,267 million (RMB2,876 million), with another capital
expenditure of HK$1,344 million (RMB1,183 million) spent on
new projects acquisition, thereby resulting in a yearly total investment

B @ & %@Eﬁiéf{xi“bmﬁéﬁgzm amount of HK$4,611 million (RMB4,059 million), which led to an
increase in bank loans of approximately HK$2,400 million.
REEERRZHN DM RITER — EWEN RITEE — BHER

Capex contribution of the Year
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Currently, the Group has cash in hand and standing banking
facilities of approximately HK$13,600 million, while utilized banking
facilities amounted to HK$10,751 million. The Group has sufficient
cash reserve and credit to cope with unexpected market changes.

Convertible Bond

On 29 December 2007, the Company issued zero coupon convertible
bond of HKD1,727,500,000 to SIHCL, a wholly owned subsidiary
of Shenzhen SASAB as consideration for the acquisition of 89.93%
equity interest in Longda Expressway. SIHCL may convert the
bonds into ordinary shares with a par value of HKDO.1 each of
the Company at an initial conversion price of HKD1.2 per share
for a period of three years from 29 December 2007. Such convertible
bond will mature on 29 December 2010. The Company will maintain
close contact with SIHCL so as to understand its plan and intent
towards such bond and thus working out an appropriate maturity
arrangement.

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s ratio of net borrowings to total equity was 104% as
at 31 December 2009, in par with the corresponding period of
the previous year. Cash outflow for investment activities amounted
to HK$4,611 million during the Year, leading to an increase of
HK$2,405 million in bank loans. Following the acquisition of the
remaining 45% interest in Jihe East, the Group’s then existing
55% interest was revalued to fair value of the transaction and
resulted in a surplus to shareholders’ equity. The value of the
Group’s interest in CSG A shares has also been increased as a
result of the market upturn, offsetting the increase in debt and
stabilizing the gearing ratio.

The Group has realized a strategic expansion of the core business
through large-scale mergers and acquisitions as well as investments
in new projects in the past few years. This has raisen the Group’s
gearing ratio substantially. The major parts of such capital
commitment were charged before the end of 2009. The level of
capital expenditure of the Group is expected to slow down
significantly from the year 2010. With the new projects gradually
developing and contributing new cash inflow, the gearing ratio
of the Group is expected to decrease gradually in the next few
years.
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The Group’s Financial Policy

Locking up interest rates, lowering financial risks

The logistic infrastructure industry of which the Group engages
is a capital intensive business with stable return. New projects
usually take a relatively longer time period from its initial investment
and construction stage before generating revenue. Nonetheless,
after years of development, such revenues can sustain steadily
for a longer time. During such period, financial costs constitute
a major part of the results of the project while the volatility of the
market interest rate will directly affect the operating results, leading
to a material investment risk on the project.

It is one of the important financial policies of the Group to stabilizing
financial cost and mitigating the operating risk brought by the
volatility of interest rates. To implement relevant policies, the
management of the Company utilizes certain hedging instruments
in the market, mainly the interest rate swaps, to turn the Group’s
bank borrowings from floating rate loans into fixed-rate loans in
order to stabilise finance costs against revenue generated by
the Group’s businesses, facilitating the management’s control
for the impact on operating results arising from finance costs
and mitigating investment risks. Management carried out interest
rate hedge on medium to long term floating rate loans of the
Group. As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s has total bank
loans of HK$10,751 million, of which approximately HK$7,141
million was fixed rate loans, accounting for approximately 66%
of the total bank loans amount of the Group. The remaining 34%
(approximately HK$3,610 million) was floating rate loans. The
Group will closely monitor the fluctuation of market interest rates
and analyse the impact on the Group in order to mitigating financial
risks.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Group’s cash inflow is primarily denominated in Renminbi,
and cash outflow denominated in Hong Kong dollars mainly
comprises cash dividend payment to shareholders and scheduled
repayments of bank loans. The cash and assets held by the Group
are primarily denominated in Renminbi, and the exchange rate
of Renminbi continued to be stable in 2009 and had no significant
impact on the net asset value of the Group. In the short run, the
exchange rate risk between Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars is
expected to be at a low level. The Group will review and monitor
from time to time the risks relating to foreign exchanges.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Abundant Capital, Increasing Shareholders’ Return

The Group maintained sufficient banking facilities to enhance
liquidity of capital. It also aims to increase the overall returns for
its shareholders through channels such as providing a steady
growth in cash dividends.

Meeting the Need of Future Developments with
Capital Planning

Faced with the impact of the financial tsunami, the Group formulated
a five-year capital plan during the Year to meet the need of the
Group’s future developments and to cope with the ever-changing
financial market. The five-year capital plan will be revised continuously
in order to ensure an adequate liquidity for each period.

Pledge of assets, financial guarantees and contingent
liabilities

For details of the Group’s pledge of assets, financial guarantees
and contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2009, please refer
to notes 21 and 39 of the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

DEVELOPMENT FOCUS AND OUTLOOK OF
THE GROUP

The global economy has reached the bottom of the current economic
cycle and is gradually re-climbing towards a recovery. It is expected
that China’s economy will see moderate growth in 2010, with
previous economic stimulus policies staying effective while focusing
more on transformation of the economic development mode and
its structural adjustments. However, uncertainties still exist in
the macro-economy as the impact from the financial crisis will
still remain for a short period. It will take a longer time for foreign
demands to recover which will impose certain restrictions on
the development of the logistics and highway industries.

Although the logistics industry as a whole showed an accelerated
recovery in 2009, the export-related demand for logistic services
recovered relatively slowly. As an export-oriented economy, the
Pearl River Delta did not have a significant improvement on the
demand for logistic services. Compared to other developed countries,
the proportion of integrated logistic package outsourcing for the
manufacturing industry in China is relatively low; and restrictions
on land, tax, charge, financing and traffic management will remain
unsolved for the immediate future. For these reasons, logistics
enterprises will still be in a difficult position. Yet, since the logistics
industry is an industry that the government supports, it is expected
that revitalization and supporting policies for the logistics industry
will be reinforced in 2010. Six special plans under the Adjustment

FI BT B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3R 2009 Annual Report

55




56

BIEE LT

Management Discussion and Analysis

EER - B2YR - BENRE) NEEG - &
AAEMHEEMRTSEEL S - WIREEN
mEBHKMNBYRBRLKOER - ERVIRIT
EOBRIBMH T BT ORE R -

ERABITR —EENFEANAEHERY S
REBERTH  BREDVE - BIFMREEE
MEERREBR - EHRE R R A LR
= BEETARBRERENER - B
T-TFEHEEANKENER  ERIEHER
ERBOEE T ARERERBLSEN - [
B - BEE B RCENE — P IOEREKERA
BREVRRRERNEEER) (R=A1
BREERFAIMAE)  (RIIKEEERFR
BHR)FEXIMEEBRRNESZE - &
BRBITENBERTGELERMERIA -

mEms AREBEL  BELRBLENZ
FRK  WREXETESEBER  MEKX
EA -

RS EENLERE ARERBEEG
BB EENEE - SRR ARITRERRE
h BERMERRY EREEAFERR
BEZLD - ARERERETERBRERE -
BRRR - B EBREANBNERN - BiES
BHORERE  RREXSENHER - K
SR ONEE R 575 H0 R R DA K2 = 1 B ) K R 1
R RECREIEEXNEE - R - AEETT
REE - RAFBEEEAR - TEBERE
Rt AR ER R B RHET B IR - B IR
KA - SRER - U RABRANZEER -
TR - RAREEEERER - BS(E
BAERBCE - INRAZ S - 15315 A8
BAOE  MifmERAEeRR > SEEE
REAREEEFABAL - MBTAEE -
RARRNEBIIRR - MBEEREH‘EE NN
B G| ERE -

FI BT B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3} 2009 Annual Report

and Revitalization Plan for the Logistics Industry (including coal,
grain, agricultural product cold chain, logistic park, emergency
logistics and trade logistics) are set to be promulgated with other
detailed rules expected to be successively announced. This will
offer a good assurance and opportunity for the development of
the logistics industry.

For the toll road business, in 2009 automobile sales benefitted
from an array of revitalisation policies for the automobile industy
such as the deduction of purchase tax, the abolition of road
maintenance fees and grants of government subsidies. The
automobile industry attained record highs in both speed and
scale of production and sale. This has laid a foundation for growth
in highway traffic. It is expected that traffic volume will gradually
grow in 2010 as the country’s economy recovers and regional
economies become increasingly active. Meanwhile, with the gradual
implementation of national or regional policies such as the Guiding
Opinions on Further Promotion of Stable and Rapid Development
of the Road and Waterway Transportation Industry, the Planning
Outline on Reform and Development in the Pearl River Delta Region
and the Overall Plan on Comprehensive Ancillary Reforms in
Shenzhen, positive stimulus will be provided to the development
of the highway industry.

Generally speaking, with the gradual pick-up of the macro economy,
the Group remains confident that the logistics and highway industries
will go through the Winter and approach the Spring.

Facing the ever-changing economic environment, the Group always
takes an objective, pragmatic, responsive and flexible attitude
and adheres to the core value of enhancing its capability on
sustainable development, accumulating long-term development
potential and realising healthy and orderly development. The Group
will revise its development strategies when appropriate; actively
explore and create new business and profit-making modes; actively
seek new investment projects; explore new thoughts of capital
utilisation; strive to increase profits from current businesses; and
identify new profit drivers so as to create greater value for
shareholders. Meanwhile, the Group also recognised that only
by consolidating the foundation of management will the Company
be able to remain positive in the long run. As a result, the Group
always insists on enhancing management capabilities, controlling
costs, saving expenses, enhancing operations management and
project construction of existing projects, strengthening internal
control and overall risk management, improving information
construction, attracting talents, enhancing training and incentives,
and devoting efforts to brand building and corporate culture
cultivation, We aim to facilitate the Group’s development toward
detailed and regulated management, thereby providing strong
management and system assurance for the Company’s future
business expansion and profit creation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

With a gradual recovery of the overall macro-economy, a gradual
release of production capacity formed from the Group’s investments
in the logistics business at its early stage and its improved capabilities
in logistic service and customer marketing, the Group’s logistics
business is expected to achieve a faster growth in 2010. The
Group will redouble its efforts in respect of innovation of business
mode, improvement of construction quality, and promotion of
integration of brands with information resources, with a view to
making the logistics business become another major source of
profit contribution for the Group.

As to the toll road operation, the Group will, as always, give its
support to the management and operation of Shenzhen Expressway,
and assist them in improving financing structure and reducing
finance costs, coordinate the arrangement of renovation plans,
reasonably enhance finance management and operation
management, and enhance efforts on new projects expansion
and implementation, thereby maintaining stable operation and
appropriate expansion of the toll road operation.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Company always considers its human resources as an important
asset and regards human resources management as an organic
component of its corporate strategy. The Company puts great
emphasis on the recruitment of the talented personnel who will
enrich its management team and professional line-up. In addition,
to inspire the common development of the Company and its
people, strong importance is given to the internal development
of all employees through strengthening personnel training efforts,
establishing a scientific performance management and compensation
system as well as embarking on an employee career development
planning program.

Details of Employees

As of 31 December 2009, the Company and its subsidiaries had
a total of 3,208 employees. Among these employees, 3,183 were
staff in the PRC, with the majority of them engaged in the
management and operation of the toll road and logistic businesses,
as well as back-offices for toll collection.

FRIIBBRE LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3R 2009 Annual Report

57




58

BIEE LT

Management Discussion and Analysis

ADERBE

RARBERANEBEREBIIE  BFANEEE
BERNREREESER  /AKEEENE
ANBENERREABENANER —TF
NF - AprEERERNBARBEARET
ARRBEFHADERREITAE -

BBANERRE T ARRUAR=ZER
FREXGHNERATEANFREED
BREAR - WiRH =% S8 - hnogis
% AEEMEESFHRERRNES - A
REEQ R BB ERATOFR

A Bl

R-ZEAF AAFAHDREBHELER
AF AT ANERBEO T - BT EED
ROLLEERNERETRALR K - R
ARFMRBRAREERABEHANER
CEES

FENEEMEE

AR BIHHMIEEES TOMEE &4

BT &R BN RIERE  A2EMHEB
e
>3

SEE - WERBRMAT MBEEEFETHHA

&

FI BT B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3} 2009 Annual Report

Human Resource Planning

The Company puts strong emphasis on human resources
management and stresses the primacy of the Group’s overall
objective and long-term strategy, thereby providing appropriate
human resources for the realisation of the Group’s objective and
the implementation of its strategy. In 2009, the Company launched
a human resources development framework for the next five years
for its headquarters and subsidiaries.

Through human resources planning, the Company was able to
set clear targets on the types and the number of key personnel
that the Group’s business operations would require in the next
three to five years. Along with this, the Company had also established
a complete compensation and incentive package, strengthened
training and development, enhanced performance management
and other supporting policies and measures to ensure that corporate
strategic needs on key personnel are met.

Recruitment of Talents

In 2009, the Company undertook human resource reorganisation
on the professional management team of its logistics business.
The Company not only recruited senior management with years
of valuable experience in the logistics industry, it also carried
out human resources reorganisation on its financial and legal
management personnel.

Compensation and Performance Management

To attract and retain the best staff, the Company’s employee
compensation structure is determined based on the value of the
particular position, the employee’s qualifications and expertise,
capabilities, work performance as well as market trends.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

To improve employee performance and to motivate its staff, the
Company has put in place a complete performance management
system for appraisal of and improving employee performances.
The Company emphasises the use of the performance management
system as an ongoing process and tool to improve the work
performance of employees while stressing communication, feedback,
mentoring and improvement in managing performance. Early in
the year, based on the Company’s strategy and main business
plan, performance indicators are established. These indicators
are then broken down to individual departments and employees
and regular performance reviews as well as evaluations on the
progress of the departments and employees in achieving the
performance objectives is carried out. Through performance
feedback and mentoring, the Company strives to enhance the
employee’s work capability and improve work performances. All
these are in place to ensure that the Company’s annual performance
objectives are met. At the end of the year, a performance appraisal
is undertaken on each department and the employee; these results
are then used as an important basis to determine the employee’s
year-end bonus, promotion and compensation adjustment.

Training and Development for Employees

The Company has always highlighted the importance of staff
training and development. In 2009, the Company effectively launched
various training initiatives by further increasing the intensity of
its training programs and widening the scope of its training channels.
This was achieved by integrating different tasks including the
Company’s management model transformation, corporate strategy
promotions and corporate culture establishment as well as stressing
the importance of internal management knowledge training, launching
several series of business management seminars while promoting
and providing training on the Company’s development strategy.
In line with this, the Company also integrated the development
of its core businesses; hired experts to provide professional logistics
and integrated knowledge management training to the Group’s
management team; and focused on enhancing the management
capability and professional know-how of the Company’s personnel
by providing specialised training for its employees and encouraging
employees to continuously undertake advanced studies and strive
for self-improvement.
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Career Planning for Employees

In order to meet the career development needs of its employees
and to promote the common growth of the Company and its
staff, in 2009, the Group started putting together its human resources
planning initiatives while the Company also embarked on its employee
career planning program.

This initiative is built on existing job positions and is defined based
on the Company’s development strategy and job functions. The
Company aims to provide different career development opportunities
for its employees by integrating and organising the Company’s
job system in the next three years, by analysing the new career
development opportunities that the Company can offer its employees
as well as the impact of possible reductions in certain job posts
to existing employees while combining different career development
channels such as “management succession” and “professional
succession”. Meanwhile, the Company seeks to provide targeted
and personalised training to its employees to help them achieve
their career goals. This is accomplished by allowing employees
to assess their own personalities, basic conditions, professional
knowledge, job capabilities, vocational interests and other factors
to determine their desired career path or direction. Furthermore,
this is meant to encourage employees to discover any shortcomings
in their own conditions or capabilities, undergo the necessary
training development and continuously enhance their skills and
talents under the guidance of the Company, in a view to achieving
the individual’s career goal while stimulating the common
development of the employee and the Company.

Initiating Voluntary Services, Instilling a Sense of
Social Responsibility among Employees

The Company highly encourages its employees to take their social
responsibilities, make contributions and give back to the community.
In 2009, with careful and systematised planning, the Company
launched several voluntary activities, including providing support
for calamity and poverty-stricken areas through resources
mobilisation and packing, voluntary blood donations, and computer
training for underprivileged schoolchildren. Through these voluntary
efforts, the Company’s employees were able to pay back the
society, strengthened their bond and camaraderie and developed
a strong team spirit.
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MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Guo Yuan
Chairman

Mr. Guo, aged 56, was appointed in August 2006 as the Chairman
of the Company. Mr. Guo is responsible for devising the Group’s
overall development strategy and important systems, as well as
supervising the implementation of resolutions of the general meetings
and the Board. Mr. Guo holds a bachelor’s degree in law from
Zhengzhou University and served as an associate professor and
a deputy head of the Law Faculty of Zhengzhou University. Mr.
Guo had successively worked as legal consultant and deputy
division head of SIHC, the department head, assistant to the
director and deputy director of Shenzhen State-owned Assets
Administration Office; chairman of Shenzhen Accord Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., deputy director of Shenzhen Municipal State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission and a director
of Shenzhen Energy Corporation Limited. Mr. Guo is currently a
director of Ultrarich and Shenzhen Yantian Port Group Co., Ltd.
Mr. Guo has over 20 years of extensive experience in corporate
management, capital operations and the legal profession.

Mr. Li Jing Qi
Chief Executive Officer, Member of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee

Mr. Li, aged 53, was appointed in March 2000 as an Executive
Director and Vice President of the Company, and was appointed
in August 2006 as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mr. Li is responsible for the overall daily operations of the Group
and the implementation of the Group’s development strategies
and the resolutions of the general meetings and the Board. Mr.
Li is a graduate of Shanghai International Studies University with
a Bachelor of Arts degree. He had successively worked at the
Anhui Branch of Bank of China, Bank of China Hongkong-Macau
Regional Office, Shenzhen Branch of Bank of China and as an
executive director of Shenzhen High-Tech Holdings Limited. Mr.
Li is currently a director of CSG, Shenzhen Expressway and Ultrarich.
He has over 20 years of experience in international banking and
corporate management.
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Mr. Liu Jun
Vice President

Mr. Liu, aged 486, joined the Group as a Vice President in April
2000 and was appointed in May 2004 as an Executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Liu is responsible for assisting the Chief
Executive Officer on the operation and management of the Group.
Mr. Liu graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology
with a bachelor’s degree in computer software and a master’s
degree in management system engineering. Mr. Liu was a director
of CSG and Shenzhen Expressway and is currently a director of
Shenzhen Airlines and Ultrarich. Mr. Liu has over 20 years of
experience in corporate development, financial management and
foreign enterprise investment and management.

Mr. Yang Hai

Mr. Yang, aged 49, was appointed in August 2007 as an Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree
from the Department of Roads and Bridges of Chongging
Architecture University and is a senior engineer. As nominated
by the Company in April 2005, Mr. Yang is currently the chairman
of Shenzhen Expressway. He had been the section head, department
head and assistant to the head of the Second Road Engineering
Bureau of Ministry of Communications in China. Mr. Yang had
been a Vice President of the Company from June 2004 to July
2006 and the deputy general manager of Shenzhen Expressway
from August 1997 to March 2000. Mr. Yang is currently the chairman
of the supervisory committee of CSG. Mr. Yang has extensive
experience in the construction management of road engineering
and corporate management.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. To Chi Keung, Simon

Mr. To, aged 58, was appointed in June 2000 as a Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. To holds a First Class honours
degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Imperial College of
Science and Technology (London University) and a Master’s degree
in Business Administration from Standford University’s Graduate
School of Business. Mr. To is currently the managing director of
Hutchison Whampoa (China) Limited and the chairman of Hutchison
China MediTech Limited (whose shares are listed on the Alternative
Investment Market operated by London Stock Exchange plc).
He joined Hutchison Whampoa (China) Limited in 1980 as the
divisional manager of industrial project division and was appointed
as managing director in the following year. Mr. To has over 35
years of management experience.
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Mr. Wang Dao Hai

Mr. Wang, aged 44, was appointed in June 2008 as a Non-
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wang obtained a master’s
degree in Accounting from the Southwestern University of Finance
and Economics in the PRC and is a Senior Accountant in the
PRC. Mr. Wang is currently the financial controller and head of
finance department of Shenzhen Yuanzhi Investment Co. Ltd.,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Shenzhen SASAB. He
was successively a director and the financial controller of Shenzhen
Shahe Industry (Group) Co., Ltd., the assistant to president and
the head of finance department, as well as the secretary of the
board of directors of Shenzhen SEG Hi-Tech Industrial Co., Ltd.,
and the chief accountant, director and vice president of Gintian
Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. He had been a director of Shahe Industrial
Co., Ltd. from June 2007 to April 2008. Mr. Wang has extensive
experience in corporate financial management.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Ming Yuen, Simon
Chairman of the Audit Committee, Member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee

Mr. Leung, aged 61, was appointed in March 2000 as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Leung is an associate
member of The Chartered Institute of Bankers and has over 30
years of experience in the banking sector including worked as
the head of Credit Risk Management of Greater China at Deutsche
Bank AG.

Mr. Ding Xun
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee, Member of the Audit Committee

Mr. Ding, aged 50, was appointed in October 2001 as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. He is currently
the managing director of Concord Investment Holdings Limited
and an independent non-executive director of Ruyan Group
(Holdings) Limited. Mr. Ding graduated from Maritime Transportation
University of Shanghai. He has worked in the Ministry of
Communications of the PRC and Guangdong Enterprises (Holdings)
Limited. He was also a director of Guangdong Investment Limited
and the vice-chairman of Guangdong Brewery Holdings Limited.
Mr. Ding has extensive experience in corporate development and
management.
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Mr. Nip Yun Wing
Member of the Audit Committee

Mr. Nip, aged 56, was appointed in August 2004 as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Nip is currently an
executive director and the financial controller of China Overseas
Land & Investment Limited. He is a Fellow of both the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Nip is a MBA graduate
of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He has extensive experience
in corporate finance, investment and management and had served
as an executive director for several listed companies in Hong
Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhong Shan Qun
Vice President

Mr. Zhong, aged 45, was appointed as a Vice President of the
Company in June 2007. Mr. Zhong graduated from Changsha
Communications University with a bachelor’s degree in highway
engineering and a bachelor’s degree in communications and
transportation management. He also obtained a master’s degree
in management science and engineering from Hunan University.
Mr. Zhong joined Xin Tong Chan Development (Shenzhen) Company
Limited (formerly Shenzhen Freeway Development Company Limited
and became a subsidiary of the Group in October 2001) in January
1994 and was appointed as chairman and general manager in
2005, and was a director of Shenzhen Expressway. Mr. Zhong
is currently the chairman of South China Logistics and chairman
of the supervisory committee of Shenzhen Expressway. Mr. Zhong
has extensive experience in construction project management,
logistic management and corporate management.

Mr. Zhao Jun Rong
Vice President

Mr. Zhao, aged 45, joined the Group as legal consultant, assistant
to the Chief Executive Officer and manager of the Strategic
Development Department in October 2001 and was appointed
as a Vice President of the Company in June 2007. He is also the
Company’s chief legal consultant. Mr. Zhao graduated from Xiamen
University with a master’s degree in international economic law
and is a practicing lawyer. Mr. Zhao worked successively at China
Ping An Insurance Co. and SIHC. Mr. Zhao has extensive experience
in corporate management and the legal profession. Mr. Zhao is
currently a non-executive director of Shenzhen Expressway.
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Mr. Tse Yat Hong
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Tse, aged 40, joined the Group as Chief Financial Officer in
June 2000. Mr. Tse is responsible for the Group’s financial
management and planning, investors’ relations, as well as
coordinating the Group’s major transactions and corporate
governance matters. Mr. Tse graduated from Monash University
in Australia with a bachelor’s degree in accounting and computer
science. He is currently a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a certified public accountant
of CPA Australia. Mr. Tse was the Company Secretary of the
Company from August 2000 to March 2008 and was the joint
company secretary of Shenzhen Expressway from September
2004 to September 2007. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tse
worked in the audit profession in one of the international accounting
firms for years. Mr. Tse has extensive experience in accounting,
finance and corporate governance matters of listed companies
and has broad knowledge in accounting and financial rules and
regulations in Hong Kong and China. Mr. Tse is currently a non-
executive director of Shenzhen Expressway.
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Report of the Directors

The directors herein present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the investment, construction
and operation of logistic infrastructure facilities, as well as the
provision of relevant logistic services which include third party
logistic services and logistic information services. Particulars of
the principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 44 to the financial statements.

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

The Group'’s results for the year ended 31 December 2009 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 105 to
248.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommended a final cash dividend of HK1.46 cents
per share for the Year (2008: HK1.45 cents). The Board also
recommended the payment of a special cash dividend of HKO.71
cent per share (2008: Nil). Total cash dividend for the Year was
HK2.17 cents per share while total dividends amounted to HK$307
million (2008: HK$203 million). Such dividend shall be subject
to approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate,
is set out on pages 6 to 8 of this Annual Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 7 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the share capital and share options
of the Company during the Year, together with the reasons therefore,
are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the Companies Act of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the Year are set out in note 20 to the financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2009, the Company’s distributable reserves
available for distribution to shareholders, comprising contributed
surplus, retained earnings and other distributable reserves, amounted
to approximately HK$2,157,255,000 (2008: HK$2,442,291,000).
The share premium of the Company may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Both the revenue attributable to the largest five customers combined
and the purchases attributable to the largest five suppliers combined
of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
revenue and purchases respectively for the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Guo Yuan (Chairman)
Mr. Li Jing Qi

Mr. Liu Jun

Mr. Yang Hai

Non-executive directors

Mr. To Chi Keung, Simon
Mr. Wang Dao Hai

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Leung Ming Yuen, Simon
Mr. Ding Xun
Mr. Nip Yun Wing

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Law 109(A), Messrs. Guo
Yuan, To Chi Keung, Simon and Leung Ming Yuen, Simon will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as directors
of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the directors had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

The interests in securities of the directors are separately disclosed
in the section headed “DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS” on pages
100 to 102 of this Annual Report. In addition, the interests of
the directors in the share options of the Company are disclosed
in the paragraph headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
at a special general meeting held on 30 April 2004. The Scheme
is valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on 30
April 2004 and is a share incentive scheme to reward and motivate
the eligible participants whose contributions are important to
the long-term growth and profitability of the Group.

Eligible participants of the Scheme include person being (a) any
full-time employee of the Group, (b) any director (including executive,
non-executive or independent non-executive directors) of the
Group, associates and jointly controlled entities of the Group or
(c) any substantial shareholder of the Company, to be determined
by the board of directors.

The total number of shares of the Company available for issue
under the Scheme is 1,143,281,162 shares which represent
approximately 8% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this Annual Report. The total number of shares
of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
share options granted to each eligible participant (including both
exercised and outstanding share options) under the Scheme in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue. Where any further grant of share options to
an eligible participant would result in the shares of the Company
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share options granted
and to be granted to such eligible participant (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding share options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of the shares of the Company in issue,
such further grant must be separately approved by the shareholders
of the Company in general meeting.

An offer of a grant of share options under the Scheme may be
accepted within 7 days from the date of the offer with a cash
consideration of HK$1 payable by the grantee to the Company.
The period for the exercise of a share option is determined by
the board of directors, but in any event such period shall not go
beyond 5 years from the date of offer.

Under the Scheme, the subscription price is solely determined
by the Board and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of offer; (i) the average of the
closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value
of a share of the Company on the date of offer.
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TREHIRBEAAEIR L EHRITE2BEIRE  The following table lists the details of the outstanding share options
RAFERNEE 2 FF1E - which were granted under the Scheme and their movements
during the Year:

FITBREEE RULERAALEIR) FAANRAER
Number of unlisted share options (physically settled equity derivatives) Share price of the Company**
834 HERE  HBRE
B8t e/ BRE  RERE  fERE
£ H-ZBAE KEE KER i RoBENE BRE BRE B Asatte  Asatthe
RE -A-8 AR RGE  Cancelled +A=1-A RiAg B8 Exercise date of date of
Name and As at Granted  Exercised lapsed As at Date of Exercise price of grantof  exercise of
category 1 January during during during 31 December grant of period of share share share
of participants 2009 the Year the Year the Year 2009 share options® share options  options™ options options
EET o o
HKS HKS HKS
£
Directors
g Rik 35,000,000 - - - B000000 —EEtE-ARA CERLE-ARRE 0.632 0.630 TR
Mr. Guo Yuan B February 2007 “E--%-A%H NIA
6 February 2007 to
5 February 2012
B8Nk 27,210,000 — 18210000 - 9000000 —EFRE-AAR —FRRE-ATAAE 0.8 0.285 0.596
Mr. Li Jing Qi 19 January 2006 —5-EE-F+-8
19 January 2005 to
11 January 2010
g ik 30,000,000 — 24000000 - 600000 —F5RE-ATNA ZFRRE-ATNAE 0.282 0.285 0.600
. Liu Jun 19 January 2006 —5-FE-F1-8
19 January 2005 to
11 January 2010
B Atk 10,000,000 — 10,000,000 - - ZEERE-ATAR CEERE-ATARBE 0.285 0,580
M. Yang Hai 19 January 2006 —5-EE-F+-8
19 January 2005 to
11 January 2010
102,210,000 — 52210000 - 50,000,000
Eftgs
Other employees
& 62,800,000 — 6230000 - 500000 —5ERE-FTAR -EERE-ATARE 0.282 0.285 0.606
In aggregate 19 January 2006 —5-FE-F1-8
19 January 2005 to
11 January 2010
165,010,000 114,510,000 - 50,500,000
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Under the Scheme, there is no vesting period of the share options.

The exercise price of the share options was subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

The share price of the Company disclosed as at the date of the grant of the
share options was the closing price as quoted on the Stock Exchange of the
trading day immediately prior to the date of the grant of the share options. The
share price of the Company disclosed as at the date of exercise of the share
options was the weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before
the date on which the share options with the disclosure category were exercised.

Upon exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued
are recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the
nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price
per share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by
the Company in the share premium account. Share options which
lapse or are cancelled prior to the expiration of their exercise
date are deleted from the register of outstanding share options.
No share option was granted during the Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

The interests in securities of the substantial shareholders’ and
other persons’ are separately disclosed in section headed
“DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS” on pages 100 to 102 of this
Annual Report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group has entered into certain related party
transactions as disclosed in Note 42 to the financial statements.
Such transactions do not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in respect of the connected transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report. The
information of the connected transactions are set out as below:-
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On 1 June 2009, Intersafe Investments Limited (“Intersafe”
as transferor) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Road King
Infrastructure Limited “Road King”), Shenzhen Expressway
(as transferee), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and Road King (as guarantor) have entered into an agreement,
pursuant to which, Shenzhen Expressway has conditionally
agreed to acquire from Intersafe the 45% equity interest in
Jihe East Company and the shareholder’s loan in the amount
of RMB158,431,300 (subject to the final audited figure) owed
by Jihe East Company to Intersafe at a total consideration
of RMB1,068,800,000. Shenzhen Expressway has also agreed
to reimburse to Intersafe the income tax payable by Intersafe
which arises from transfer of interest under the agreement
and is estimated not to exceed RMB100,000,000. As at
the date of the agreement, Shenzhen Expressway and Intersafe
held 55% and 45% equity interest of Jihe East Company,
respectively, thus for the purpose of this transaction, both
Intersafe and Road King were connected persons of the
Company and Shenzhen Expressway. The Transaction
constituted a connected transaction under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules for both the Company and Shenzhen
Expressway. For further information of the connected
transaction, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 2 June 2009.

Nanjing Port Authority, one of the substantial shareholders
of Nanjing Xiba Wharf Company (a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company), holds 15% equity interest of Nanjing Xiba
Wharf Company. Hence, Nanjing Port Authority and its
associates are connected person of the Group. During the
Year and up to the date of this annual report, the connected
transactions entered by the Company and the associates
of Nanjing Port Authority were as follows:-
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HE
Date

BEALRER
Name of Connected
Person and Relationship

RawE

Details of the Transactions

—EENF=AF+H
16 March 2009

—EENF+—A=+WUH
24 November 2009

AR A O AR R
(REREBERR
WEEMBAR)

Nanjing Port Machinery
Plant (a wholly owned
subsidiary of Nanjing
Port Authority)

HRAEEKIREAT
(HEREBERR

EENMEE)

Nanjing Port
Engineering Company
(managed and
supervised by

Nanjing Port Authority)
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— B FRHEARRAPR-_ZETAEF=
A+tBz2R%E -

Nanjing Xiba Wharf Company through its tender
agent issued a letter of acceptance of an open
tender for the acquisition and installation of a
shiploader to Nanjing Port Machinery Plant. Nanjing
Xiba Wharf Company and Nanjing Port Machinery
Plant entered into a contract on the same day.
The consideration for the transaction was
RMB8,580,000. For further information of the
connected transaction, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 17 March 2009.

MRABHEEARBAERERESRERER
APEERMEENERNBEETHRELREL
BELPEBENETEREEBIREAR - /@
ROABHRAREREEKIRREARNAR
FF—MER - ZXZHERTERARE
4,320,049.67T - FEAZRXSHE—HEH - &F
2EARABHA_TENF+—AZ+HIA
/N

Nanjing Xiba Wharf Company through its tender
agent issued a letter of acceptance of an open
tender to Nanjing Port Engineering Company for
and mechanical installation work at the terminal
under construction and to be operated by Nanjing
Xiba Wharf Company at Nanjing Xiba Port. Nanjing
Xiba Wharf Company and Nanjing Port Engineering
Company entered into a contract on the same
day. The contract sum for the transaction was
RMB4,320,049.6. For further information of the
connected transaction, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 24 November
2009.
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SIHCL is wholly-owned by Shenzhen SASAB, which supervises
and manages SIHC. In addition, pursuant to the arrangement
of the Shenzhen Municipal Government, SIHC together with
other two state-owned enterprises will be merged with SIHCL.
Hence, according to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, SIHCL
is a controller of the Company. Shenzhen SASAB, SIHCL
and their respective associates are connected persons of
the Company. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, the connected transactions entered by the
Group and the respective associates of Shenzhen SASAB
and SIHCL are as follows:-

%5 H1E

Details of the Transactions

“ETAFNAA-TAE
29 September 2009

BIFTIE AR OFITHER
MORYIE BT D R3FE
BI¥TIE A R136.32% &% 20%
KM o RYNIREER B
BIFTIE AR EERE ©)

SCGC (SCGC is owned as
to 36.32% by Shenzhen
SASAB and 20% by SIHCL.
SIHCL is the substantial
shareholder of SCGCQ).

—EENF+—AZ+EH
25 November 2009

ERBATTREBRS
BRAR ((HAEF))
(RYIRE R A

AT 2 EERR)

Guangdong United
Electronic Toll Collection
Inc. ( “Guangdong
UETC”) (SIHCL was a
substantial shareholder of
Guangdong UETCQC)

AArlzz2EMBARFBEERZRE ORI

BRAR ([Fr@E]) BEFIRAR GhTBERE
3.125% AR R — i E W - BE
mElFTR A EgEIMNEE A K% 12,500,0007T °

ERZXHNE—FER  F2EEAARAH
RIETNFHRA=THZRASE -

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Xin Tong Chan Development (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (“XTC Development”), entered into a capital
injection agreement with SCGC (3.125% interest
of which was owned by XTC Development) to
further inject an additional capital of
RMB12,500,000. For further information of the
connected transaction, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 30 September
2009.

RARINEZEMBARIRY S REBSE T
FI —RBEHE B RINEREAARE
28,500,000 T H) KB R fE S 128,500,000
Bk D - BAZXSINE—FER - F2H
RARRBRA-_ZTENF+—AZ+HBZA
L)

Shenzhen Expressway, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
subscription agreement with Guangdong UETC,
pursuant to which Shenzhen Expressway would
subscribe for 28,500,000 new shares in
Guangdong UETC at a consideration of
RMB28,500,000. For further information of the
connected transaction, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 25 November
2009.
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H #A
Date

BEALRER
Name of Connected
Person and Relationship

RZ+E

Details of the Transactions

—_E-ZEF_A+—H
11 February 2010

Shenzhen Nongke Real
Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary
of Shenzhen SASAB and
hence is an associate of
Shenzhen SASAB)

BFERARAET

=
=

BERRRFETHHESE

RZEZENFLA=+—8  XRRHEAEBK
ABh—IE##1,340,000,000 T 7 BEREE R
BE([BERXADIIY—BER MR ([ZEXH
&) c ZERBHEERBEREATEE -

BIEZER M H - AR RABREARNQ T AL
BAER - BRIITEE BRZER W ETES
TR EESEEESEE TP RAR
AIEEITHRAIS%HKEG ; (VBARRFZ&
AE—BRR(RARRBETRANEEER
ALME)  (IVRFERQRBEEEES
MivEZESRHEERFTERYITREZR
100 % P& #E o
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Shenzhen International Holdings (SZ) Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as the
purchaser), entered into a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with Shenzhen Nongke Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (as the vendor) in
relation to the acquisition of an office premises
comprising 11 units on 10th Floor of Times
Technology Building located in Futian District,
Shenzhen, the PRC for a consideration of
RMB54,963,587. The office premises will be used
as the headquarter of the Group in Shenzhen.
For further information of the connected
transaction, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 11 February 2010.

COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING
RULES

Specific Performance Obligations of the Controlling
Shareholder

On 31 July 2008, the Company, as borrower, entered into a
loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) relating to a
HK$1,340,000,000 term loan facility with a syndicate of banks
(the “Lenders”). The facility will be used for general corporate
funding requirements of the Company and its subsidiaries. The
Loan Agreement shall have a maturity of 5 years.

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Company undertakes to
procure that the controlling shareholder of the Company, namely
Shenzhen SASAB shall at all times during the continuance of the
Loan Agreement (i) beneficially own, directly or indirectly, not less
than 35% of the issued share capital of the Company; (ii) be the
single largest shareholder of the Company (in terms of the percentage
ownership of the issued share capital of the Company); (i) maintain
control over the management of the Company; and (iv) beneficially
own, directly or indirectly, 100% of the equity interest in SIHCL.
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Failure to comply with any of the aforesaid undertakings will constitute
an event of default under the Loan Agreement. Upon the occurrence
of an event of default under the Loan Agreement, the Lenders
may declare that the outstanding loan, interest and other sums
payable to be immediately due and payable; and/or declare that
the facility under the Loan Agreement be terminated.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Details of significant events after the balance sheet date of the
Group are set out in note 43 to the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float of
more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 78 to 99 of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

There have been no changes of the auditor of the Company during
the past three years. Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire
and a resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Guo Yuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2010
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the CG Code, sets out
the principles of good corporate governance and two levels
of recommendations: (a) Code Provisions; and (b)
Recommended Best Practices. During the Year, the Company
has been in full compliance with all the Code Provisions
and certain Recommended Best Practices as set out in
the CG Code.

The Board considers that sound corporate governance goes
beyond merely meeting the regulatory authorities’ basic
requirements for listed companies’ operation. More importantly,
it fulfils the Company’s internal development needs. The
Company establishes a corporate governance structure
comprising the Board and the management, and continuously
reviews and improves it through practice. It sets up three
specialised committees under the Board and these committees
practically perform their tasks, including implementing an
independent internal audit regime, establishing a
comprehensive internal control regime as well as formulating
multi-tier governance rules based on the Memorandum of
Association and Bye-Laws of the Company. These rules
aim to clearly define the duties, limit of authority and conduct
standards. The Company continuously enhances corporate
governance standards, thereby laying a good foundation
for driving the Company’s development and maximising value
for the shareholders. The current governance structure of
the Company is shown as follows:
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THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leading the Group’s development,
establishing the Group’s strategic goals, and ensuring the availability
of necessary financial and other resources for the Group to achieve
pre-set strategic goals. The principal duties of the Board are to
exercise management and decision-making authorities in respect
of the Company’s development strategies, management structures,
investment and financing, planning, financial control, human
resources, and so forth.

1. Board Composition

The Board comprises nine directors, including four executive
directors: Messrs. Guo Yuan, Li Jing Qi, Liu Jun and Yang
Hai; two non-executive directors: Messrs. To Chi Keung,
Simon and Wang Dao Hai; and three independent non-
executive directors: Messrs. Leung Ming Yuen, Simon, Ding
Xun and Nip Yun Wing. Biographical details of the directors
are set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” section on pages 61 to 66.

2. Board Practices

The Board convenes at least four regular meetings annually
and approximately one in each quarter. The Board totally
convened seven meetings in 2009. Notices of not less than
fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings, and
notices of not less than seven days are given for meetings
other than regular meetings. To ensure all directors are given
opportunities to make suggestions on agenda items to be
discussed in Board meetings, all draft agendas for Board
meetings are provided to all directors for their comment
prior to the meetings.

The written terms of reference of all specialised committees
under the Board (including the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee) specify that upon
reasonable requests, the directors may seek independent
professional advice so that directors can properly discharge
their responsibilities to the Company. The costs for engaging
professional advice shall be borne by the Company. In the
case of professional fees exceeding HK$500,000, prior
discussion with the Executive Board Committee is required.

The Company will convene Board meetings to discuss and
consider all contemplated significant transactions, connected
transactions or notifiable transactions as required under
the Listing Rules so as to give all directors an opportunity
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to attend in person and provide their comments before the
Group proceeds with the same. If a substantial shareholder
or a director has a conflict of interest in a material matter, a
Board meeting shall be held and the related director shall
abstain from voting on any Board resolution.

Number of meetings held and matters considered during
the Year

The Board held seven meetings in 2009, the attendance
details of each member of the Board during the Year are
set out below:

HERE
BRENE e ®
Meetings Attendance
attended/held rate
BITES Executive Directors
B OREE(ERE) Mr. Guo Yuan (Chairman) 7/7 100%
FRAXE Mr. Li Jing Qi 6/7 86%
2 EEa Mr. Liu Jun 77 100%
B BEE Mr. Yang Hai 7/7 100%
FHTES Non-executive Directors
MHER LA Mr. To Chi Keung, Simon 4/7 57%
TEEEE Mr. Wang Dao Hai 7/7 100%
BUkBTES Independent Non-executive Directors
2R E Mr. Leung Ming Yuen, Simon 7/7 100%
T dEHE Mr. Ding Xun 7/7 100%
mEHEEE Mr. Nip Yun Wing 7/7 100%
EEER_EENFHNEREEBET The following matters were discussed in the Board meetings
PRI - in 2009:
(1) BEHERAGHEARBERMK (1)  to consider and approve a connected transaction in
MBEERFEE relation to the proposed acquisition of a shiploader
by Nanjing Xiba Wharf Company;
2) BU-_ZFTENFE2FEEIEER (2) to consider and approve 2008 annual results and the
DHHERE payment of final dividend;

AR B ARRIE

(4) FHEHRARRNC(EFZTMEHBEER
ETRFRXHNFRESTRD R (EZ
ZESREBES)NESR

(5) FHRHAARRBREHEHHCE
FETHERADKKEEREZKE
BHIE)

(3) to consider and approve the amendments to the Bye-

Laws of the Company;

(4) to consider and approve the amendments to the “Mode
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors and
Relevant Employees” and “Terms of Reference of Audit
Committee” of the Company;

(5) to approve and adopt the “Constitution of the Board
of Directors” and “Rules Governing Information
Disclosure” of the Company;
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(6) to consider and approve a major and connected
transaction in relation to the acquisition of 45% equity
interest in Jihe East Company;

(7)  to consider and approve the proposed general mandate
in relation to the disposal of A shares in CSG;

(8) to review the results and business development of the
first quarter of 2009;

(9) to consider and approve a master agreement in relation
to proposed entrusted management in respect of
Guangshen Coastal Expressway Shenzhen section;

(10) to consider and approve 2009 interim results;

(11) to consider and approve the proposed change of
registered office and principal share registrar;

(12) to consider and approve a connected transaction in
relation the proposed investment in Guangdong United
Electronic Toll Collection Inc.;

(13) to consider and approve a connected transaction in
relation the proposed capital injection into SCGC;

(14) to review the results and business development of the
third quarter of 2009; and

(15) to consider and approve a connected transaction in
relation to the proposed electrical and mechanical
installation work for Nanjing Xiba Wharf Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
are two distinct and separate positions, which are held by
Mr. Guo Yuan and Mr. Li Jing Qi respectively, and they are
both executive directors. The Chairman is responsible for
running the Board whereas the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for day-to-day operations of the Group. The
division of responsibilities between them has been clearly
established and set out in written form as “The Roles of
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” of the Company.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to the
Board and to ensure that the Board works effectively and
discharges its responsibilities, and that all key issues are
discussed in a timely manner. The Chairman is responsible
for approving the agenda of each Board meeting taking
into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by
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other directors for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman
has ensured that all directors have been provided with
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner,
and that all directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at each Board meeting to enable the Board to make sound
decisions.

The Chairman arranges meetings at least once annually with
non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the presence of executive directors.

The Chief Executive Officer takes the lead of the management
and is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group.
He is also responsible for the implementation of the Company’s
strategy and reports to the Board in a timely manner. In
addition, the Chief Executive Officer utilises the Group’s
resources in an appropriate way to enhance the profitability
for the Group as a whole so as to discharge and exercise
his responsibilities and power as delegated by the Board.

Appointment of directors

Each director of the Company entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years and is subject
to retirement by rotation but is eligible for re-election at the
annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-Laws
of the Company. None of the directors proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company’s Bye-Laws have specified that each director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or appointed during the
Year shall be subject to election by shareholders at the
first annual general meeting after their appointments. Each
director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years pursuant to the Company’s Bye-
Laws.

The Company has established “An Induction for Newly
Appointed Directors” to provide newly appointed directors
with related materials and documents to ensure proper
understanding of director’s duties and operations of the
Company.
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5.

Responsibilities of directors

The Board adopted a code of conduct the (“Code of Conduct”)
in respect of securities transactions of the Company by
directors and relevant employees of the Group on terms
more stringent than those set out in the Model Code under
the Listing Rules. Relevant employees include any employees
of the Company or directors or employees of subsidiaries
of the Company who, as a result of their office or employment,
is likely to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive
information in relation to the Group.

The Company, having made specific enquiry to all directors,
confirms that all directors have complied with the standards
set out in the Model Code and the Code of Conduct at all
times throughout the Year.

Independence

The Board has received from each independent non-executive
director a written annual confirmation of their independence
and the Company considers that all independent non-executive
directors are independent pursuant to the requirements as
set out in the Listing Rules.

Specialised Committees of the Board

In order to help the Board to discharge its duties and promote
effective operation, three specialised committees have been
set up under the Board. These committees have their
designated duties and terms of reference. They are required
to review and monitor matters in specific areas of the Company
and make corresponding recommendations to the Board
while the right to make decision for all matters hinges on
the Board. Each of the committees has formulated its terms
of reference and such terms of reference have been approved
by the Board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1995. The Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Leung Ming Yuen, Simon (Chairman),
Mr. Ding Xun and Mr. Nip Yun Wing. In establishing and
adopting the terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Board had regard to the “Guide for the Formation of an
Audit Committee” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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Under the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the
Committee performs the key link between the Board and
the auditor of the Company in respect of the audit works
of the Group. The main functions of the Audit Committee
are as follows:

(1)

to discuss and make recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, replacement and removal of the
auditor of the Company, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the auditor, and any matters
of resignation or dismissal of the auditor;

to monitor the integrity of financial statements, interim
report and annual report of the Company, and to review
significant opinions in respect of the financial reporting
contained in them:;

to review the Group’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems, and to review the Group’s
statement on internal control systems contained in the
annual report; and

to discuss with the management on the internal control
system and to ensure that the management has
discharged its duty to establish an effective internal
control system.

Number of meetings held and matters considered during
the Year

The Audit Committee held four meetings in 2009, the
attendance rate of each member of the Committee was
100%. The Audit Committee held meetings together with
the management and the auditor in 2009 to discuss and
review the following matters:

(1)

to review the annual results for 2008 and the interim
results for 2009, and to consider the related disclosure
in the financial statements was complete, accurate
and fair and to submit the same to the Board for approval;

to approve the auditor’s fees for the audit of 2008
financial statements and fees for the review of 2009
interim financial statements;

to review the amendments to the “Terms of Reference
of Audit Committee”;

to re-appoint the auditor of the Company; and
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(ii)

(5) to review the relevant procedure of internal control
and risk management.

The Audit Committee meets the auditor of the Company at
least once annually in the absence of the management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established
in December 2003. The Nomination Committee consists
of three members, two of whom are independent non-executive
directors. Members of the Nomination Committee include
Mr. Ding Xun (Chairman), Mr. Leung Ming Yuen, Simon and
Mr. Li Jing Qi.

The Nomination Committee has been established with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with the
Committee’s authority and duties, among which including:

(1) identify individuals suitably qualified to be a director;

(2) assess the qualification and experience of candidates
for directors and the independence for independent
non-executive directors;

(3) assess and review qualification and experience of
directors who are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at each annual general meeting; and

(4) report on the work of the Committee and make proper
recommendations to the Board on a regular basis.

Nomination Committee has established specific procedures
in respect of (1) nomination and assessment of director
candidates and (2) assessment of the directors who are
subject to retirement by rotation and offer themselves for
re-election at annual general meetings.

In the process of nominating and assessing new candidates
for executive directors, the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer may assist in and make
recommendations in respect of such appointment. While
in nominating and assessing new candidates for non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors, Nomination
Committee will assume full responsibility. Nomination
Committee assesses director candidates based on their
educational backgrounds, professional qualifications, work
experience and integrity. In the case of candidates for
independent non-executive directors, other factors will be
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considered by the Nomination Committee, such as
requirements of independence of independent non-executive
directors under the Listing Rules. Nomination Committee
will also have regards on the number of directorship, nature,
significant commitment and required time that such candidates
played in other listed companies, associations and
organisations. Finally, Nomination Committee reports the
results of such assessment and makes recommendations
to the Board and subject to its final approval with respect
to a formal appointment.

When evaluating the performance of directors who are subject
to retirement by rotation and offer themselves for re-election
at annual general meetings, Nomination Committee will take
into account such factors as the attendance rate, level of
involvement, positions held, commitments and time deployed
of such directors under evaluation in previous Board meetings,
meetings of specialised committees under the Board and
general meetings of the Company. Thereafter, Nomination
Committee will make recommendations regarding the re-
election of such directors, and subject to the final approval
of the Board. The directors being evaluated shall abstain
from voting in respect of such resolution.

Number of meetings held and matters considered during
the Year

The Nomination Committee held a meeting in 2009, all of
member of the Committee attended the meeting. At the
meeting, the committee has evaluated and made
recommendation as to the performance of the directors
who were subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the 2009 annual general meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in December
2003 and consists of three members, two of whom are
independent non-executive directors. Members of the
Remuneration Committee include Mr. Ding Xun (Chairman),
Mr. Leung Ming Yuen, Simon and Mr. Li Jing Qi.

The function of the Remuneration Committee is to establish
a formal and transparent procedure and policy for setting
a remuneration mechanism of directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has been
established with specified written terms of reference which
clearly stated the Committee’s authority and duties, among
which including:
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(1) to determine the level, policy and structure of
remuneration of directors and senior management, and
to establish a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration;

(2) toreview and approve performance-based remuneration
by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board from time to time;

(3) to review and make recommendations in respect of
the remuneration level of directors and senior
management, and to ensure that no director or
management or any of their associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(4) to determine the specific remuneration packages of
all executive directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension fund and compensation
payments (including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment).

The emoluments payable to executive directors of the Company
are determined by reference to their experiences and duties
with the Company and the fees payable to non-executive
directors are determined by reference to the estimated time
spent by them on the Company’s matters. The Remuneration
Committee has consulted the Chief Executive Officer on
the remuneration proposals of executive directors. Details
of the directors’ fee and other emoluments of the directors
of the Company are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements.

Number of meetings held and matters considered during
the Year

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings in 2009,
the attendance details of each member of the committee

B IS in 2009 are set out below:
BERe/
ERAE i E =
Meetings Attendance
attended/held rate
T A(ERE) Ding Xun (Chairman) 2/2 100%
R iR Leung Ming Yuen, Simon 2/2 100%
=3 Li Jing Qi 1/2 50%
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The following matters were discussed in the meetings in
2009:

(1) to consider the appropriation on the bonus of senior
management in 2008; and

(2) to approve the entering into new service contracts with
the executive directors.

Financial reporting

The management had provided the results and financial
statements for 2009 to the Audit Committee for review in
accordance with the stated requirements of the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee confirmed that the financial
statements for 2009 and the related information disclosed
therein were complete, accurate and fair and thereafter the
2009 financial statements had been submitted to the Board
for approval to ensure the Board is able to make an informed
assessment.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
financial position, results and cash flow of the Group. In
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2009, the Board has selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgements
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and have
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
For details of the basis of preparation of the financial statements,
please refer to Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements
in this Report.

The Board and the Audit Committee conducted an annual
review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff for the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and training programmes and budget.

The responsibilities of the auditor to the shareholders are
set out on pages 103 and 104 in this annual report.

Supply of and access to information

Agenda of Board meetings and the accompanying meeting
materials are sent in full to all directors in a timely manner
and at least seven days before the intended date of the
meeting.
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10.

The management of the Company supplies the Board and
its specialised committees with adequate, complete and
reliable information in a timely manner to enable directors
to make informed decisions. The Board and each director
have separate and independent access to the Company’s
senior management.

To enhance communications, the Company has particularly
established an on-line intranet for the directors of the Company
and the members of all specialised committees under the
Board to have access to meeting materials and documents
of the Board and relevant committees.

Division of Authorities between the Board and
the Management

The Board is responsible for formulating overall strategy,
monitoring and controlling the performance of the Group
and the Board delegates its management and administration
functions to the management, and establishes the Executive
Board Committee to manage and monitor, on behalf of the
Board, the day-to-day operations of the Group and to
implement all decisions made by the Board.

Significant matters of the Group are required to be approved
by the Board, including, but not limited to, the following:

(1) appointment of directors;
(2) approval of financial statements;

(3) approval of notifiable and connected transactions of
the Group as required under the Listing Rules;

(4) formation of policies and codes as required by regulators;

(5) formation of specialised committees under the Board;
(6) appointment of auditor,
(7) dividend proposal; and

(8) amendment to Memorandum of Association and Bye-
Laws of the Company, etc.
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Executive Board Committee

Members of the Executive Board Committee were appointed
by the Board. The Committee consists of four executive
directors, namely Mr. Guo Yuan, Mr. Li Jing Qi, Mr. Liu Jun
and Mr. Yang Hai. The Committee was duly authorised by
the Board.

Main functions

In order to give a clear guidance, the duties and authorities
of the Executive Board Committee are set out in its written
terms of reference, mainly including:

(1) to monitor all business operations of the Group;

(2) to prepare and approve the Group’s business plans
and annual budget;

(3) to deal with the ordinary business of the Group and
to authorise the Chief Executive Officer taking the lead
of the management for the day-to-day operations of
the Group, and to authorise individual executive directors
to deal with the daily operation of various business of
the Group;

(4) to consider and review notifiable transactions of the
Group as required under the Listing Rules and advise
the Board thereon;

(5) to provide information and reports of the Group upon
requests by the Audit Committee, to attend and to
arrange the management staff of the Group and
professional advisors attending the Audit Committee
meeting, and answering questions raised by the Audit
Committee at such meetings;

(6) to arrange appointment of professional advisors and
institutions to provide assistance and advices for
specialised committees under the Board; and

(7) to handle all other duties assigned by the Board and
to exercise the authorities delegated to it by the Board.

The Executive Board Committee reports its decisions and
recommendations to the Board in a timely manner, and the
minutes of meetings of the Committee in relation to material
matters and decisions are circulated to members of the
Board for information within a reasonable time.
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Number of meetings held and matters considered during
the Year

In 2009, the Executive Board Committee convened 29
meetings. The meetings mainly discussed and considered
the Company’s annual and interim results, business
development, connected transactions and notifiable
transactions, and provided recommendations thereon to
the Board. Such meetings also discussed business
development plans of the Group’s subsidiaries, capital
expenditure and loans, property assessment, changes of
directors and senior management; considered the budgeting
for year 2010; and considered and approved on loan
agreements with banks, interest rate swaps, adjustment
plans for financing, opening and cancellation of bank accounts,
and changes of Group’s logo and brand structure.

CORPORATE INTERNAL MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group leads and supports its subsidiary companies to
achieve enterprise development in accordance with the Group’s
strategic plans by working out an overall strategy on enterprise
development. The Group achieves sustainable development
based on good and regulated management by adjusting,
improving and enhancing the internal management mode
of its subsidiary companies.

Corporate Internal Management and Control Mode

Function Positioning of Group Headquarters

Based on the respective industries’ characteristics, maturity
levels of businesses and corporate development stages of
its subsidiaries, the Group positions the headquarter’s function
as the core of investment, financing, decision-making and
backup support.

Adjustment and Improvement of Strategic Plans

Through adjusting and improving its overall long and medium
term strategic plans, as well as implementing acquisitions
and reorganisation, capital operation, resources allocation,
structure adjustment, operation management, financial control
and financial planning and other means, the Group has guided
and supported its subsidiaries to develop and operate in
an orderly manner.
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3. Management Control

Based on the needs of its strategic management control
mode, the Group has ensured that its subsidiaries’ material
operating activities are conducted in accordance with the
Group’s strategic plans and objectives by controlling,
supporting and guiding important economic activities such
as budget management, performance appraisal, investment
management, capital management, construction management,
remuneration management, assets and equity structure, human
resources and information management of its subsidiaries,
thereby ensuring an effective implementation of the Group’s
strategic plans.

4. Systems Build-up

Based on the content of the management control regime,
the Group has created clearly defined standards. With such
standards, the Group has set up a strict authorisation system
and a rationalised operation workflow to ensure that various
operating activities are properly authorised; to safeguard
the company’s assets and the interests of shareholders;
and to continuously enhance implementation efficiency through
a regime on system amendment and improvement.

Risk Management

During the Year, based on its governance needs, the Company
amended and improved various regulations and control systems,
and worked out the Comprehensive Risk Management Regulations,
thereby clarifying the risk management procedures, setting out
requirements for risk control and management, and setting up
risk management organisation and information systems. For probable
risks, through carrying out adequate risk recognition and assessment
and formulating risk coping measures, the Group has specifically
drawn up regulations of procedures for material risk management
while setting up warning indicators for material losses.

The Board requires the management to review the implementation
of internal control and risk management at the end of each year.
Through a comprehensive assessment on the Company and its
subsidiaries conducted by the internal audit department based
on continuous standards, the management will judge whether
the improvements on internal control and risk management are
able to meet the expected objectives, and will make improvement
recommendations for any control deficiency in the system.
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The Company believes that the implementation of such internal
control and risk management measures shall effectively manage
any material risk the Group may face, and will mitigate the impact
of risk incidents on the Group, thereby protecting shareholders’
interests and the Company’s assets and attaining the long-term
strategic objectives of the Company.

The Board has comprehensively reviewed the Group’s internal
control systems and risk management in year 2009, and found
that the implementation thereof progressed well and that there
were no significant control failures or weaknesses. The Board
considered that the relevant systems were effective and sufficient
to ensure the Group to achieve its operation and governance
objectives. The Board will continue to press the management of
the Company to continue to enhance the internal control and
risk management system in order to ensure an effective operation
of the system.

Functions of Internal Audit Department

In 2002, the Group set up an internal audit department in order
to improve the overall reporting and internal control regime of
the Group. The internal audit department has the following main
functions:

()  assessment on internal control and risk management systems;

(i) financial due diligence in respect of investment projects;
and

(i) auditing and supervision of financial projects

Insurance on Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for liability insurance cover to indemnify
the Board, directors and certain senior management for their
liabilities arising out of corporate activities. Purchase of liability
insurance can enhance the Company’s ability to resist risks. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Auditor of the Company is PricewaterhouseCoopers.
Details of the fees in relation to the audit and non-audit
services provided by the Company’s auditor during the Year
were as follows:

rEERKEER
Fees charged for
the Year
EH BETT
Items HK$’000
TEENFEVKRREETER Fees for audit of 2009 financial statements 2,600
EH _TTNFHPBUBREER  Fees for review of 2009 interim financial statements 400
BRI R R A R45% Fees as reporting accountant of the major 450
BEXZREEIHH and connected transaction in relation to
RREMREER the acquisition of 45% equity interest
in Jihe East Company
HMHTERFHNEEER Fees for other agreed upon procedures 96
By Total 3,546

EZZEECHBERBOKEGMNER
Vst &M BFERE  BIER
EEMFL R  TEREFSHERE
BRBFAEL BEERARFE_-F
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RAEME
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EFRBRUBRY - REQDEEH
AF® ETARMRBAG - BADF

ERKE -

FAEZERHAESARWENE R MR
%o HMRESSEFLAEEABRIL
MOIBHESET ESSENEFSTET
FEXZEENERCBHARWER
7 WHERHEFEERH -

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audit fees, procedures
and effectiveness, independence and objectiveness of
PricewaterhouseCoopers and recommended to the Board
their reappointment as the Company’s auditor in 2010 at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed the Company Secretary who
is responsible for providing secretarial services to the directors
and ensuring the operation of the Company is properly complied
with Hong Kong listed companies’ regulatory requirements
as well as enhancing its corporate governance standards.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.
Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of all specialised
committees under the Board are kept by the Company
Secretary and are available for inspection by the directors
at all times.
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Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of all specialised
committees under the Board are recorded by the Company
Secretary (also is the secretary of each of specialised
committees) in sufficient details on the matters considered
by all directors and decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft
minutes of Board meetings and meetings of all specialised
committees under the Board are provided to relevant directors
for their comments and the final version of the same are
given to relevant directors for their records within a reasonable
time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

General Meetings

Each annual or special general meeting provides a channel
of direct communication between the Board and the
shareholders of the Company. Therefore, the Company puts
high regard to general meetings and all directors and senior
management are requested to make their best effort to attend.
In respect of each matters (including re-election of directors)
at general meetings of the Company, separate resolutions
are proposed by the Chairman of that meeting. At general
meetings, all shareholders are entitled to provide
recommendations or conduct inquiries to directors and senior
management regarding issues about the Group’s business
and operating activities. Directors and senior management
shall explain and illustrate on shareholders’ inquiries and
recommendations.

The Chairmen of the Board and the Audit Committee, and
members of Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee attended the annual general meeting held in
2009 to answer questions raised by shareholders.
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The Company convened two general meetings during the
Year. The major items discussed are summarised below:

=h RERFE &R
Date Details of Resolutions Results
ZZENE 1. ABBECET/\FTRACT-ALFEZEBERMBBRREEZ RREMRE - i
~NAZH To receive and consider the audited Financial Statements and the Reports of the Pass

2 June 2009 Directors and of the Auditors for the year ended 31 December 2008.
2. ERKEBE_TT/\FT_A=T-RALEFEEZRBRKRE - BB
To declare the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008. Pass
3. ERREMNBERKEZEZCETEEMD - BB
To re-elect the retiring directors and to authorise the Board to fix the directors’ remuneration. Pass
4. BRADAGEM IREEFTSETRZCHE B
To re-appoint Auditor of the Company and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration. Pass
5. BRTESCBLRENEBEARRZREG kel
To grant a repurchase mandate to the Directors to repurchase shares in the Company. Pass
6. BRTEFC-—REEUEE ZOTRUEMARXREARRAZKN kel
To grant a general mandate to the Directors to allot, issue and otherwise deal with the shares Pass

in the Company.
7. MABRTEFEH-REEARE  BORAEMIREERD kel
To extend the general mandate granted to the Directors to allot, issue and otherwise deal with Pass
the shares in the Company.

8. HALAMARMAEITNES BB
To approve the proposed amendments to the existing bye-laws of the Company. Pass
ZEENE 1. HAERBEERAF4S%ES o kel
+ANAB To approve the acquisition of 45% equity interest in Jihe East Company. Pass
9July2009 2. HEHEEREEARROHEFEMRTRAAEEMRETE - kel

To approve the general mandate in relation to the disposal of A shares in CSG.

UEREREAARRBRRER

BIE LML RIREAE L - BREFT
ERERRAVBARKRBEES KRR
R MAFEER » KRB RTRITHR
BRE L HUERBEEZEAAERE
MFERETRR YEETARAHE
DBFEETEES -

BERASETFEREZHEE  ERALE
MRBCRIB I R AR B BUR R T 1T
FORBFFAIE P

2,

Pass

Voting by poll on shareholders’ resolutions

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all resolutions proposed at
general meetings are required to put to vote by way of poll.
During the Year, all resolutions proposed at the Company’s
general meetings were conducted by way of poll and the
share registrar of the Company had been appointed as the
scrutineer.

Before commencement of general meetings, the Chairman
of general meetings explained clearly to shareholders present
the detailed procedures for conducting a poll.
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The Company posted the poll results on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company on the dates of the
general meetings.

Information Disclosure

Information disclosure is not merely an ongoing responsibility
and obligation that a listed company must fulfill. Credible
information disclosure can effectively build a bridge of
communication and understanding between investors,
regulatory authorities, the public and the Company. This
can facilitate a broader and more thorough understanding
of the Company’s values. To regulate information disclosure
of the Company and protect the legal rights of the Company
and its shareholders, creditors and related interested parties,
the Company constituted the “Rules Governing Information
Disclosure Matters” pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
circumstances of the Company and it was adopted by the
Board on 24 August 2009.

During the Year, the Company released over 20
announcements / notices including annual and interim results,
major transaction, connected transaction, voluntary disclosure,
notice of general meetings, change of registered office and
principal share registrar of the Company, etc. In addition,
the Company released over 100 overseas regulatory
announcements in relation to the information disclosed by
Shenzhen Expressway on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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REEBEITH 4. Investor Relations Activities
NRZEZNGF RAFRIBRBRTFER During the Year, the management of the Company participated
‘:P HIZEHENN G EEETZ2MT D in various conferences and investors’ meetings organised
AR ESEERPENHEN G S by analysts and fund managers, other than presentations
g o BEAFEAZEENGZBONFE on annual and interim results announcements held by the
mr - Company. Details of the activities are as follows:
—EENF EEHER
2009 Activities
4A o BIIRNFE008FFEEEREEREN
April Held 2008 Annual Results Corporate Presentation of the Company
o ZNMBERBEFENEBALR2008FFEEEHORN

Participated in a post results roadshow organised by Macquarie Capital Securities Limited
5A o ZNETHEEESENTEWRNE
May Participated in a thematic conference organised by Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited

o ZNBERBEFRRNTELESE

Participated in the “China Conference” organised by Macquarie Capital Securities Limited
8A o ZNBESEFB|NRN[EE —PECEIRA]
August Participated in the “HK/China Access Day” organised by CLSA Limited
9A o BITRNFE009FFHEEREEREN
September Held 2009 Interim Results Corporate Presentation of the Company
1A o ZNETEEESENTEWRNE
November Participated in a thematic conference organised by Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited
128 o ZINABRIEES B Y [Asia-Pacific Infrastructure & Transportation Conferencel
December Participated in the “Asia-Pacific Infrastructure & Transportation Conference” organised by

Macquarie Capital Securities Limited
AIREERRMNER KREERARA The Company publishes on its website www.szihl.com in
LABB AN A #uhwww.szihl.com © B respect of the general information, information of disclosure,
NEEASEEELREN  FEEEX biographies of directors and senior management, business,
" ZEENSREEBEAE[N  EK - financial and other affairs of the Group from time to time in

B REMER

order to promote the communications with its shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

HNEARTF

EBRITRAZ

PR Btk

ZRREE Approximate %

Number of EEME of issued

EENE ordinary g% Nature share capital

Name of directors shares held Capacity of interest  of the Company

= 20,000,000 BEHEEBA EA 0.14%
Li Jing Qi beneficial owner personal

3 ¥ 19,000,000 BEHEEBA EA 0.13%
Liu Jun beneficial owner personal
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Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME” as set out in the Report of the Directors on
pages 67 to 77 of this Annual Report, as at 31 December 2009,
none of the directors or chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352
of Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Disclosure of Interests

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES” above and “SHARE OPTION SCHEME”
as set out in the Report of the Directors on pages 67 to 77 of
this Annual Report, at no time during the Year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate granted
to any directors, chief executives or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised
by them, or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the directors, chief executives,
their spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of
the substantial shareholders, other than directors or chief executives
of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO are set out below:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying
shares of the Company

HIEERRT

BRITREZ

Fiis Fiis B

EEREE HEERG Approximate %

Number of Number of of issued

REEZHE ordinary underlying =) share capital

Name of shareholders shares held shares held Capacity of the Company

RYREEE M) 4,836,363,636 — XEHREOER 34.20%
SIHC - Note(1) interest of controlled

corporations
AR EER 904,109,589 —  EanfsA 6.39%
SIHC beneficial owner
Ultrarich— Bif5£(2) 4,836,363,636 —  EanfsA 34.20%

Ultrarich - Note (2)

R B ZR — M (3)
SIHCL - Note (3)

1,439,583,333
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beneficial owner

EREEA 10.18%
beneficial owner

101




—H= \ 7/ E%
S B

Disclosure of Interests

(1) Ultrarich /&I EEEN 2 EWB AR - BURIILEE
B R AERS A Ultrarich FTH5 4 894,836,363,636 R A F)
LWARARMD - RZTTAE+A+TREA - FYHREETE (1
BER) BRIIEER VERER) FTRHEB HE - A
ZHEREEZEUltrarichi100% g - BE-_TTNEF+
ZR=1+—HB BHEEFEEATHK - RZEETK
& + Ultrarichi8 A ARYIR EER 2 2 EWB AR+ MR
A & 1 B8 % R 1EH B UltrarichfT 5 B &
4,836,363,636 [RANA R iBARAR M o

(2) HFREE TS HEERBELEBUItrarichWES - M
Ultrarich A2 R0 R ABRERR (0 R #E A 1RG5 R Al S
EBIEXVERE2 REIN AN I BN SAR

(3) YR E R R A AR B THEE /B’ 1,727,500,000
TEEEFEMITRRES - ZRRESTIRGERES
A& A% 1. 207 (] T %) 8812 /431,439,583,333 A A F)
ZEBARAR D o LI ATIARRES A ET R EYAERA
PTETA -
B EXFIEEEIN RZEENF+_A=1
—H  ARRWBERSEERAARQREEMR
RTEREFXFETBABR)BERRAN
R RAEERNOHERSIOAE - MABAELRRIR
BEE N EIEHIEXVERE 336 I8 EFEFH
Er A e

HtATRESF 2 ER

RZZBZNF+_A=+—H REEHFRHB
BIRPIFEXVERFEIB6IGMEAN AR ABBFNE
O PracE: - HA AL R AR R E IR ki8R
Pty mfE s RORBEHIIT -

Notes:

(1) Ultrarich is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SIHC and accordingly SIHC was deemed
to be interested in the 4,836,363,636 ordinary shares in the Company owned
by Ultrarich. On 15 October 2009, SIHC (as vendor) and SIHCL (as purchaser)
entered into a share transfer agreement for the transfer of 100% equity interest
in Ultrarich at a nominal consideration. As at 31 December 2009, such share
transfer has yet to be completed. Upon completion of the share transfer, Ultrarich
will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of SIHCL and accordingly SIHCL will
be deemed to be interested in the 4,836,363,636 ordinary shares in the company
owned by Ultrarich.

(2) Messrs. Guo Yuan, Li Jing Qi and Liu Jun are directors of Ultrarich which has
an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

(3) SIHCL owns a non-interest bearing convertible bond issued by the Company
with a principal amount of HK$1,727,500,000 carrying rights to convert into
1,439,583,333 ordinary shares in the Company at an initial conversion price of
HK$1.20 per share, subject to adjustment. The aforesaid convertible bond was
unlisted and physically settled equity derivative.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, the Company
had not been notified by any substantial shareholders, other than
directors and chief executives of the Company, who had interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which are required to be recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of
other persons who had interests and short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company, which are required to
be recorded in the register kept by the Company under section
336 of Part XV of the SFO are set out below:

REQXFREBEBRZEFR Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company
KGR AT
Fris ERITRAZ
ZEREAR Bk
Number of Approximate % of
BERERE ordinary g5 issued share capital
Name of shareholder shares held Capacity of the Company
RARE Infrastructure Limited 722,326,618 R BRI 5.10%

BREXWEEN R_TZAF+_A=1—
B ARBUEEEZHBEMNEBALRAR
AIE ) RABBRD ER SOR R - TAE R
WIRIERE 7 R I B RDIEXVELE 336K R E H
FHERMA -
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Investment manager

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, the Company
had not been notified by any other persons who had interests or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company,
which are required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.
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22/F, Prince's Building
Central, Hong Kong
Telephone(852) 2289 8888
Facsimile (852) 2810 9888
pwchk.com

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of Shenzhen International
Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 105 to 248, which comprise
the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December
2009, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

FIIBIIE AR B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2009 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 March 2010
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
(BREFIFERES) - BT B 2 881 LB F oL AL T)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

R+=—A=+—8H
As at 31 December
B 7
Note 2009 2008
BE ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current assets
Y%~ BE R Property, plant and equipment 6 2,214,359 1,636,136
"EYE Investment properties 7 44,443 49,183
FAE i - T A Leasehold land, land use rights
FEMBEEEE and other leased assets 8 670,262 509,656
EETR Construction in progress 9 636,456 341,542
EBEEE Intangible assets 10 22,463,694 18,125,699
Rt E R T 2w Investments in associates 12 1,455,216 1,441,731
R AL [R5 ) & 88 Investments in jointly
2 controlled entities 13 300,350 773,559
AHEEZ Available-for-sale financial
G EE assets 14 142,366 95,726
BEEMSHEE Deferred tax assets 25 45,923 —
HEMIEmEBEE Other non-current assets 15 53,247 —
28,026,316 22,973,232
REEE Current assets
AEEEZ Available-for-sale financial
MG EE assets 14 2,311,475 1,134,638
BAnBEHABRLEK Financial assets at fair value
A E through profit or loss — 149,827
BEGFECEE Assets held for sale 16 14,528 14,717
75 I E A JE UK Trade and other receivables 17 412,421 573,899
TR FIEITER Restricted bank deposits 18 556,920 160,168
ReRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 18 1,126,402 1,901,000
PTHEFBIEAE Derivative financial instruments 22 — 7,143
4,421,746 3,941,392
HWEE Total assets 32,448,062 26,914,624

FIIBIIE AR B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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HREERER

Consolidated Balance Sheet
(BREFIFEBES) » BT 2 881 LB F oL A8 )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

R+=—A=+—8
As at 31 December
B 5
Note 2009 2008

R EQUITY
DT REE Capital and reserves attributable

BEAEM to equity

BEXK#E holders of the Company

AR 7R Share capital 19 2,973,698 2,941,407

Hib A Other reserves 20 252,447 (1,374,813)

REB AR Retained earnings

—EERE — Proposed dividends 37 306,880 203,398

—HAftb - Others 3,492,111 3,139,929

7,025,136 4,909,921

DR RER Minority interests 5,694,554 4,972,684
HRES Total equity 12,719,690 9,882,605
afE LIABILITIES
kERBEE Non-current liabilities

X Borrowings 21 9,604,665 7,302,217

PTERKIA Derivative financial instruments 22 51,608 51,460

NEEEEE Provision for maintenance/

& resurfacing obligations 23 829,180 366,426
AR E S Convertible bonds 24 1,426,402 3,066,685
BREMSHAERE Deferred income tax liabilities 25 1,684,619 875,921
B A Deferred income 26 — 33,608
HEMIEREBAEERE Other non-current liabilities 9,087 —

13,605,561 11,696,317

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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mEBERER
Consolidated Balance Sheet
(BREFIFERES) - BT B 2 881 LB F oL AL T)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

BR+=—B=+-—H
As at 31 December

B 7

Note 2009 2008
REBAE Current liabilities

5 R E A TR Trade and other payables 27 2,086,141 3,233,979
FES IR Income tax payable 172,718 159,875
AR & 2 Convertible bonds 24 1,776,430 —
B3 Borrowings 21 2,084,829 1,941,848
PTEGBIT A Derivative financial instruments 22 2,693 =
6,122,811 5,335,702
wmes Total liabilities 19,728,372 17,032,019
HEZRERS Total equity and liabilities 32,448,062 26,914,624
REBAEFE Net current liabilities (1,701,065) (1,394,310)
HWEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 26,325,251 21,578,922

F116EF248H MM E ARG A TEIHREA  The notes on pages 116 to 248 are an integral part of these
ARCER D © consolidated financial statements.

F106E F 248N BHREREN — T —ZF  The financial statements on page 105 to 248 were approved by
“A-t=RHEE=eE  WHLATESMK  the Board of Directors on 23 March 2010 and were signed on

REE o its behalf.
=25 2=

Li Jing Qi Liu Jun
- 2
Director Director

FIIBIIE AR B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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BEBER
Balance Sheet

(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

R+=—A=+—8
As at 31 December
B 2
Note 2009 2008
EE ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current assets
RHTE AR 2 s Investments in subsidiaries 11 6,147,943 4,781,734
REBEE Current assets
H A e Y5k Other receivables 17 1,019 1,265
e U BT B A B 2 iR B Dividends due from subsidiaries 11 2,842,923 2,842,923
RekREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 18 48,136 94,872
2,892,078 2,939,060
mEE Total assets 9,040,021 7,720,794
R EQUITY
BR AR Share capital 19 2,973,698 2,941,407
H &% Other reserves 20 651,690 657,330
RE Bk Retained earnings 35
—EBERE - Proposed dividends 37 306,880 203,398
—H b — Others 1,582,337 1,970,855
4 RE R Total equity 5,514,605 5,772,990
=R LIABILITIES
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
B3R Borrowings 21 1,478,750 47,894
TTEHEET A Derivative financial instruments 22 51,608 45,968
Al R E S Convertible bonds 24 — 1,706,676
1,530,358 1,800,538

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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BEBERXR
Balance Sheet
(BREFIFERES) - BT B 2 881 LB F oL AL T)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

R+=—A=+—8
As at 31 December
M aE
Note 2009 2008
REBAE Current liabilities
H{th e 3R Other payables 27 10,070 2,458
B3R Borrowings 21 205,625 141,875
AR & 2 Convertible bonds 24 1,776,430 —
FEAS BT /B R B3k IR Amount due to a subsidiary 11 2,933 2,933
1,995,058 147,266
wmems Total liabilities 3,525,416 1,947,804
BREXREE Total equity and liabilities 9,040,021 7,720,794
REBEEFE Net current assets 897,020 2,791,794
HWEERRBERS Total assets less current
liabilities 7,044,963 7,573,528

F116EFE248A MM E ARG A TEHREA  The notes on pages 116 to 248 are an integral part of these
ARCER D © consolidated financial statements.

F106E F 248N BHREREN — T —ZF  The financial statements on page 105 to 248 were approved by
“A-t=HEE=eE  WHLATESMK the Board of Directors on 23 March 2010 and were signed on

REE ° its behalf.
=525 2=E

Li Jing Qi Liu Jun
- 2
Director Director

FIIBIIE AR B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
%R 2009 Annual Report
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Consolidated Income Statement
(BREFIGEBES) - BT 2 881 LB F oL A8 )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=t+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

B 5
Note 2009 2008
A Revenue 28 4,080,949 5,951,614
$H & K AR Cost of sales 31 (2,635,576) (4,665,236)
EF Gross profit 1,445,373 1,286,378
Hiblzs— 558 Other gains — net 29 391,840 160,150
HEgA Other income 30 86,059 104,782
Pal =)D N Distribution costs 31 (23,052) (21,757)
EHER Administrative expenses 31 (201,637) (214,332)
HihgZ & Other operating expenses 31 (10,774) (1,499)
KRR Operating profit 1,687,809 1,318,722
JE i £ [R] 2= ) Share of profit of jointly
AT controlled entities 13 204,763 244,439
FE(LEEE N RIRF, (E18) Share of profit/(loss) of associates 12 92,506 (17,601)
R K B 75 B A< AT 2 F Profit before finance costs and tax 1,985,078 1,540,560
B 75 U 2 Finance income 33 27,952 61,866
B #AK AR Finance costs 33 (569,047) (445,761)
MK A — F 58 Finance costs — net 33 (541,095) (383,895)
BB AT 2 R Profit before income tax 1,443,983 1,156,665
Frig %5 Income tax expense 34 (266,885) (190,043)
FEMAF Profit for the year 1,177,098 966,622
Bk : Attributable to:
KRAAIRERE A Equity holders of the Company 865,859 574,986
DB ER Minority interests 311,239 391,636
1,177,098 966,622
FEARQATRESFSEA Earnings per share for the profit
EiEEREF attributable to the equity holders
(A=A of the Company during the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— &K - Basic 36 6.17 4.06
—BE — Diluted 36 6.03 4.04
BE Dividends 37 306,880 203,398

F116EFE248E MW ARG AP IEHMERA  The notes on pages 116 to 248 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

AR LD ©
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

Bt 5
Note 2009 2008
FEMAF Profit for the year 1,177,098 966,622
Htt 2w - Other comprehensive income:
At E 2 B Fair value gains on available-for-sale
BENAE financial assets,
Yot - D& FHE net of tax 20 1,005,013 28,391
EEAHEEZ Transfer of fair value gains to
MBEE income statement upon disposal
ARBERRERERK of available-for-sale financial
Mg F 5 assets, net of tax 20 (81,410) —
PTETBITEARBEBE - Fair value losses on derivative
Mg F 5 financial instruments, net of tax 20 (5,640) (49,211)
RIEEROBRERELE A Derecognition of cash flow hedge,
M1 %5 net of tax 20 5,210 —
AC¥ESHELENEMLAS% ©  Revaluation surplus arising from
1&g 55 business combination, net of tax 978,170 —
BEKENZ8 Currency translation differences 10,013 643,845
1,911,356 623,025
FEZHEWNZEAE Total comprehensive income
for the year 3,088,454 1,589,647
EBiE2EkmesE: Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
KRAIRERE A Equity holders of the Company 2,266,520 1,011,983
LB Minority interests 821,934 577,664
3,088,454 1,689,647

F116E2FE 248 A KT sE BARL A B 5 R & A

AR LD ©

The notes on pages 116 to 248 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(R BIEEERS) - BT & 8B OB IS F T A Elz)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

TRARTREERADBHNER
Attributable to equity holders

of the Company
BAR 8|
REEE HitRE KREES RREE 4%
Share capital Other ~ Retained  Minority Total
and share premium  reserves  earnings interests equity

R-EENE-B-HEH Balance at 1 January 2008 3,043,104 368,089 3,474,650 4,647,839 11,634,182
2EKE Comprehensive income
ERMN Profit for the year - — 574986 391,636 966,622
Hit2EKE Other comprehensive income
MHEREHBEER A ERE - Fair value gains on available-for-sale

REFE financial assets, net of tax — 28,39 - — 28,3
TEMBIAMAEER Bk Fair value losses on derivative financial

e instruments, net of tax —  (49,211) - —  (49,211)
RHESZE Currency translation differences — 457817 — 186,028 643,845
EzERGEE Total other comprehensive income — 436,997 — 186,028 623,025
2EKEEE Total comprehensive income — 436,997 574986 577,664 1,589,647
HEEAR S Transaction with owners
EERRE Employee share options

~BIRMAGHE - proceeds from shares issued 1,692 - — - 1,692
REtEEEN Merger reserve arising from

AbtEE common control combinations — (2,181,643) - — (2,181,643
BARE Transfer to reserves — 66221 (66,221) - —
ZETLERR Dividend relating to 2007 - —  (640,088) —  (640,088)
WELRRETE Dividend paid to minority

SEREHRE shareholders by subsidiaries - - —  (15194) (15,194
1 R Hk A Repurchase and cancellation of shares (103,389) - - —  (103,389)
WEDHRRER Acquisition of minority interests —  (64977) —  (333,649) (398,626)
REFAGmESEN Minority interest arising on business

SURRER combination - - —  4p6T4 46,674
PERREA Injection by minority shareholders - — — 49350 49,350
HREARZEHE Total transaction with owners (101,697) (2,180,399) (706,309) (252,819) (3,241,224)

R-BRNE+ZA=t-RER

Balance at 31 December 2008

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3} 2009 Annual Report

2,941,407

(1,374,813) 3,343,327 4,972,684 9,882,605




RABHRBHE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(B BIEERS) - BT & 8B LB IS F T A &z )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

IHELARESEASENER
Attributable to equity holders

of the Company
RAR
RxgB® HitRE REER
Share capital Other  Retained
and share premium  reserves  earnings

2 |
REgz:  ARR
Minority Total
interests equity

R-BENEF-A-RER

ek
EEAN

Rp2ERE
ARHEZHBEEDA BN
HiRFR
RETMHE HBEENAE
WaBRRER
HiRFR
ERBTARAERE -
HiRFR
RIEEZHRESREHH -
HRFR
REXaHELNERRL
BRFR
SRERER

BERARS
EEERE
-BROAERER
YN
“RERN\ERS
fBAARE T A
DERROBE
WESERR E S
REXAHMELNIR
B (B E41(a))
DERREA

RERARZAE
R-BRAF+ZA=t-RER

Balance at 1 January 2009 2,941,407 (1,374,813) 3,343,327

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - — 865,859

4,972,684 9,882,605

311,239 1,177,098

Other comprehensive income
Fair value gains on available-for-sale

financial assets, net of tax — 1,005,013 - — 1,005,013
Transfer of fair value gain to income

statement upon disposal of available

-for-sale financial assets, net of tax - (81,410) - - (81,410)
Fair value losses on derivative financial

instruments, net of tax - (5,640) - - (5,640)
Derecognition of cash flow hedge,

net of tax - 5,210 - - 5,210
Revaluation surplus arising from

business combination, net of tax — 471,385 — 506,785 978,170
Currency translation differences - 6,103 - 3,910 10,013
Total other comprehensive income — 1,400,661 — 510,695 1,911,356
Total comprehensive income — 1,400,661 865,859 821,934 3,088,454

Transaction with owners
Employee share options

- proceeds from shares issued 32,291 - -
Transfer to reserves — 206,786  (206,786)
Dividend relating to 2008 - —  (203,409)

Dividend paid to minority shareholders
by subsidiaries — - -
Acquisition of minority interests — 19,316
Minority interest arising on business
combination (Note 41(a)) — - -
njection by minority shareholders — 497

- 32,291

—  (203,409)

(171,058) (171,058
(83,041)  (68,725)

50,036 50,036
108,999 109,496

Total transaction with owners 32,291 226,599  (410,195)

(100,064)  (251,369)

Balance at 31 December 2009 2,973,698 252,447 3,798,991

5,694,554 12,719,690

F116EF248E N ARG AP IEHRERM  The notes on pages 116 to 248 are an integral part of these
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consolidated financial statements.
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Consohdated Statement of Cash Flows
(BREFIGEBES) - BT 2 881 LB F oL A8 )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=t+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

B 5T
Note 2009 2008

EETHNRERE Cash flows from operating activities
EIBELENR S Cash generated from operations 38(a) 1,834,500 1,376,947
HERARBEEBRER Proceeds from disposals of financial

ARV BEE assets at fair value through

P18 5KIR profit or loss 246,405 277,376
RN PPN Interest paid (404,407) (238,820)
B FTEH Income tax paid (373,622) (294,872)
EERDEL Net cash generated from operating

HEEE activities 1,302,876 1,120,631
RETENEESRE Cash flows from investing activities
WEEHT B A A - kR Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of

WHEmSZHRE cash acquired 38(c) (2,131,521) 10,666
W DB R s Acquisition of minority interests (68,725) (398,626)
BEWME  WEREME - Purchases of property, plant and

EREIRER equipment, construction

B EE in progress, and intangible assets (2,078,015) (3,177,318)
EEMHE T - T Purchases of leasehold land, land use

ERERAMHEESE rights and other leased assets (195,122) (59,661)
EINEEREE R AR Increase in investments in associates

HEEHEE and jointly controlled entities (51,119) (1,246,210)

E%E\TT/\tﬂ = Purchases of available-for-sale

MBEE financial assets (46,564) —
HEME  BERZRE Proceeds from disposals of property,

Fr{S 538 plant and equipment 38(b) 11,643 29,920
HEREME Proceeds from disposals of

Fr13 K38 investment properties 4,040 —
HEMRE L - Proceeds from disposals of

4 b {5E AR % Eo At leasehold land, land use rights and

MEBEMFMENIEA other leased assets 37,547 19,530
& B A B TS 5RIR Proceeds from disposal of associates — 532,160
HEMHEEZ Proceeds from disposal of available

M IS & EFTERIE -for-sale financial assets 288,677 —
R &SN Interest received 27,952 61,866
2R & Dividends received 310,281 381,372
RETEHFANFERS Net cash used in investing activities (3,890,926) (3,846,301)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(BREFIFERES) - BT B 2 881 LB F oL AL T)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

FEBRIMNER

BE+-A=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

Bt 5
Note 2009 2008
METHNRERE Cash flows from financing activities
EEMTEMKITA Proceeds from derivative financial
Fr{S 5038 instruments 4,117 —
6] 8% A% 17 FT 2 1 A R IE Payment for shares repurchased 19 — (103,389)
BITEBR Proceeds from issuance of
Fr 1S 3K ordinary shares 19 32,291 1,692
LR E S T B Capital contribution by minority interests 109,496 49,350
BAENK Proceeds from borrowings 6,474,860 6,543,311
EEEX Repayments of borrowings (4,036,054) (4,460,847)
Z PR HIERIT I RER Increase in restricted bank deposits
Z3E for guarantee (396,752) (142,719)
mAR R &M B A A Dividends paid to the Company and
Z RIS subsidiaries’ shareholders (374,467) (655,282)
MEIBHELENFERS Net cash generated from financing
activities 1,813,491 1,232,116
ReRBREEBY Net decrease in cash and
b= A cash equivalents (774,559) (1,493,554)
FURe AL Cash and cash equivalents at
ZEY beginning of year 1,901,000 3,319,744
X (B8 Mz Exchange (loss)/gain (39) 74,810
FRESKRESZEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 18 1,126,402 1,901,000

F116EF248E N ARG AP IEHRERMN  The notes on pages 116 to 248 are an integral part of these
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consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. DAAER

Shenzhen International Holdings Limited &
INEREZERER AR ([RAFE]) BIREER
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- YRE: R
- YRR -

AArlR—HRBEREFMNICBRAR -
RNAAzixfMiit ABank of Bermuda
Building, 6 Front Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda °

ARARBREBWERSHABRRA LD
(8 32Ff)) - AR RMEEHE R 2 — &Y
R ABRBERA (DRYISE)) B
R ESBHRBH L -

RKRABME - ABREREFITHEEERE AR
(DRINEEER]) - FIREEEBBE—RIF
JITMREEEEEBEER ([FITRER]
BREARIME([FE]) BEE#E) EEE
ERNAGR RZZEENF+_A=+—8#%%5
RRAAKAL0.59% R c R ABESRAE -
YN E B IR AN B A I B 7S R AE &
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REEAPBMRABETLI®R - KA EEH
Ih o RIFEMBHRREMEFEE_T—ZTF
SR t=H#tERE-
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Shenzhen International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), and its associates
and jointly controlled entities include the following logistic businesses:

— Toll Roads;
— Logistic Parks; and
— Provision of Logistic Service

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda.
The address of its registered office is Bank of Bermuda Building,
6 Front Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company has its listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). One of the major subsidiaries
of the Company, Shenzhen Expressway Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Expressway”) is listed on Stock Exchange and Shanghai
Stock Exchange.

Shenzhen Investment Holding Corporation (“SIHC”) is the largest
shareholder of the Company. SIHC is supervised and managed
by Shenzhen Municipal State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Bureau (“Shenzhen SASAB”), which is a state-
owned authority of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). SIHC
owned approximately 40.59% interest of the Company as at 31
December 2009. As SIHC controls the financial and operating
policies of the Company, the directors of the Company regard
SIHC as the de facto controller of the Company. Since Shenzhen
SASAB supervises and manages SIHC, it controls the financial
and operating policies of SIHC. As a result, the Company is also
de facto controlled by Shenzhen SASAB.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”), unless otherwise stated.
These consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2010.
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2. FESTHEE

RENEAVBHRRFANER G HREAR
TX - BREABRAIN - L FBREPTZMANPT
BFEERNERER -
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(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of the available-
for-sale financial assets, financial assets and financial liabilities
(including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or
loss, and investment properties, which are carried at fair value.

The Group reported net current liabilities of approximately HKD1,701
million as at 31 December 2009. On the basis that the Group
has unutilised banking facilities of approximately HKD11,934 million
as at 31 December 2009, including facilities of approximately
HKD7,388 million expiring beyond one year, and has been generating
positive operating cash flows, the directors of the Company believe
that the Group operates as a going concern and is able to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due. Consequently,
the financial statements have been prepared by the directors of
the Company on a going concern basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following new and amended HKFRSs
as of 1 January 2009, all of these have no impact on earnings
per share.

HKFRS 7 (amendment) ‘Financial instruments — Disclosures’
— effective 1 January 2009. The amendment requires enhanced
disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk.
In particular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair value
measurements by level of a fair value measurement hierarchy.
The change in accounting policy only results in additional
disclosures.

HKAS 1 (revised). ‘Presentation of financial statements’ —
effective 1 January 2009. The revised standard prohibits
the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is,
‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement of changes
in equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in equity’ to be
presented separately from owner changes in equity in a
statement of comprehensive income. As a result the Group
presents in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
all owner changes in equity, whereas all non-owner changes
in equity are presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Comparative information has been
re-presented so that it also is in conformity with the revised
standard. The change in accounting policy only impacts
presentation aspects.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(continued)

HKFRS 2 (amendment), ‘Share-based payment’ (effective
1 January 2009) deals with vesting conditions and cancellations.
It clarifies that vesting conditions are service conditions and
performance conditions only. Other features of a share-
based payment are not vesting conditions. These features
would need to be included in the grant date fair value for
transactions with employees and others providing similar
services; they would not impact the number of awards expected
to vest or valuation thereof subsequent to grant date. All
cancellations, whether by the entity or by other parties, should
receive the same accounting treatment. The Group and
Company has adopted HKFRS 2 (amendment) from 1 January
2009. The amendment does not have a material impact on
the Group or Company’s financial statements.

HKAS 23 (revised) ‘Borrowing Costs’, (effective 1 January
2009) requires capitalisation of borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. As
the Group previously applied a policy of capitalising borrowing
costs which is similar to the requirements. This amendment
does not have a material impact on the Group or Company’s
financial statements.

HKFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ (effective 1 January 2009).
HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14, ‘Segment reporting’. The new
standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which
segment information is presented on the same basis as
that used for internal reporting purposes. This has not resulted
in the change of the reportable segments presented. The
segments have already been reported in a manner that is
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker
has been identified as the board of directors that make
strategic decisions.
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(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(continued)

In addition, the Group also early adopted the amendment
to HKFRS 8 in the annual improvement projects published
in May 2009, which allows that the total segment assets
are to be disclosed only when such information is regularly
provided to the chief operating decision-maker, like segment
liabilities under current HKFRS 8. Since the segment assets
and liabilities of the Group are not regularly provided to its
chief operating decision-maker, no such information has
been disclosed in these consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 24 (revised) ‘Related party disclosures’ (effective 1
January 2011). The amendment introduces an exemption
from all of the disclosure requirements of HKAS 24 for
transactions among government-related entities and the
government.

Those disclosures are replaced with a requirement to disclose:

— the nature of the government and the nature of their
relationship; and

— the nature and amount of any individually — significant
transactions; and

— the extent of any collectively-significant transactions
qualitatively or quantitatively.

It also clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related
party. Early adoption is permitted, for either the entire
standard or the government-related entity exemption.
The management has decided to early adopt HKAS
24 (revised) for the entire standard from 1 January
2009. The change in accounting policy only impacts
presentation aspects.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(continued)

HKAS 36 (amendment) ‘Impairment of assets’ (effective 1
January 2009). The amendment requires enhance the
disclosure of estimates used to determine recoverable amount.
Where fair value less costs to sell is calculated on the basis
of discounted cash flows, disclosures equivalent to those
for value-in-use calculation should be made. The amendment
only results in additional disclosures.

HKAS 40 (amendment) ‘Investment property’ (effective 1
January 2009). Property that is under construction or
development for future use as investment property is within
the scope of HKAS 40. Where the fair value model is applied,
such property is, therefore, measured at fair value. Where
fair value of investment property under construction is not
reliably measurable, the property is measured at cost until
the earlier of the date construction is completed or the date
at which fair value becomes reliably measurable. The
amendment does not have a material impact on the Group
or the Company’s financial statements.

FIIBIIE AR B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3R 2009 Annual Report

121




122

e B ERANE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. FESTEE B

mBEE ()

o) MAREMERABEARAEERFRANE
8 - BRI MEAEA MR E

T REBMOERIRERBEANER - M
AEBYAE_ZT—TF - A —HH 2 &R
VAT IR R R R A - B ARKE W &R
FR®

o  FBREFER27 (BIER]) [5R8 RBILY
BHRR| (B -_TTNFLtA-—BELE
) o LRGSR ERRE - EH R
BokE - AN AIFEHEREN AR
SNFEVLAEEGTEY  MIEER
SR T BEMHELARE - tIHERIN
SRR GRS REIET A - (£
MEEBANFRERIR AR BEEHNT
B WHEKRSRPEIARMNIER - K
SEKER T -TF— - BEYHKN
BRGNS ERAELETE
8127 (&HERFT) °

o FEMBHMEELSEER) BEREH]
(HZZETNFEA—BRER - 1A
RETENEEHCEAHERNKE
K BBELBEXRER - fII0 - WE R
MABRRALBEREEBRN AR ER
i MAOBREHNHAANRERAR
MAEBEERBENAE - HEIFEHERES
WU - ADEREBR AR ERIEEGME
BmEEREET FEENLAE -
PrEWBHBAKALASHE AREK
EH_T-TF-A-HEYEAELE
EHERBEMBHREEABER -

[== e VAN

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3R 2009 Annual Report

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group

The following new standards and amendments to existing standards
have been published and mandatory for the Group’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 or later periods,
but the Group has not early adopted them:

HKAS 27 (revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial
statements’ (effective from 1 July 2009). The revised standard
requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling
interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in
control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill
or gains and losses. The standard also specifies the accounting
when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is
re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. The Group will apply HKAS 27 (revised)
prospectively to transactions with non-controlling interests
from 1 January 2010.

HKFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’ (effective from
1 July 2009). The revised standard continues to apply the
acquisition method to business combinations, with some
significant changes. For example, all payments to purchase
a business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition
date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently
re-measured through the income statement. There is a choice
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair vale or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs should
be expensed. The Group will apply HKFRS 3 (revised)
prospectively to all business combinations from 1 January
2010.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group (continued)

HKAS 38 (amendment), ‘Intangible Assets’. The Group and
Company will apply HKAS 38 (amendment) from the date
HKFRS 3 (revised) is adopted. The amendment clarifies
guidance in measuring the fair value of an intangible asset
acquired in a business combination and it permits the grouping
of intangible assets as a single asset if each asset has similar
useful economic lives.

HKFRS 5 (amendment), ‘Measurement of non-current assets
(or disposal groups) classified as held-for-sale’. The amendment
provides clarification that HKFRS 5 specifies the disclosures
required in respect of non-current assets (or disposal groups)
classified as held for sale or discontinued operations. It also
clarifies that the general requirements of HKAS 1 still apply,
particularly paragraph 15 (to achieve a fair presentation)
and paragraph 125 (sources of estimation uncertainty) of
HKAS 1. The Group and Company will apply HKFRS 5
(amendment) from 1 January 2010. It is not expected to
have a material impact on the Group or Company’s financial
statements.

HKAS 1 (amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’.
The amendment provides clarification that the potential
settlement of a liability by the issue of equity is not relevant
to its classification as current or non current. By amending
the definition of current liability, the amendment permits a
liability to be classified as non-current (provided that the
entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement by transfer
of cash or other assets for at least 12 months after the
accounting period) notwithstanding the fact that the entity
could be required by the counterparty to settle in shares at
any time. The Group and Company will apply HKAS 1
(amendment) from 1 January 2010. It is not expected to
have a material impact on the Group or Company’s financial
statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group (continued)

° HKFRS 2 (amendments), ‘Group cash-settled share-based
payment transactions’ (effective from 1 January 2010). In
addition to incorporating HK(IFRIC)-Int 8, ‘Scope of HKFRS
2’, and HK(IFRIC)-Int 11, ‘HKFRS 2 — Group and treasury
share transactions’, the amendments expand on the guidance
in HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 to address the classification of group
arrangements that were not covered by the interpretation.
The new guidance is not expected to have a material impact
on the Group’s or Company’s financial statements.

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities)
over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more
than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Apart from the application of merger accounting on the common
control business combinations, the purchase method of accounting
is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.
The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable
to the acquisition. |dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective
of the extent of any minority interests. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition
is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less provision for impairment losses. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(b) Common control combination

Merger accounting is accounted for the acquisition of subsidiaries
under common control by the Group.

Under merger accounting, the consolidated financial statements
include the financial position, results and cash flows of the companies
comprising the Group as if the current group structure had been
in existence since their respective dates of under common control.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the combining entities or businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been combined
from the date when the combining entities or businesses first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are combined
using the existing book values from the controlling parties’
perspective. No amount is recognised in consideration for goodwill
or excess of acquirers’ interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost
at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the
continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated income statement includes the results of each
of the combining entities or businesses from the earliest date
presented or since the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the common control, where there
is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the common control
combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements
are presented as if the entities or businesses had been combined
at the previous balance sheet date or when they first came under
common control, whichever is shorter.

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted by those entities.
All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between combining entities or businesses are eliminated
on consolidation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(b) Common control combination (continued)

Transaction costs, including professional fees, registration fees,
costs of furnishing information to shareholders, costs or losses
incurred in combining operations of the previously separate
businesses, etc., incurred in relation to the common control
combination that is to be accounted for by using merger accounting
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

The adjustment to eliminate the share capital of entities combined
and investment cost has been recorded as merger reserve in
consolidated financial statements.

(c) Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority
interests as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For
purchases from minority interests, the difference between any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is deducted from equity.
Gains or losses on disposals to minority interests are also recorded
in equity. For disposals to minority interests, differences between
any proceeds received and the relevant share of minority interests
are also recorded in equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(d) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting
and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in
associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any
accumulated impairment loss.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement, and
its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates
are recognised in the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(e) Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the
establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity in which
each venturer has an interest. The entity operates in the same
way as other entities, except that a contractual arrangement between
the venturers establishes joint control over the economic activity
of the entity.

Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at
cost. The Group’s investments in jointly controlled entities include
goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) identified on
acquisition.

The Group’s share of its jointly controlled entities’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. Accounting policies
of jointly controlled entities have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the board of directors that makes
strategic decisions.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
Functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKD as the
Company is listed on Stock Exchange.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred
in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement
within ‘finance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the income statement within ‘other
gains — net’.

Translation difference on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets such as equities
classified as available-for-sale are included in the available-for-
sale reserve in equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency dfferent from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

i)  income and expenses for each consolidated income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged in the income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of buildings and structures relating to the toll roads
is calculated to write off their costs to their estimated residual
values on a straight-line basis over the unexpired periods of the
leases or toll road operating right, whichever is shorter.

Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 10-50 years or over the term of
the unexpired leases, whichever is shorter
Leasehold 4 years or over the term of the unexpired
improvements leases, whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles 5-8 years
Furniture, fixtures 3-10 years

and equipment

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
‘other gains — net’, in the income statement.

2.6 Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of construction
incurred plus interest capitalised up to the date of completion of
the construction of property, plant and equipment less any
impairment losses. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until the relevant assets are completed
and put into use. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets when completed and ready for use.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising commercial buildings
and carpark spaces, is held for long-term rental yields and is
not occupied by the Group. Investment property is measured
initially at its cost, including related transaction costs. Investment
property is carried at fair value, representing open market value
determined annually by external valuers. Fair value is based on
active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference
in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the
information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted
cash flow projections. These valuations are reviewed annually
by valuers. Changes in fair values are recorded in the income
statement as part of ‘other gains — net’.

2.8 Leasehold land, land use rights and other leased
assets

Leasehold land, land use rights and other leased assets are up-
front payments to acquire long-term interests in the usage of
land. They are stated at cost and charged to the income statement
over the remaining period of the lease on a straight-line basis,
net of any impairment losses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Intangible assets

(@) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over
the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets
of the acquired subsidiary, associate and jointly controlled entity
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in “intangible assets”. Goodwill on acquisitions of
associates and jointly controlled entities is included in investments
in associates and jointly controlled entities and is tested annually
for impairment as part of the overall balance. Goodwill is tested
for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose
of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected
to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose identified according to operating segment.

(b) Concession intangible assets

Where the Group has entered into contractual service concession
arrangements (“Service Concessions”) with local government
authorities for its participation in the development, financing, operation
and maintenance of various toll road infrastructures, the Group
carries out the construction or upgrade work of toll roads for
the granting authorities and receives in exchange of a right to
operate the toll roads concerned and the entitlement to the toll
fees collected from users of the toll road services. Concession
intangible assets correspond to the right granted by the respective
concession grantors to the Group to charge users of the toll
road services and the fact that the concession grantors (the
respective local governments) have not provided any contractual
guarantees in respect of the amounts of construction costs incurred
to be recoverable.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Intangible assets (continued)

(b) Concession intangible assets (continued)

For certain Service Concessions contracts, the Group receives
from the concession grantors certain monetary grants (the “Grants”)
in addition to the entitlements and rights to receive the toll fees
from users of the toll road services. The consideration receivable
is divided into two components, financial assets recognised based
on the amount of Grants payable by the concession grantors,
and the residual balance is recognised as intangible assets.

Land use rights acquired in conjunction with the Service Concessions
which the Group has no discretion or latitude to deploy for other
services other than the use in the Service Concessions are treated
as intangible assets acquired under the Service Concessions.

Amortisation of concession intangible assets is calculated to write
off their costs on an units-of-usage basis according to the HK
Int-1, ‘The Appropriate Accounting Policies for Infrastructure
Facilities’, issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, whereby amortisation is provided based on the
proportion of actual traffic volume for a particular period over
the total projected traffic volume throughout the periods within
which the Group is granted the rights to operate those roads
(the “Traffic Flow Amortisation Method”). It is the Group’s policy
to review regularly the total projected traffic volume throughout
the operating periods of the respective toll roads. If it is considered
appropriate, independent professional traffic studies will be
performed. Appropriate adjustments will be made should there
be a material change.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill,
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries or associates
is required upon receiving dividends from these investments if
the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary or associate in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.11 Financial assets

2.11.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and
available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determine
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and
re-evaluate their classification at each balance sheet date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Financial assets (continued)

2.11.1 Classification (continued)
(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial
assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified
as current assets.

(o) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities
greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are
classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables
comprise ‘trade and other receivables’, ‘bank deposits’ and ‘cash
and cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet.

(¢) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated in this category or not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless
management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months
of the balance sheet date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Financial assets (continued)

2.11.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair
value and transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated
income statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented
in the income statement within ‘other gains — net’, in the period
in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised in the income statement
as part of ‘other income’ when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired,
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are
included in the income statement as ‘other gains — net’.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised
in the consolidated income statement as part of ‘other income’
when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid
prices. For unlisted equity investment, if there is no active market,
the Group states these investments at cost less impairment provision
when the unlisted equity investments do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported
in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.13Impairment of financial assets

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective
evidence of an impairment loss include:

o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

° A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

o The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a
concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;

o It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation;

° The disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties; or

o Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of financial
assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although
the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual
financial assets in the portfolio, including:
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

()  adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers
in the portfolio; or

(i) national or local economic conditions that correlate
with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment
exists.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and
the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. If
a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value
using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as
an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement.



e B ERANE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. FESTHEE B

213 BEERE (&)
(b) ZEBAHLENEE

AEBESERESHRIERTEREREER
AREFEEEXKANEEELTRME -
ROBRABEENESRERE  FFQAER
REREHKREEREXAE  EECKH
BRENEE SAHEEVBEEFELS
i RABR(REBRAEER QA ED
E8 O RV BEEZRERRRERNIM
MEBIEFE) BEaT IR EBIIBER
ik - BBV RSABERANER TARERR
TeE BBy BAmREMD -

214 T T A R ¥EHEE

TTETRAMBRNITETRAAKNRIZAZAR
BWER  RRRAREENE - BAMEL
ZWE KB ENTRBURRZITET AR SR
EEEHM TR - tEEREHPTE - RIBURR
HFr$miage < 8 - AEBITAT AERY
H-RCHERABEARNSERRE—IAIE
AREMTRRIR S - BNIRERE L -

AREBERFTLR B8 T A HE %48 R
AR UEEERBREREBERAITZIEEMN
R 52 REIEIERRLER - REBIRNET L
RSEMZFEEE  CHEREHNZERRY
MRHZTETHR - RESEAREHKY
HIEBENRERELB NG -

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(b) Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments
classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence
that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in the
separate income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the
separate income statement on equity instruments are not reversed
through the separate income statement.

2.14Derivative financial instruments and hedging
activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain
or loss depends on whether the derivative is designed as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The
Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of a particular
risk associated with a recognised liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction (cash flow hedges).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items,
as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis,
of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions
are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged
items.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14Derivative financial instruments and hedging
activities (continued)

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging
purposes are disclosed in Note 22. Movements on the hedging
reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in Note 20. The full
fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current
asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item
is more than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a
current asset or liability.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised
in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the income statement within ‘other
gains — net’.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement
in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss (for
example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place).
The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate
swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised in the income
statement within ‘finance costs’. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement within
‘other gains — net’.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative
gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and
is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised
in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported
in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement within
‘other gains — net’.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
on the balance sheet date.

2.17 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

2.18 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment
is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case,
the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment
for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility
to which it relates.

2.20 Compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise
convertible bonds that can be converted to share capital at the
option of the holder, and the number of shares to be issued
does not vary with changes in their fair value.

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is
recognised initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does
not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is
recognised initially at the difference between the fair value of the
compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of
the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a
compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity component of a
compound financial instrument is not re-measured subsequent
to initial recognition except on conversion or expiry.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period that is required to complete
and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other borrowing costs
are expensed when incurred.

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other
comprehensive income or equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries,
jointly controlled entities and associates operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled
entities, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.23Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme, Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF Scheme”), under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in Hong Kong for all
Hong Kong employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Besides, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement schemes organised by the local government authorities
in the PRC. Apart from these, the Group has no legal or constructive
obligations for further payments.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate scheme. Contributions
payable or paid by the Group and employees are calculated as
a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The amounts of employee
benefit expenses charged to the income statement represent
the contribution payable or paid by the Group to the scheme
during the year.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding
the impact of any non-market service (for example, profitability
and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the balance sheet date, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment
to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium when the options are exercised.

(c) Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration
the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs, legal
claims and the resulting maintenance and resurfacing cost, except
for upgrade services under the respective service concessions,
are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination
payments. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

2.25Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value added tax,
rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below. The amount of revenue
is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies
relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type
of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.



e B ERANE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. FESTHEE B

2.25 IR AFERR (48)
(a) BREUA
IREE N 2 KB AR UERS F LARER -

(b) RIS T BERA

AEEREFZENBCERBAEENRA - B
s R AR AT E B R T flse
ASEMmER - ROBIBEHKENAAEE
AE MREARMBEEXBILEE

AEERATIADEREERR AR AR
CHENEZEWRARERERE TILHZ2ES
MENBEGEE R IFEBEZ BRERKERN
ZEHNEEEREZBDLETE -

(c) FILEHA

MW TR B R BOR IR B A Lo (7] B 2
R o WM RA L ERE - AREEKEEE
R AT [ SRR o B ET HO R KR &R 81K %
TAZREBRMERARGE  SEEHRRAE
W HER BN BN » BEREE R BHALK
ARERFN RER -

(d) ¥R A
V037 AR 75 U A T 42 AR 755 B E R o

(e) HREWA

P B U TE B SR IR O HE M) B E I RE B FE M TR
HA BT B 5% R B T R o

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25Revenue recognition (continued)
(a) Toll revenue

Toll revenue from operation of toll roads is recognised on a receipt
basis.

(b) Construction revenue under Service Concessions

Revenue generated by construction and upgrade services rendered
by the Group is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, where total income and expenses associated
with the construction contract and the stage of completion can
be determined reliably. The consideration may be rights to attain
a financial asset or an intangible asset.

The Group uses the percentage of completion method to determine
the appropriate amount of income and expenses to be recognised
in a given period. The stage of completion is measured by reference
to the construction costs of the related infrastructures incurred
up to the balance sheet date as a percentage of total estimated
costs for each contract.

(c) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired,
the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original
effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding
the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired
loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

(d) Logistic service revenue

Revenue from the provision of logistic services is recognised
when the services are rendered.

(e) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment
is established with reasonable certainty.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Operating leases

(@)  When a group company is the lessee

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
certain, ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net
of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.

(b)  When a group company is the lessor

When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the asset
is included in the balance sheet based on the nature of the asset.
Lease income from operating lease is recognised over the term
of the lease on a straight-line basis.

2.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised
in the income statement over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant
and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred
government grants and are credited to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related
assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.28 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present
obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.

2.29Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk,
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain
risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the
Board of Directors. The Group identifies, evaluates and hedges
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk
management, as well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, interest-rate risk, credit risk, use
of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial
instruments, and investment of excessive liquidity.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(@) Market risk

(i)  Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in RMB. As at 31 December 2009, the Group has cash
and bank balances of HKD75,396,000 (2008: HKD241,481,000)
and bank borrowings of HKD3,040,681,000 (2008:
HKD625,614,000) denominated in HKD, and the Company has
cash and bank balances of HKD48,094,000 (2008: HKD94,301,000),
and bank borrowings of HKD1,684,375,000 (2008:
HKD189,769,000) denominated in HKD. Apart from these, the
Group and the Company did not have significant exposure to
foreign exchange risk. Nevertheless, the conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

As at 31 December 2009, should RMB be weakened/strengthened
by 5% against HKD, with all other factors remain unchanged,
the profit after taxation for the year would be affected as follows:

HERB AR BOEE M (D)
Change of profit after income tax - increase/(decrease)
£8 AT
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
AR WA RMB against HKD
—B2{BE5% — Weakened by 5% (118,492) (15,597) (68,246) (3,900)
— F1E5% — Strengthened by 5% 118,492 15,597 68,246 3,900
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Apart from cash and cash equivalents, the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets.

The Group’s and Company’s interest rate risk arises from long-
term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. During 2009 and 2008,
the Group’s borrowings at variable rates were mainly denominated
in HKD, RMB and USD. For bank borrowings in the PRC, the
interest rate would be adjusted accordingly should the lending
rate promulgated by the People’s Bank of China be changed.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk of long-term
loans by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest
rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings
from floating rates to fixed rates. Under the interest rate swaps,
the Group agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified
intervals, the difference between fixed contract rates and floating-
rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional
amounts.

As at 31 December 2009, the balance of bank borrowings of
the Group which were issued at floating rates and not covered
by the interest rate swaps, amounted to approximately
HKD3,830,000,000 (2008: HKD3,017,000,000). As at 31 December
2009, should the interest rate be increased/decreased by 50
basis points with all other factors remain unchanged, the financial
cost of the Group would be increased/decreased by approximately
HKD19,150,000 (2008: HKD15,085,000) respectively.

The Company’s balances with subsidiaries are mainly interest-
free or bear interest at market rates.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)
(iiiy  Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of
shares of CSG Holding Co, Ltd., (“CSG”), a company listed in
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange held by the Group and classified
as available for sale. The Group is not exposed to commodity
price risk.

The table below summarises the impact of increases/decrease
of share price of CSG on equity. The analysis is based on the
assumptions that the share price of CSG had increased/decreased
by 5% as of year end with all other factors remain unchanged:

HBRHANBNEE HHORE HEFED

=M (R2) gE-2m (R
Impact on post-tax Impact on other
profit — increase/ reserves, net of tax —
(decrease) increase/(decrease)
2009 2008 2009 2008
g Share price
— EF5% — Increased by 5% — 6,143 92,459 46,520
— T F&5% — Decreased by 5% — (6,143) (92,459) (46,520)
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from
cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit
exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and
committed transactions. Transactions are limited to high credit
quality banks and financial institutions. No significant credit risk
is expected as the banks in PRC, Hong Kong and other financial
institutions are listed banks or large/medium sized commercial
banks. Individual credit limits granted to customers would be
set with reference to internal and external ratings as determined
by the directors. The credit limits are reviewed periodically.

No credit limits were exceeded during the year. Management
does not expect any losses from non-performance by these
counterparties.

Both the Group and the Company does not have significant credit
concentration risk. The carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables, and amounts due
from subsidiaries substantially represent the Group and the
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
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3. MBERERE (&)
3.1 B%ERRERZE (&)
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FEAE ] B ) A 5 T8 R MO R IR BURGR B B RRE
(M15E21) - FAKREEEFBREANTEREE
AR ERBRGER(WER) - LFERRAZEE
B EHBER S - RKNER - BTARFE
EREREEER  R(WER) INBHEE X
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NTRETAERBEARNRRNFITERBRIER
WHBEELENITEMB AR - RBHEBRN
AR - REHEEBESLZIH AR
HRBETT O - MOTAEM KA BN RY T
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecast is performed in the operating entities of the
Group. The Company monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet
operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its
undrawn committed borrowing facilities (Note 21) at all times so
that the Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants
(where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting
takes into consideration the Group’s debt financing plans, covenant
compliance, compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets
and, if applicable, external regulatory or legal requirements — for
example, currency restrictions.

The table below analyses the Group’s and the Company’s non-
derivative financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
Derivative financial liabilities are included in the analysis if their
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

—EHUT -—-ZZER
Less than Between
1 year 1 and 2 years

“ZRER
Between
2 and 5 years

HFELE
Over 5 years

REE Group

E’\‘_ggﬂfﬁ‘iﬁ =+-—H At 31 December 2009

RITER Bank borrowings 2,153,416 796,510 3,476,987 5,966,940
/H\ﬁﬂf%/m Other borrowings — 41,105 — —
TERBIA Derivative financial instruments 2,693 6,068 45,540 —
& Bonds 1,915,454 67,023 1,887,993 1,308,645
EBREMENRK Trade and other payables 2,081,935 — — —
R-EENF+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2008

RITEXK Bank borrowings 2,004,503 1,136,725 2,596,582 6,830,335
TERKBIA Derivative financial instruments — 5,492 45,968 —
& Bonds 66,977 1,915,408 1,903,735 1,357,702
EBREMENRK Trade and other payables 3,233,979 — — —
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

—FLUT —BZER —EZRFR
Less than Between Between
1year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years

N

R=% ; BhE+ZA=+-H
fE =

Miﬂﬁklﬂ

AIRRES

H At FE 5%

JE 51 B B8 12 R R IE

E“_gg)\fﬁ-l-:}i =+-—-H
FITER

Miﬂﬁklﬂ

AIRRES

H At & 5%

JEE 51 B B8 12 R R IE

Company

At 31 December 2009

Bank borrowings 213,445 337,520 1,193,654
Derivative financial instruments 2,693 6,068 45,540
Convertible bonds 1,848,431 — —
Other payables 10,070 — —

Amounts due to subsidiaries 2,933 — —

At 31 December 2008

Bank borrowings 143,865 48,512 —
Derivative financial instruments — — 45,968
Convertible bonds — 1,848,431 —
Other payables 2,458 — —

Amounts due to subsidiaries 2,933 — —

E/\fggﬂi—i—_ﬂ =—+—H8 ' ' KAEBKRKAKAZR Asat 31 December 2009, the Group and the Company have

S RIERIRIERFEE A% 11,933,667,000 undrawn banking facilities of HKD11,933,567,000 (2008:

(_i T)\4F : #E%11,221,110,0007T) & HKD11,221,110,000) and HKD1,024,787,000 (2008:
#1,024,787,000L (ZEZ/)\F : B HKD1,640,000,000) respectively.

1,640,000,0007T) °

BB E LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3R 2009 Annual Report

157




15

e B ERANE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. MEXEBRER &)
3.2 E2ERE?
AEBNESEERR  —RRESEGEHES

B ARBRREHREBMAEMERTAE AR

HNE  ARERRENEAEBARKES
R

RTHEFIRHBERNGE  AREAEEHE
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HEXANEMAR K  AEEMNBRELRE
%%ﬁﬁK o It bb R % BRIE 75 5 BR Bk A AR B R RT
cERFRRBER (BERD  ERDE
*X&ﬂ?ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%‘*)ﬁiﬁ@&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ c A
iz [#m] (WG EEREBERMIDAE -

REBE-_STNFEHNEFT BN ERE - &
BELRBEZEEI20%AT - E_ZTTNER
—EENF+-_A=1+—H G BBELELOT :

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, capital
returned to shareholders, new shares issued or assets sold to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
(including current, non-current borrowings and convertible bonds)
less cash and bank balances. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’,
as shown in the consolidated balance sheet.

The Group maintained a consistent strategy to maintain the gearing
ratio within 120%. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2009 and
2008 were as follows:

2009 2008
RIEE Total borrowings 14,892,326 12,310,750
B He RIRTTHRE Less: cash and bank balances (1,683,322) (2,061,168)
e FHE Net debt 13,209,004 10,249,582
BEXR Total capital 12,719,690 9,882,605
BEEXE Gearing ratio 104% 104%
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

Effective 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the amendment
to HKFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured in the
balance sheet at fair value, this requires disclosure of fair value
measurements by level of the following fair value measurement
hierarchy:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level
2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

TREBFVR -_ZTZNF+_-_A=+—HIK2AAR The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities
Bif 2N AEEHEEREE that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2009:
£—B -l - | E=E &5t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BE Assets
Al E 2 ﬁﬁfwﬁﬁ Available-for-sale financial assets
—ERIRE RS — Equity securities 2,311,475 — 38,992 2,350,467
=i Liabilities
PTAET A Derivatives
—MXFHEH — interest rate swaps — 54,301 — 54,301

ERBMERSNMBETANRABRRIESE

ZFEHOMSHREETE - W05 EL%&EHHZ% S
R RHE B RR © TE B AR

X EEEWBHRE - I[HEA#&FF@%E’A%?
AIEREERBRENTER S  BIIRESER

mi5 %@ﬁ”ﬁﬂ’ﬂﬂﬁ%’é%ﬂ@ﬁ%i&@ﬁ%ﬁ%
BERE - UFEREF BNTAREEES

BOBRAHLEZAERENRER

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on
an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments
which are included in level 1 comprise primarily shares of CSG
classified as available for sale.
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%V_Ek'fﬁu-l_*;}zi/%@muimiﬁfgu

e EBHINESHMAARENRAREEBN
EHERETE Iﬁz,\\u%@,ﬂﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ
18 -

o Hibim - PIAEERRRESRE - A
NHEEESRVBTANAARE -
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DAAENBAHIAEE_E -
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2. Instruments
included in level 2 comprise primarily interest rate swaps.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments
include:

° Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.

° The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the
present value of the estimated future cash flows based on
observable yield curves.

o The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is
determined using forward exchange rates at the balance
sheet date, with the resulting value discounted back to present
value.

° Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis,
are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial
instruments.

All the resulting fair value estimates are included in level 2 except
for the unlisted equity investment as explained below.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments
for the year ended 31 December 2009.

kLt

ERRE

Unlisted equity

investments

FYERER Opening balance —
EREE [ Transfers into level 3 38,992
FIRREREE Closing balance 38,992

RERABEEEBRAER
RN FARER

4. BRSTEERAE

MERAHERRENE  IREBELRK
His AZETFHE - EREERBIBR NERE
EHMEEEA -

4.1 BREFHERRBR
AEBYERREHGHERRBRR - IS
BNEFE  RL2HEERERAR - RX

HeEH N A RFENEEMAERERT
BEFEARENGHEMREDOT

Total gains or losses for the year including in profit or
loss for assets held at the end of year —

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(a) Construction revenue recognition relating to concession
contracts

Income and expenses associated with construction services and
upgrade services provided under the concession service
arrangements are recognised in accordance with HKAS 11 using
the percentage of completion method. Revenue generated by
construction services rendered by the Group is measured at the
fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Due to the fact there was no real cash flow realised/realisable
during the construction phase of the infrastructure during the
Service Concessions, in order to determine the construction revenue
to be recognised during the reporting period, the directors of
the Company made estimates of the respective amounts by making
reference to the provision of project management services by
the Group for construction of toll roads for respective PRC local
governments without the corresponding grants of the toll road
operating rights and entitlement to future toll revenues in return
for management service fees. The directors of the Company have
drawn an analogy of the construction of toll roads under the
Service Concessions as if the Group were providing construction
and project management services. Accordingly, construction revenue
under the respective Service Concessions is recognised at the
total expected construction costs of the related toll roads plus
management fees, computed at a percentage of the costs.

The directors of the Company estimated that the construction
costs are close to the revenue, and gross profit derived from
the construction activities was insignificant.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(b) Amortisation of concession intangible assets

The Group applied HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 ‘Service Concession
arrangements’ (“IFRIC 12”) and recognised concession intangible
assets under the service concession arrangements and provides
amortisation thereon.

Amortisation of concession intangible assets is provided under
the Traffic Flow Amortisation Method. Material adjustments may
need to be made to the carrying amounts of concession intangible
assets should there be a material difference between total projected
traffic volume and the actual results.

The directors of the Company performed a periodic assessment
of the total projected traffic volume. The Group will appoint an
independent professional traffic consultant to perform independent
professional traffic studies and make an appropriate adjustment
if there is a material difference.

To facilitate the acquisition of Shenzhen Airport-Heao Expressway
(Eastern Section) Company Limited (“Jihe East Company”) during
the year, the Group appointed an independent professional traffic
consultant and reassessed its future traffic volume. The Group
has adjusted the amortisation unit for concession intangible assets
according to the revised total projected traffic volume since 1
October 2009 on prospective basis. Such change in accounting
estimate has resulted in an increase of net profit for the period
from 1 October 2009 to 31 December 2009 amounting to
HKD1,703,000 and will impact the amortisation charges of Jihe
East Company in the future periods.

Except the above change of the estimate of the total projected
traffic volume for the concession intangible assets in Jihe East
Company, there was no significant change in the directors’ estimate
of the total projected traffic volume for other concession intangible
assets during the year.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(continued)
(c) Provisions for maintenance/resurfacing obligations

The Group has contractual obligations under the Service Concessions
to maintain the toll road infrastructure to a specified level of
serviceability. These obligations to maintain or restore the
infrastructure, except for upgrade services, are to be recognised
and measured as a provision.

The expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligations
at the balance sheet date is determined based on the number of
major maintenance and resurfacing to be undertaken throughout
the allowed operating periods of each toll roads operated by the
Group under the Service Concessions and the expected costs
to be incurred for each event.

The expected costs for maintenance and resurfacing and the
timing of such events to take place involve estimates made by
the directors of the Company, which were based on the Group’s
resurfacing plan and historical costs incurred for similar activities.
The costs are then discounted to the present value based on a
pre-tax discount rate estimated by the director which reflects
the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

If the expected expenditures, resurfacing plan and discount rate
were different from management’s current estimates, the change
in provision for maintenance/resurfacing is required to be accounted
for prospectively.

In the second quarter of 2009, the Group has reviewed the amounts
and timing of expenditures expected to incur for the major
maintenance and resurfacing to be undertaken throughout the
allowed operating periods of certain principal toll roads operated
by the Group. As affected by the downward trend of the market
interest, the Group has adjusted the discount rate adopted in
calculating provision for maintenance/resurfacing obligations from
10% to 6.62% in order to reflect the time value of the provision
on a more reasonable basis. The provision for maintenance/
resurfacing obligations has been adjusted prospectively based
on the updated maintenance/resurfacing plans and updated discount
rate since 1 April 2009. This change in accounting estimate resulted
in an increase of net profit for the year ended 31 December 2009
amounting to HKD20,943,000.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(continued)

(d)  Fair value estimation of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired

On the acquisition date on 30 September 2009, the Group completed
the acquisition of the 45% equity interest in Jihe East Company
at a purchase consideration of RMB1,068,800,000
(HKD1,213,443,000). Jihe East Company became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. Details of the acquisition are specified
in Note 41(b). In accordance with the accounting policy set out
in Note 2.2(a), the net identifiable assets acquired in the business
combination are recorded at fair value at the acquisition date.

As there is no active market existing for the net identifiable assets
acquired in the business combination, the directors of the Company
have considered a wide range of measures including engaging
the independent professional traffic consultant to evaluate the
fair value of the principal assets — concession intangible assets
of Jihe East Company based on discounted cash flow method.

The fair value assessment process involves a number of key
assumptions, including traffic volume, toll prices, applicable tax
rates and the discount rate and so on. Please refer to Note 41(b)
for detailed information.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.2 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

(a) Dividends policy of subsidiaries

On 16 March 2007, National People’s Congress approved the
Corporate Income Tax Laws of the PRC (hereinafter “the new
CIT Laws”) which was effective from 1 January 2008. According
to the relevant regulations of the new CIT Laws, when a foreign
investment enterprise distributed dividends out of the profits earned
from 1 January 2008 onwards to its overseas investors, it is subject
to corporate income tax. The applicable corporate income tax
rate varies with the origin of the overseas investors.

The Group has significant amount of distributable profits prior
to 31 December 2007. Therefore the directors of the Company
believe that the Company will not require its PRC subsidiaries to
declare dividends out of their profits earned from 1 January 2008
onwards in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Group has
no need to provide tax liability for profits of its PRC subsidiaries
earned for the years of 2008 and 2009. The directors of the
Company will regularly review the liquidity position and dividend
distribution policy of its subsidiaries from time to time.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.2 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies (continued)

(b) Impairment provision for the investment in a jointly controlled
entity

In prior years, since there was indication that the toll road assets
of Changsha Shenchang Expressway Company Limited (“Shenchang
Company”), a jointly controlled entity of the Group, were subject
to impairment losses, the Group performed impairment tests on
the recoverable amount of the relevant assets. The Group had
recognised its share of such impairment loss, amounting to
RMB223,000,000 (HKD253,323,000) cumulatively up to 31
December 2009, and the amount was reflected in the Group’s
Investments in Shenchang Company.

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously
causing impairment no longer exists, the Group has to exercise
judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value
or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset or derecognising;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow projections
are discounted using an appropriate rate.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group reassessed its operations to be organised in 3 main
business segments:

— Toll roads;
— Logistic parks; and
— Provision of logistic service.

Head office functions include corporate management functions
and investment and financial activities of the Group.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the
board of directors. The board of directors review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Management has determined the operating segments
based on these reports.

The board of directors considers the business from a business
activities perspective, and assesses the performance of toll roads,
logistic parks and logistic services segments. Toll roads include
development, operation and management of toll highway; logistic
parks mainly include the construction, operation and management
of logistic centres; logistic services include the provision of third
party logistic and logistic information services to customers.

Substantial businesses of the Group are carried out in the PRC.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

the chief operating decision-maker are as follows:

The segment revenue and results presented to the board of directors,

BE-ZZhF+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2009
NRE WREE KEAH
WEA%  Logistic  Logistic Head office &it
Toll roads parks  services functions Total
WA Revenue 3,725,438 176,761 178,173 577 4,080,949
maR Operating profit 1,241,899 51,336 7437 387,137 1,687,809
ElELREHERRRN/ Share of profit/(loss) of
(B%8) jointly controlled entities 202,971 2,399 (607) — 204,763
i A=y g Share of profit of assoclates 91,834 - 672 — 92,506
6 Finance income 16,398 1,548 1,676 8,330 27,952
BB A Finance costs (452,835) 6) (1) (116,195) (569,047)
GRRIA Profit before tax 1,100,267 55,277 0,167 279,272 1,443,983
FrE it Income tax expense (175441)  (6,095)  (1,120)  (84,229) (266,885)
FEEMH Profit for the year 924,826 49,182 8,047 195,043 1,177,098
PERFER Minority interests (310,722) (34)  (1,566) 1,083  (311,239)
ARERERBARERN Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company 614,104 49,148 6,481 196,126 865,859
HERER Depreciation and amortisation 512,253 35400 12,115 1,780 561,548
BEARY Capital expenditure
0% BERIE - Addition in property, plant and
ERIR HELH- equipment, construction in
THEREREMEE progress , leasehold land, land
RERERAEZEM use rights and other leased
assets and intangible assets 1,458,610 326,217 40,760 461,981 2,287,568
-WERBARNDE  BE - Addition in property, plant and
H TRIE: equipment, construction in
RELH  THFERER progress , leasehold land, land
EHREEER use rights and other leased
BNEEZEM assets and intangible assets
arising from acquisition of
subsidiaries 3,569,813 - - 83,290 3,653,103
iNANGIPR Investments in assoclates 51,119 — — — 51,119
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5. oEES (B)

BE_EENF+-A=+t—HLFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2008

WRE WREE SELY
WERR  Logistic  Logistic Head office &it
Toll roads parks  services functions Total
KA Revenue 5,681,892¢ 147,441 122,281 — 5,951,614
RERA/ (BB Operating profit/(loss) 1,121,716 47,255 (1450) 146,201 1,313,722
FE(h R R 5 aﬁf?ﬂ*‘l/ Share of profit/{loss) of
(B%) jointly controlled entities 240,642 (1098) 4,895 — 244439
ERBENRRN/ (BB Share of profit/(loss) of associates (19,255) = 1,654 —  (17,601)
Bhe Finance income 28,861 1,328 1,431 30,246 61,866
BB Finance costs (324,075) (491) (217)  (120,978)  (445,761)
G Profit before tax 1,047,889 46,994 6,313 55469 1,156,665
et Income tax expense (160,892)  (6,210) (705)  (22,236)  (190,043)
ERMAH Profit for the year 886,997 40,784 5,608 38,233 966,622
PEREER Minority interests (292,051) (3,895) (502)  (95,188) (391,636)
ARERiERAAEERT/ Profit/(loss) attributable to equity
(B%) holders of the Company 594,946 36,889 5106 (61,955) 574,986
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 362,607 29,976 9,754 8,023 410,360
BRRX Capital expenditure
0% BREREE  ERL - Addition in property, plant and
£ HELH  THER equipment, construction in
ERENHREEEREN progress, leasehold land, land
BEZEM used rights and other leased
assets and intangible assets 4,192,208 56,410 50,087 60,348 4,359,053
-WENBARNNE - - Addition in property, plant
BERSE ERIE. and equipment, construction
HELH - THERER in progress, leasehold land,
AHREEERENAE land used rights and other
LB leased assets and intangible
assets arising from acquisition
of subsidiaries — — 62,407 — 62,407
N YN WA Investments in associates 42,570 - — — 42570
REREHEE 2 #R Investments in jointly controlled entities - 1,628 — - 1,628

(@) WELAEWABRERERBRA BEZTTNF+=A (a
=+—RBIFE : $%1,211,696,0007T : HE_ZTT/)\
F+ZRA=+—HILFE : B%3,644,727,0007T °

The revenue from toll roads includes construction revenue: for the year ended
31 December 2009: HKD1,211,696,000; for the year ended 31 December 2008:
HKD3,644,727,000.
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6. M¥ HMERRE-KE 6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP
HE BE
EL RERRE
Leasehold BEH  Furniture,
#F  improve- Motor fixtures, and aif
Buildings ments  vehicles equipment Total
R=EENF-B-H At 1 January 2008
A Cost 654,020 7877 46,388 503,300 1,211,004
ZiTERAE Accumulated depreciation and impairment (101,774)  (5,778)  (24,539) (209,500) (341,591)
FEFE Net book amount 552,246 1,599 21,849 293,809 869,503
BE-EEN\E+t-A=1-HLEE Year ended 31 December 2008
FNRAFE Opening net book amount 552,246 1,599 21,849 293,809 869,503
Wik B AR Acquisition of a subsidiary 28,317 - 188 6,737 35242
R Additions 5,099 898 16,105 31,806 53,908
EETRE A (fi59) Transfer from construction in progress (Note 9) 482,017 = — 255321 737,338
e Disposals (4,652) — (740)  (5,847)  (11,239)
RE Impairment (1,691) — — — (1,691)
A EE Exchange difference 43,282 127 1,738 22,705 67,852
e Depreciation (32,583) —  (10757)  (71,437) (114777)
FREMFE Closing net book amount 1,072,035 2,624 28,383 533,094 1,636,136
R=BENF+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2008
KA Cost 1,209,557 6,873 59,953 828,678 2,105,061
ZHRERAME Accumulated depreciation and impairment (187,522)  (4,249)  (31,570) (295,584)  (468,925)
FEFE Net book amount 1,072,035 2,624 28,383 533,094 1,636,136
BE-ZENF+T-R=1-ALEE Year ended 31 December 2009
FNRIFE Opening net book amount 1,072,035 2624 28383 533,004 1,636,136
WM B A (fi3E41) Acquisition of subsidliaries (Note 41) 33,651 — 1,689 20,120 55460
R Additions 11,513 4,244 10,724 30,567 57,048
ERIBEA (19 Transfer from construction in progress (Note 9) = 242,231 52,271 325 312,895 607,722
& Disposals (3,608) (179) (361)  (2,984)  (7,132)
A EE Exchange difference 11 2 12 217 1,002
RERE ED Reversal of impairment 660 — — = 660
ik Depreciation (36,457) (14)  (8,414)  (91,652) (136,537)
FREMFE Closing net book amount 1,320,736 58,948 32,358 802,317 2,214,359
RZBEAE+-A=+-H At 31 December 2009
KA Cost 1,507,502 62,163 69,032 1,188,685 2,827,382
ZiERAE Accumulated depreciation and impairment (186,766)  (3,215)  (36,674) (386,368) (613,023)
REFE Net book amount 1,320,736 58,948 32,358 802,317 2,214,359
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6. MH¥ BWERRE-&KHE (&)

SHREABEEAL41,402,0007T (ZBEE/)\F B
#6275,264,0007T) MIEF R EEM AR ML E
BEE BEAEBRKELARCENERE
2 DR B R E R BT L R U E B R
BEERERN  EmAKEREE/ENE
FHEEEE -

7. REWX-5HE

BARE EEBUIIMNEEREE R HFHIA
EROREREEDR

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT- GROUP
(continued)

Property ownership certificates for buildings and structures with
net book amount of HKD441,402,000 (2008: HKD275,264,000)
are not procured. Due to the unique feature of the Group’s operation
of toll roads, the affiliated buildings and structures should be
reverted to the government when the approved operating periods
expire. Thus, the Group does not work out a related plan of
procuring the property ownership certificates.

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - GROUP

At fair value, outside Hong Kong with remaining lease periods
over 50 years:

2009 2008
F4 Beginning of year 49,183 32,580
A REWKR (EBiB) Fair value gains/(losses) 347 (4,035)
& Disposals (5,100) —
bE A= 5E Exchange differences 13 —
EETEEA Transfer from construction in
(FF5E9) progress (Note 9) — 20,638
F End of year 44,443 49,183

(a) REMENBENEZRER

(@ Amounts recognised in profit and loss for
investments properties

2009 2008

e WA Rental income 1,302 1,525
EERSWANKEDE Direct operating expenses arising
NEEZLEER from investment properties that

generate rental income (276) (296)

1,026 1,229

(b) fHEEE®E

REVEGHEEEDRBERORBYRER
BHISER  LRMBETBRNQFRAITE
THOERRZEREBRAE -

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(b) Valuation basis

The basis of the valuations of investment properties is the fair
amounts for which the properties could be exchanged between
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, based on current
prices in an active market for similar properties.
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - GROUP (continued)

(c) Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating
leases ranges from 1 to 15 years with rental payable monthly.
Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
of investment properties are receivable as follows:

2009 2008

—F N Within one year 1,576 1,389
BB —FENEBRF Later than one year but not later

than 5 years 7,308 5,558

AR F Later than 5 years 2,109 2,779

10,993 9,726

8. HELH IHEAEREMLAE s

LEASEHOLD LAND, LAND USE RIGHTS AND

BEE-& OTHER LEASED ASSETS - GROUP

2009 2008
F 1] Beginning of year 509,656 433,502
BR Additions 195,122 59,661
W BB B A ) Acquisition of subsidiaries — 25,311
BB Impairment — (6,766)
ERETREEA Transfer from construction in
(MF5E9) progress (Note 9) 1,853 —
B 2 EE Reversal of impairment 2,640 —
& Disposals (16,370) (19,530)
5 Amortisation (22,924) (12,672)
ME N, = R Exchange difference 285 30,150
F End of year 670,262 509,656
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8. HELH TiFRAEREMIEE 8. LEASEHOLD LAND, LAND USE RIGHTS AND

EE-£8 (&) OTHER LEASED ASSETS - GROUP (continued)
s ATEMEERER WERMFESI  The amounts represent prepaid operating lease payments and
R their net book values are analysed as follows:

2009 2008
UREAE : In Hong Kong held on:
+EERTFHNEE Leases of between 10 to 50 years 63,231 67,347
A+FHUN ENEE Leases of over 50 years 3,019 3,043
66,250 70,390
MR B B AN E — R B Outside Hong Kong — PRC, held on:
TEHAANEE Leases of less than 10 years 13,757 18,062
+EERTFHNEE Leases of between 10 to 50 years 515,797 344,653
A+FHUN ENEE Leases of more than 50 years 70,550 72,505
KPP EE> Leases with unspecified periods* 3,908 4,046
604,012 439,266
670,262 509,656
* REZZZNFR_ZFTNF+-A=1T—H ZFHEL * As at 31 December 2008 and 2009, legal procedures for procuring certificates
) L AR E MRS o of these land use rights are not yet completed.
9. HEEIRE-£HE 9. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS - GROUP
2009 2008
F 1) Beginning of year 341,542 584,228
N Additions 822,478 563,190
W BB BB A 7 (FaE41) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 41) 83,820 466
EAME - BB RFE Transfer to property, plant
(FF=Ee) and equipment (Note 6) (607,722) (737,338)
EAME - tF AR Transfer to leasehold land, land use rights
REMBESEE (H:E8) and other leased assets (Note 8) (1,853) B
EAKREYZE (H5E7) Transfer to investment properties (Note 7) — (20,638)
H b4 Other transfers (2,218) (90,353)
ME W, = HE Exchange difference 409 41,987
Fax End of year 636,456 341,542
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GROUP

BErKe
BILEE
Concession
intangible meE a5t
assets Goodwill Total
R-ZEZENFE-—H—H At 1 January 2008
KA Cost 14,343,059 — 14,343,059
g i Accumulated amortisation (626,990) —  (626,990)
R FE Net book amount 13,716,069 — 13,716,069
BE-_ZEZENE Year ended 31 December 2008
+TZA=t+—HALEE
FHREFE Opening net book amount 13,716,069 — 13,716,069
NE Additions 3,682,294 — 3,682,294
W BT B A7) Acquisition of a subsidiary — 1,388 1,388
VE W = %8 Exchange difference 1,010,247 — 1,010,247
B8 Amortisation (282,911) —  (282,911)
1 5 Write-off — (1,388) (1,388)
FAREREFE Closing net book amount 18,125,699 — 18,125,699
R=ZFENFE+=-HA=+—H At31 December 2008
BN Cost 19,152,980 — 19,152,980
S L Accumulated amortisation (1,027,281) —  (1,027,281)
BREFEE Net book amount 18,125,699 — 18,125,699

FII BB E R B BR A A] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited

3R 2009 Annual Report




176

e B ERANE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BREFIGEBES) - BT 2 881 LB F oL A8 )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. BEFEE-£8 (&)

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GROUP (continued)

AR
BEEE
Concession
intangible meE a5t
assets Goodwill Total
BE-ZZh&E Year ended 31 December 2009
TZA=+—HLFE
FYREFE Opening net book amount 18,125,699 — 18,125,699
NE Additions 1,212,920 — 1,212,920
Lz e B B A ) Acquisition of a subsidiary
(Ft5¥41(b)) (Note 41(b)) 3,513,823 — 3,513,823
PEH =58 Exchange difference 13,339 — 13,339
5 Amortisation (402,087) —  (402,087)
FREE®EFE Closing net book amount 22,463,694 — 22,463,694
R-ZEZFhhFE+=-H=+—H At31 December 2009
B 7R Cost 23,915,344 — 23,915,344
g i Accumulated amortisation (1,451,650) — (1,451,650)
BREDVFE Net book amount 22,463,694 — 22,463,694
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10. BEFEE-£8 (&)

RFREERTEESANREEE B BB
FIRTHRRERBZ W ELEEHE - RIZFRR
BFHEXERE@ER  AEEEAHEH
WEARNERRABRBRENERE L&
REHMNBEHARNEERERE - ## MK
ERE - RELHRAMERE REKNEEE K
ARBAKE - RERFABRIWER LRI
® ARAREEFTEEREEWBA - RIE
BREZHR  ARRERCERIR R IELT
H BASERNFES L EABEEERE -

AEBZHMBARERFEAKEREGR AR
(DBBAR) MBEE—RAR  BEZHRAK
MERBERNEERRAKNKBREEED
PEREFTEEETEE  ERAFEABE
9,796,280,000 . (ZEZE/)\F : B
8,921,675,00070) B BERITER LB
4,685,085,0007T (A K #4,124,280,0007T)
(ZZZT)\F : B%3,706,824,0007T (AR
3,265,240,0007T) ) B (FF5E21(a) ) ©

R_ZEZENF  2PHEHEERBE
402,087,000 L (ZEZENE : B
282,911,00070) EEZ RN A[HEEK
K] o

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GROUP (continued)

Concession intangible assets represent the rights to operate the
respective toll roads granted by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC to the Group. According to the relevant
governments’ approval documents and the relevant regulations,
the Group is responsible for the construction of the toll roads
and the acquisition of the related facilities and equipment. It is
also responsible for the operations and management, maintenance
and overhaul of the toll roads during the approved operating
periods. The toll fees collected and collectible during the operating
periods are attributable to the Group. The relevant toll roads
assets are required to be returned to the local government authorities
when the operating rights periods expire without any considerations
payable to the Group. According to the relevant regulations, these
operating rights are not renewable and the Group does not have
any termination options.

Included in the concession intangible assets were the operating
rights of Qinglian Class | Highway, Qinglian Class Il Highway and
Qinglian Expressway (upon completion of its reconstruction) with
net book value of HKD9,796,280,000 (2008: HKD8,921,675,000)
of Guangdong Qinglian Highway Development Company Limited
(“Qinglian Company”), a subsidiary of the Group, pledged for
the secured bank borrowings totaling to HKD4,685,085,000
(RMB4,124,280,000) (2008: HKDS3,706,824,000
(RMBS,265,240,000)) (Note 21(a)).

Amortisation of HKD402,087,000 (2008: HKD282,911,000) has
all been charged in ‘cost of sales’ in 2009.
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11. REBATRIZERZREEW "B 11. INVESTMENTS IN AND DUE FROM/TO

M—2F SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY
2009 2008

EMBEE Non-current assets
JEETWIRE - BEAE Unlisted investments, at cost 98,515 98,515
I ENGIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 6,049,428 4,683,219

6,147,943 4,781,734
MENE E Current assets
i NG 35 Dividends due from subsidiaries 2,842,923 2,842,923
mE A& Current liabilities
FEAS BT /B & R 3k IR Amount due to a subsidiary 2,933 2,933
rFHE AR ZHE Market value of listed shares 7,360,974 5,404,435
FEMBRR ZFBEEHNHI FE44 - Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 44.

ARBEMBARGBRBEEALREREFE(E Balances with subsidiaries are unsecured and have no fixed
BHEARR - MK B 414,195,00000 (“ZZ )\ repayment term. Except for a receivable amount of HKD4 14,195,000
F 5%%153 734,00070) I E BB 2 M5 (2008: HKD153,734,000) which bears interest at prevailing borrowing
EREEGFEIN RETBRE o rates in Hong Kong, the remaining balances are interest-free.
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12. RBMEQARzERE - KE

e B ERANE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES - GROUP

2009 2008
F 1) Beginning of year 1,441,731 1,428,285
mEARZES EEEA (H5E13) Transfer from jointly
controlled entities (Note 13) — 141,026
20 (M4 EE (b)) Additions (Note (b)) 51,119 42,570
e Disposals — (241,950)
E(hEtE R R AT, (E18) Share of profit/(loss) of associates 92,506 (17,601)
2R & Dividends received (131,217) (25,491)
bE = 5E Exchange difference 1,077 119,892
FH End of year 1,455,216 1,441,731
FLRARRRAE T The year end balance comprises the following:
2009 2008
JELEMIRE - BKANE Unlisted investments, at cost
BREBIN - BIEEEFE Share of net assets
other than goodwill 1,367,819 1,354,393
WHEEENEE (i) Goodwill on acquisition (Note(c)) 87,397 87,338
1,455,216 1,441,731

FII BB E R B BR A A] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited 17§|
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BREFIGEBES) - BT 2 881 LB F oL A8 )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. RBtE QR zEER - K8 (&) 12. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES - GROUP (continued)
(@) FTEMZ AR+ -_A=+—HAS (a Allassociates have 31 December as year end. The Group’s
e XEBMEANTHAEHABERELEL share of results and aggregated assets (including goodwill)
A WEPEEFMKT -  AEEOEWG and liabilities of its principal associates, all of which are
HERF  REE (BEBBINEAER limited liability companies incorporated in the PRC, are as
Nk follows:
Fir 4t

BR/ BEE%
(B5#) % Interest

1 g g N Profit/ indirectly
Name Assets Liabilities  Revenue (Loss) held

ZEZNE 2009
RIBERRAR Shenzhen Qinglong

BRAE Expressway Company Limited

(NE&ERAR)) (“Qinglong Company”) 582,146 452,105 180,367 91,196 40%
BERIPRREDE Guangdong Jiangzhong Expressway

BRATF Company Limited

(NIRAE]) (“Jiangzhong Company’) 866,227 574,739 76,216 (2,917) 25%
BMNBEZRERERE Guangzhou Western Second

BRAE Ring Expressway Company Limited

(MA=RDA]) (FFb) (“GZ W2 Company’) (Note (b)) 772,701 557,718 48,773  (15,103) 25%
RITES r—JLL\EtX Shenzhen Huayu Expressway

BEERR Investment Company Limited 251,219 180,376 34,079 5,401 40%
5%”%_3EIEEEF§ Shenzhen Expressway Engineering

BRATF Consulting Company Limited

([EmaE]) (“Consulting Company”) 24,935 15,709 35,598 2,207 30%
ARRIFE=AR Nanjing Yangzi River Third Bridge

BRAE Company Limited

([ER=FAT)) (“Nanjing Third Bridge Company’) 055064 683,230 69,506  (3,160) 259%
ERBXRRDE Guangdong Yangmao Expressway

BRATF Company Limited

([EXAF]) (“Yangmao Company’) 658,170 387,851 101,196 14,115 25%
gnﬂlﬂiﬁ@ YN Yunfu Guangyun Expressway

BRAT Company Limited 469,422 280,579 38,013 95 30%
=80} NG Other associate 7,673 934 8,763 672
At Total 4,588,457 3,133,241 592,601 92,506

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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12. RMEQR 2R - K8 (&)

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES - GROUP (continued)

FiG
B,/ BER%
(B8) % Interest
e BE afE WA Profit/  indirectly
Name Assets  Liabilites ~ Revenue (Loss) held
ZEENE 2008
BEAT Qinglong Company 446,287 305,261 — - 40%
THATA Jiangzhong Company 833,576 539,369 67,049 (6,969) 25%
AZIRAT GZ W2 Company 810,880 632,020 32,003 (24,472) 25%
RITESSRDHE Shenzhen Huayu Expressway
REBRAA Investment Company Limited 260,722 187,085 29,727 2883 40%
GG Consulting Company 17,276 9,549 22,675 1,713 30%
BR=EAT Nanjing Third Bridge Company 966,069 690,358 65,850 (7,609) 25%
NG Yangmao Company 690,082 414,200 93,813 21,636 25%
EEMEZRRLKE Yunfu Guangyun Expressway
ERAR Company Limited 485908 297,289 82710 (3,843 30%
Hilann Other associate 7,200 1,138 11,083 1,655
=5 Total 4,518,000 3,076,269 355,810  (17,601)
(b) BEHH RARMNKEMZEMRTE ° &N (b) According to the provisions of the investment agreements

SEHHEBRAEKS1,119,000T (=ZF
T\ : B¥42,570,0007T) °c ZFES
ERBEZBEATNAKEREEHE
EHTRKMBEA ©

SREIVBWE IR AR BEXAR KRS
RARKMEENEE  2HAARKE
30,135,0007T (&#34,233,0007T) * A
R #45,165,0007T (#51,306,0007T)
T AR#1,636,0007T (8% 1,858,000
T0) c RARBEZMNTEH R=ZFZEN
F+-_A=+—HESTHERTARES

18 e

of GZ W2 Company, the Group has made further capital
contributions amounting to HKD51,119,000 (2008:
HKD42,570,000) to this associate based on the funding
requirements determined based on the progress of construction
of the toll road projects undertaken by the associate.

The balance represents the goodwiill arising from the acquisition
of equity interests in Jiangzhong Company, Yangmao Company
and Qinglong Company amounting to RMB30,135,000
(HKD34,233,000), RMB45,165,000 (HKD51,306,000) and
RMB1,636,000 (HKD1,858,000), respectively. After the
assessment made by the directors of the Company, there
was no impairment loss incurred as at 31 December 2009.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BREFIGEBES) - BT 2 881 LB F oL A8 )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

. REEEHER ERZ & 13. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES - GROUP
2009 2008
F 1) Beginning of year 773,559 923,679
=i Additions — 1,628
JEIEHREIESIER 2 B F) Share of profit of jointly
controlled entities 204,763 244,439
HEZHEESE R BRERDAE  Dividends declared and
appropriation made by jointly
controlled entities (161,165) (328,961)
HaBE N NRIRE (F15E12) Transfer to associates (Note 12) — (141,026)
ERMBEARKRE Transfer to investment in subsidiaries (517,711) —
b N = 5E Exchange difference 904 73,800
FR End of year 300,350 773,559
FIRAEMEANDT - The year end balance comprises the following:
2009 2008
FELMIRE - HNAE Unlisted investments, at cost
E{HEEFE Share of net assets 11,671 316,891
BT HRZESERE 2 BNAR Advances to jointly controlled
(MT i (c)) entities (Note (c)) 288,679 456,668
300,350 773,559

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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13. RAFEFHERz2EZ KB (#) 18

(a) RZTEZENF+ZA=+—H: 2%X ()
REZEHEROREREERAALESEH
MK - BRIRMAT

=L

Name

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES - GROUP (continued)

The following is a list of all jointly controlled entities of the
Group at 31 December 2009, all of which are limited liability
companies incorporated in the PRC:

Fir 4 8 12 pE i

Interest indirectly held

RYMEGERREEBEEETLDERAR ([HSRES L))

Shenzhen Airport International Express Supervision Center Co., Ltd.

(“SZ Airport Express Center”) 50%
REWRREER LR ([FEREM])
Citic Logistics Fritz Co., Ltd. (“Citic Logistics Fritz”) 43%
RINEEMRERAB ([EEEWR])
Shenzhen Longzhuo Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Longzhuo Logistics”) 50%
)2/l
Shenchang Company 51%

BB E LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BREFIGEBES) - BT 2 881 LB F oL A8 )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

. AHEEE4IER RS -5BE (E)  13. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES - GROUP (continued)

(b) AEBEMERIZEHEEEENBEE (b) The Group’s share of results and aggregated assets (including

(BEEHB)REGENT - goodwill) and liabilities of its jointly controlled entities are
as follows:
2009
ISR B BERAR
BZ RO Citic ~ E=¥R (KaE41(b)) RRATR
SZ Airport  Logistics  Longzhuo  Jihe East Shenchang &%
Express Center Fritz  Logistics = Company  Company Total
(Note 41(b))
ERBEE Non-current assets 23,748 15,831 60 — 219,161 258,800
mBEE Current assets 31,311 18,627 2,156 - 4,072 56,166
BEE Total assets 55,059 34,458 2,216 — 223,233 314,966
ERBERE Non-current liabilities — 675 — — 288,679 289,354
MEAE Current liabilities 4,793 3,665 1,153 — 4,330 13,941
“weE Total liabilities 4,793 4,340 1,153 — 293,009 303,295
O Revenue 15,730 39,573 6,351 208,090 14,165 283,909
RAREH Cost and expenses (14,103) (40,180) (5,579) (8,625) (10,659) (79,146)

BRHERSER Profit/(loss) after
/ (B#8) income tax 1,627 (607) 772 199,465 3,506 204,763

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

13. REEEHEEERZ —58E (£) 13. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES - GROUP (continued)

2008
RER
HSRERL Citic  E=WR BERAR  ARAR  BELH
SZ Airport  Logistics  Longzhuo  Jine East  Shenchang  Qinglong af
Express Center Fritz~ Logistics ~ Company  Company  Company Total

E¥NBEE Non-current assets 28,487 20,630 58 719,901 224,108 — 993,184
MEEE Current assets 29,139 12,252 1,153 56,366 3,158 — 102,068
HEE Total assets 57,626 32,882 1,211 776,267 227,266 — 1,095,252
FReaR Non-current liabilities = 1,413 — 433,839 296,345 — 731,597
nBAE Current liabilities 5,982 2,708 921 32,996 4,157 — 46,764
HeE Total liabilities 5,982 4121 921 466,835 300,502 — 778,361
/ON Revenue 14,775 44,590 2,450 278,309 13,590 166,808 520,522
BARER Cost and expenses (14,473)  (39,695) (3,850) (134,219)  (10,986)  (72,860) (276,083)
RE&FESEA/ (BB) Profit/(loss) after income tax 302 4,895 (1,400) 144,090 2,604 93,948 244,439
(c) ®EINEEFERAATNAMHZ(ZZEZ () The amounts represented advances made to Shenchang

NE  HREFRQAFANBNRAEARKE
141,229,0007T (&% 160,323,0007T) -
HERQ2IAWMBNAERAEAREK
261,050,000 T (5%296,345,000
TL)) ° ZEBNRTVRI S ERIBRE
BENRTEEAUZSEREHERER
BR—EHMBEA e RAREEREE
ARENRBIREEE @ ALK AET
/EE °

S EBNRILEER - 2B - LR
RARRELZEAKRARERZESE
B ARAEFARR _ZZNF+=
A=+ —A%FRELA LY LA -

Company (2008: advance made to Jihe East Company of
RMB141,229,000 (HKD160,323,000) and to Shenchang
Company of RMB261,050,000 (HKD296,345,000)). The
advances were made by the Shenzhen Expressway as part
of its investment commitments in these jointly controlled
entities as stipulated in the provisions under the relevant
investment agreements. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, these advances are investment in nature and
are therefore stated at cost.

The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are
repayable out of the funds to be generated from the operations
of the respective toll road projects. The directors of the
Company considered that there was no recoverability problem
associated with the amount as at 31 December 2009.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BREFIGEBES) - BT 2 881 LB F oL A8 )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

14. ItHECHBEE-& 14. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS - GROUP
2009 2008
F 1) Beginning of year 1,230,364 1,076,880
0 Additions 46,564 —
AREFRE Net fair value gains 1,309,157 67,751
& Disposals (133,094) —
ME N, = HE Exchange difference 850 85,733
FRR End of year 2,453,841 1,230,364
B IEREED Less: non-current portion (142,366) (95,726)
mEEH Current portion 2,311,475 1,134,638

AHHEZHMBEELUAREE®BIEL  Available-for-sale financial assets, all denominated in RMB,

Nk include the following:
RABE LMz #ERmES Listed securities in PRC,
B2 {E(a) (FHEE3.3) - at fair value (a) (Note 3.3) :
— Al — Freely tradeable 2,311,475 979,843
—BREH — With lock-up period — 154,795
2,311,475 1,134,638
FELETES Unlisted equity investments:
ZanE (fisE3.3) at fair value (Note 3.3) 38,992 —
LA FIBR R E (5 (b)) at cost less impairment (Note (b))
— B - Cost 127,469 119,821
—BEEE — Provision for impairment (24,095) (24,095)
142,366 95,726
2,453,841 1,230,364

RAFE  AEBEBREZEERFEE  During the year, the Group removed profit of HKD102,662,000
102,662,000T (ZZZ N\ F : #) Fi8z55Kk ° (2008: Nil) from equity into the income statement.

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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14. THRHEZHMBEE -KE (&)

(a)

R-_ZEZNE+_A=+—8 EWmH
BREN ETMERRE H58.48% MK
EERRD (FHZ5103,815,8810%) ©

BRANBBENERNIELTMELFANR
SEFRARTRITELCENHDERIR
B -ERAEERBELERE  HE
RIS A EAHBERERD
ﬁ“ EAN - R EWEART

CBERAE ASEHEESKREN
xﬁﬁfﬁ BEAUENAABENE
B E » TrER STl o At - 48
R RERKANBBENER - NEE
RREB S ERBIMY| 258 E A
HEEZYBKEERSTHRBERBNR
LLAEZREEARRAE B HE - RE
HILHER  AEBFHESITEEE
a%&%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ%ﬁ~¢ﬁ
HEER CWEREITEMNAR
RIER mazauo

HitERBEE-KE

RZZZEAF+TA=+—H  EtERBHE
ENEEEIRANRK(ZZTN\EFE : &) -

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

14. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS - GROUP
(continued)

(@) As at 31 December 2009, listed equity investments stated
at market price represent 8.48% interest (equivalent to
103,815,881 shares) in CSG.

(b)  The unlisted equity investments stated at cost less impairment
comprise passive investments by the Group in entities operating
in various industries. In light of the minority shareholdings
held by the Group, there exists a wide range of possible
discounts arising from potential disposals of the investments.
Moreover, there is no open market for these instruments
and the directors consider that the marketability of the Group’s
shareholdings is low. The probabilities of the range of possible
fair values of these investments cannot be reliably assessed.
These investments are therefore stated at cost less impairment.
The Group assessed where there is objective evidence that
the available-for-sale financial assets are impaired in
accordance with the guidelines in HKAS 39. The assessment
requires the directors of the Company to make these
judgements. In making these judgements, the Group has
assessed various factors, including financial operation of
the investees, prospect of their operations in short to medium
terms, etc; and consideration of the prospect of the industries
the investees operate, their performance and change in their
operating environment.

15. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS - GROUP

As at 31 December 2009, the other non-current assets represent
the prepayment for construction in progress (2008: Nil).
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(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

16. BEFFEZEE-&H

“ETNFTRA=1T—H  BHEFEZE
?IEE?«KEIEEFHEWJ:./\Hﬂ Y
EEE -

17. ¥R EMEWRR

16. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - GROUP

As at 31 December 2009, assets held for sale mainly represented
equity investments held for sale after the management approved
the disposal plan of such equity investments.

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

REE KR F]
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
S 75 R Kk Trade receivables 315,849 259,182 — —
B PRI SORE R Less: Provision for
impairment of
receivables (195) (194) — —
R — F 5 Trade receivables — net 315,654 258,988 — —
H A e Wk & TR R Other receivables
and prepayments 96,767 314,911 1,019 1,265
412,421 573,899 1,019 1,265

HRKREABROWATEBURESTAER &
FTEBXBRERTSRE - A AKEHR
WEARNEPTEBRENEEN - KKERQ

BRUASN - R 2 EEMBERI0AE
1208 - AEER _ZTZNFR-_ZFZTN\F+
“A=1t—H8 REZRBHIVTERES
FE R B [ DA D AT S A5 R MR O BR e 20 TS

The income from toll road operations is mainly received in cash
and it usually does not maintain any trade receivable balances
related to toll road operations. Accordingly, the Group does not
have any specified credit period for its customers related to toll
road operations. Trade receivables other than toll road income
generally have credit terms of 30 to 120 days. As at 31 December
2009 and 2008, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables of
the Group based on invoice date or the time from the initial recognition
of receivables is as follows:

2009 2008

0-90H 0-90 days 127,903 102,534
91-180H 91-180 days 16,751 3,954
181-3656H 181-365 days 13,889 727
365H A E* Over 365 days* 157,306 151,967
315,849 259,182

* ¥R HI365 H MR FE156,293,0007T (ZEF
N\ : #¥151,821,0007T) EEARFMIMRBERET
AEBETRERE TAKRRIEEEENE -

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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17. ¥ REMEWRR (&)

“EENFF+_A=1+—8 ' EBEREX
/%M21,325 000 (ZEEZENEFE : B
1,197,0007T) &£ E @ HB W R E o thF /I8
BREEROLEEIERCHENBLEE -

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2009, trade receivables of HKD21,325,000
(2008:HKD1,197,000) were past due but not impaired. There is
no recent history of default for these balances. The ageing analysis
of these trade receivables is as follows:

I EEBEBRFNRR>ITOT ¢
2009 2008
121-180H 121-180 days 7,167 516
181-365H 181-365 days 13,888 596
365H A Over 365 days 270 85
21,325 1,197

RZEZAE+-_A=+—H  ¥¥EKZE
#195,0007T (ZZZT)\F : ##194,0007T)
EWREEORIE o Ut S8 BB A 25 e W k8

FTERBRTIHEHRYBERHENETFE - Efa

HXBRIGEOEEER P UEMNERCE
& RNRAREFAR  ZRWERRLERES

SR o

RAFEE - REBEGEB R 2R EREL
BEAEH - HMEUANEMERRER

Aﬁ/ﬁkfﬁﬁé 380 H 0 SRR BE 4R B KE RS
HERERYRE BRI L ER B AR
RONEEERAA - ”r)\%@%%%%)fﬁ’] KIRERA

BHEERINRESHBERL T —REMH -

REBE X R EMBUKOBREEEZNUA
RESEN R-FEAF+_A=1+—8"
EBREMBUFZ AR EREKREEEM
3 o

EREAY - EERARNKERRAER L

BHEERUFNAAE - AKRETHETMES
EREAR -

As at 31 December 2009, trade receivables of HKD195,000 (2008:
HKD194,000) were fully impaired. These individually impaired
trade receivables mainly relate to customers which are under
unexpected difficult economic situations. For other overdue trade
receivables, the directors of the Company consider that they
are not impaired, after assessing those customers’ repayment
history.

There is no significant change in impairment provision during
the year. The other classes within trade and other receivables
do not contain impaired assets. There is no material default history
for amounts not past due.

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables
has been included in administrative expenses in the income
statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally
written off when there is no expectation of recoveries of additional
cash.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables
are mainly denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2009, the
fair value of the trade and other receivables approximates their
carrying values.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group
does not hold any collateral as security.

FIIBERIE LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

17. ¥R HMWEWRK (&) 17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

EEISCRENEGBRIERZEEEEAE  Credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired
BRXSH AR R 7 ESEREITE - can be assessed by reference to historical information about
counterparty default rates:

2009 2008
RHEA Counterparty
— A B BT 56 P — Government authorities in the PRC 162,226 169,304
— 3B 1 M ROE KA B — Existing customers with
ZEBERPE no defaults in the past 116,398 75,684
—EP — New customers 15,705 12,803
294,329 257,791
8. RekALEEY 18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AEHE b /N
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
RITREFIRE) Cash at bank and
in hand (i) 1,683,322 2,061,168 48,136 94,872
B SRR B SR TE R ) Less: Restricted bank
deposits (i) (556,920)  (160,168) — —
1,126,402 1,901,000 48,136 94,872

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3} 2009 Annual Report

190



fre R MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. RERREEEY (&)

(i) EA_EBEJL@SZ ZENFE+_A=+
TEFNEBRFENES R A
0.91%&2.03% A7 EH& & E8E A

18.

(i)

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, the effective interest
rates on bank balances are 0.91% per annum and 2.03%
per annum respectively. The balances are denominated in
the following currencies:

rEE KAF
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
AR RMB 1,607,058 1,818,075 — —
ke HKD 75,396 241,481 48,094 94,301
HimE Other currencies 868 1,612 42 571
1,683,322 2,061,168 48,136 94,872
(i) ZRHBITFRET (i)  Restricted bank deposits are as follows:
rEH
Group
2009 2008
—FREHHARE Bank fixed deposit denominated in
E BT (M3E21(e) RMB with a maturity of one year
(Note 21(e)) 511,189 131,992
TIREREEASRD Project funds retained for construction
16 B B R management contracts 45,731 27,595
HEeE EPRITER Other pledged deposits — 581
556,920 160,168

(il RZTEZEAF+_RA=+—H x5H
&K@ﬁmiﬁi\&iﬁi\%fﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ@%
SEERRAEEEEE -

(i)

As at 31 December 2009, the maximum exposure of the
Group’s and the Company’s cash and cash equivalent to
credit risk is the carrying value.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

19. BARBRFAGE-KEBRAQTA 19. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM - GROUP AND
COMPANY
ERTRY
(F1x)
Number of  ZERRKEA IR AR E
issued shares Ordinary Share &5t
(thousands) share capital premium Total
RZZZENFE—HA—H At 1 January 2008 14,218,183 1,421,818 1,621,286 3,043,104
O] 38 K 5t S AR 0 Repurchase and
cancellation of shares (196,763) (19,676) (83,713) (103,389)
EEEREE Employee share
option scheme
—BITRRE — proceeds from
share issued 6,000 600 1,092 1,692

R-BENF+ZA=+—-AH At 31 December 2008 14,027,420 1,402,742 1,538,665 2,941,407

EEEREE Employee share
option scheme
—BITRRE — proceeds from
share issued 114,510 11,451 20,840 32,291

R-BEAF+ZA=+—-AH At 31 December 2009 14,141,930 1,414,193 1,559,505 2,973,698

TBAIRADATE B 4% 5200 (=== )\ The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 20,000 million
& 1 200180%) © BEREEER0.1TT(ZZEZ/\  shares (2008: 20,000 million shares) with par value of HKDO.1
F BREESE0.17T)  FIEEETRME  per share (2008: HKDO.1 per share). All issued shares are fully
2HBR - paid.

ERERTIHINESLES  BRELZEKS The share options granted to certain directors and employees
EAME I ] 32 BI1TfE o are unconditional and vested immediately.

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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19. REARBTZE-—EFEBRAT () 19. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM - GROUP AND

COMPANY (continued)
EHBRESRESEREB 2 INETFHIITEE  Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their
mR related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:
2009 2008
EHTEE THITERE
(BkRET) (BRET)
Average MR Average R
exercise (Ffx) exercise (Ffr)
price Number of price Number of

(HKD per share options

(HKD per share options

share) (thousands) share)  (thousands)
wn—HRA—H At 1 January 0.335 165,010 0.333 171,010
217 Exercised 0.282 (114,510) 0.282 (6,000)
®w+-—A=+—H At 31 December 0.455

50,500

0.335 165,010

FIER—ZZNF+_A=+—HEKTEZ All share options outstanding as at 31 December 2009 are
BENRRER] T LAST(E © E A1 15,500,000A% 88/  exercisable. 15,500,000 share options will be expired on 11 January
BR-_ZT—TF—F+—H% > 35,000,000 2010 and 35,000,000 share options will be expired on 5 February

BREEREAN —E-—F_ARAKR®K - 2012.

FII BB E R B BR A A] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited

3R 2009 Annual Report




/\‘/T\

CRRLE T

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(B BT EA5)

B & G LB T T R E)
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H fto f#% 5 20. OTHER RESERVES
(a) ~&EH (@) Group
TRRES
B 153 vt HARE
Equity (Riakii)) (Wi ERGE (W)
component of AAEERE Reseve EARE HEEE HWEE  ANBE  EfEE  Other Currency Contributed
convertible ~ Fair value funds  Capital  Goodwill Hedging ~ Merger Revaluation  reserves translation  surplus it
bonds  reserve  (Note (i)  reserve  reserve  reserve reserves  surplus (Note(iii)  reserve  (Note (i) Total
R=E5N\-A-A At 1 January 2008 343,501 586,870 1,123,221 50723  (159,583) (1,869 (1,864,636 ) - (119879) 388,236 13,005 368,589
RURELHAMER Merger reserve arising from common
control combinations - - - - - — (2181,643) - - - — (2,181,643
HREERENER Transfer from retained eamings to
reserve funds - — 66221 - - - - - - - - 66,221
THHE HFAELLERY Changes in far value of available-for-sale
=R financial assets, net of tax - 8% - = = - - - - - - B0
WidehREs Acquisiton of minortty interests - - - - = = = - (64977) - - (64977)
AMBTAMERY RKFR Changes in far valug of derivative
financial instruments, net of tax - - - - - [49211) - - - - - [49211)
ERELEE Currency translation difference — 8677 - - - - - - — 319,140 - 47817
RZEENFTZA=1-A At 31 December 2008 343,501 693,938 1,189,442 50723  (159,583) (51,080 ) (4,046,279 ) — (184,856 ) 767,376 13,005 (1,374,813 )
R-8ENE-A-H At 1 January 2009 343501 693,938 1,189,442 50723  (159,583) (51,080 (4,046,279 ) — (184,856 ) 767,376 13,005 (1,374,813 )
DEBRRRA Injection by minority shareholders = = = = - - - - 497 - - 497
HREERENER Transfer from retained eamings to
reserve funds - — 206,786 - - - - - - - — 206,786
THHE MFAEM EhE - Fair value gains on avalable-for-sale
AR financial assets, net of tax — 1005013 - = = - - - - - — 1005013
REMMHE AREEN L ENE Transfer of fair value gain to Income
gREs% IR statement upon disposal of
avalable-for-sale financial assets,
net of tax T - - . - - . - — i)
B IANAEEE R Fair value losses on dervative
financial instruments, net of tax - — — - - (5,640 ) - - — - - (5,640 )
REERORETER  REFE Derecogniton of cash flow hedge,
net of tax - - - - - 5210 - - - - - 5210
W R ER Acquisiton of minortty interests - - - - - - = - 193 = — 19316
REFAHELNEREESR Revaluation surplus arising from
Bk (zkan) busingss combination,
et of tax Note 41) - _ _ - - — ) 76 _ - — s
EXERZE Currency translaton difference - - - - - - - = - 603 - 613
HoFEAETZA=1-R 431 December 2009 BB 1TSH 139628 59728 (159563) (S510) (40B110) 507216  (165043) TIAT9 13005 250,47

R

X192 % A R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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20. OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(b) AAF] (b) Company
TRRES
BaBH BARH
Equity  (BH&E(i)) i
component Contributed ~ ¥  Currency
of convertible surplus  Hedging translation &3
bonds  (Note (i) reserve reserve Total
R-ZZEENF-HA—H At 1 January 2008 209,523 58,515 — — 268,038
TEMBIAAAEER Fair value losses on
derivative financial instruments — — (45,870) — (45,870)
ERERZ® Currency translation difference — = — 435,162 435,162
R-BENE+=A=+-H At 31 December 2008 209,523 58,515 (45,870) 435,162 657,330
TEMBIALAEBE Fair value losses on
derivative financial instruments — — (5,640) — (5,640)
R-BEAE+=A=+-H At 31 December 2009 209,523 58,515 (51,510) 435,162 651,690

FII BB E R B BR A A] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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20.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

B & G LB T T R E)

Hitbf@ e (8)

REBZHABKARBRAEER -1
NEEFE-ANBETEAMEB AR KE
ERARIRNDZEEERARBRIEA/R
MO MBETZARB RN EEMRE M
ZER e

RABZHABGENRE XAtz &
EEAEMEANBRRRN 2@ ERR
N A BL UL A A A7) T B AT 2 AR R X
EEMER . Z8 -

BREFBEOERZRE  EFEZ2ETA
AED KA Z A - BAREBTEZ RN
Eﬁ-%@%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁAﬂﬁﬁ
) - B HBABRELRIZESSE
RERNG A % &/% mAEBE
RYLER - HAIMEE -

HifEHE2EBEIHBRRRHAX
i/ WER B B K i E B A R
HEFEE I REBEMNEE -

m4$7h$+ A=
A DB R EEAB2,157,255,0007C
(ZZBZT)\F : ##¥2,442,291,0007T) °

+—H  XRA

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3} 2009 Annual Report

20.

(i)

(i)

(iv)

OTHER RESERVES (continued)

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the former group
holding company, acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation on 9 January 1990, over the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued in exchange thereof.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
excess of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the same group reorganisation, over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
thereform.

In accordance with the PRC regulations, certain companies
of the Group in the PRC are required to transfer part of
their profits after taxation to various reserve funds, which
are non-distributable, before profit distributions are made.
The amounts of the transfers are subject to the approval of
the boards of directors of these companies, in accordance
with their joint venture agreements and/or articles of association.

Other reserves mainly represent the differences between
the considerations paid/received and the relevant carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiaries acquired/disposed
of for the transactions with minority interests.

Distributable reserve of the Company at 31 December 2009
amounted to HKD 2,157,255,000 (2008: HKD2,442,291,000).
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21. EX 21. BORROWINGS
AEE KAF
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
FRE Non-current
REBRITER Long-term bank borrowings
— B A () - Secured (a) 5,820,844 4,009,308 — =
—EER - Unsecured 3,301,392 3,029,546 1,684,375 89,769
HiEX Other borrowings
—BH#(b) - Secured (b) 5,199 11,556 - —
— &K (c) - Unsecured (c) 38,999 — - —
&% (d) Bonds (d) 899,230 897,859 — =
B Less: Current portion (460,999) (646,052) (205,625) (41,875)
9,604,665 7,302,217 1,478,750 47,894
T Current
RERITER Short-term bank borrowings
— B (e - Secured (g) 510,116 133,246 — =
—EER - Unsecured 1,113,714 1,162,550 — 100,000
REAERHE R Current portion of long-
term borrowings
RITER Bank borrowings
—-EHR - Secured — 73,500 — =
—EER - Unsecured 457,534 566,196 205,625 41,875
—HtnEX - Other borrowings
— B (b) - secured (b) 3,465 6,356 - —
2,084,829 1,941,848 205,625 141,875
HWEXR Total borrowings 11,689,494 9,244,065 1,684,375 189,769

FIIBIIE AR B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

21. ER (&) 21.

(a) AB%102,000,000C ( —ZEZENF : B¥E  (a)
302,484,0007T) ERITERUAREE 2
& Ht/EB A FlJade Emperor Limited ([JEL
IVHRBREEKER SHEEREE
4,685,085,0007T (A R#4,124,280,000
7o) (ZZZ N\ 4 : B#3,706,824,0007T
(AR#3,265,240,0007T)) * HFER
AFHENNBEE—RQAK BE_HA
BRERNEENTERRAKNKE
B REEIR AR o & ¥ 1,033,759,0007T
(AR%910,000,0007T) E R A AR
EEZWBRRIEREDRL0%HIAEE
AR -

b) EMEFRABBTREZRBRITKROHBER (b
AEEE 2 I BT B F£670,000%
7T (B#5,199,00070) (ZZTZT/)\F :
1,489,000 7t (7 #11,556,0007T)) °
ZEREFEEZ1.8% °

(c) REBEBMEMERFEERLEBE (o
38,999,000T (ZZEZTN\F : &) JHH1 /B
RRAZVEBRREBNR - WAE TS
FIEEB o

(d FesBRR_ZZT+FNAEFTTERH

NEfEEARESET BFZEFNE
B55%  HIRA+HSE ESFEMNE—
Ko BB —IRER - EHFZAE KA
ERPEEXBITROERARRES
BRI REESETRBER - F
NSERANEEEFINTHEESRAKE
AR ([MBEAF]) 2100%EmEHK
ER -

(e) WRTERU—FEHHAETHERARE (¢
450,000,0007T (7#%511,189,0007T) (—
TZNF : AR¥116,272,0007T (B
131,992,0007T) ) A (FFEE18(i) ) °

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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BORROWINGS (continued)

For the secured bank borrowings, HKD102,000,000 (2008:
HKD302,484,000) are secured by the Group’s equity interest
in Jade Emperor Limited (“JEL”), a wholly owned subsidiary.
In addition, borrowing of HKD4,685,085,000
(RMB4,124,280,000) (2008: HKD3,706,824,000
(RMBS3,265,240,000)) is secured by a pledge of the operating
rights of Qinglian Class | Highway, Qinglian Class Il Highway
and Qinglian Expressway (upon completion of its reconstruction)
of Qinglian Company , and HKD1,033,759,000
(RMB910,000,000) is secured by a pledge of the 40% equity
rights of Qinglong Company, a subsidiary of the Group.

Other borrowings totalling USD670,000 (HKD5,199,000) (2008:
UsSD1,489,000 (HKD11,556,000)) were extended by the
Spanish Government through the China Construction Bank
Corporation with interest-bearing of 1.8% per annum.

Other unsecured borrowings of the Group included an amount
of HKD38,999,000 (2008: Nil) being advances from a minority
shareholder of a subsidiary, bearing prevailing market interest
rate.

Shenzhen Expressway issued long-term corporate bonds
of RMB800 million for a term of 15 years bearing interest
at 5.5% per annum in August 2007. Interest is payable annually
and the principal is repayable in full upon maturity. The full
amount of principal and interest of the bonds is unconditionally
and irrevocably guaranteed by China Construction Bank
Corporation, which is in turn secured by the Shenzhen
Expressway’s 100% equity interest in Shenzhen Meiguan
Expressway Company Limited (“Meiguan Company”).

The bank loan was secured by a fixed deposit of
RMB450,000,000 (HKD511,189,000) (2008: RMB116,272,000
(HKD131,992,000)) with a maturity of one year (Note 18(ii)).
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21. BORROWINGS (continued)

 BEFEEIEAE At 31 December 2009, the borrowings were repayable as follows:

r&EE ERF
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
—FR Within 1 year 2,084,829 1,941,848 205,625 141,875
—E-FR Between 1 and 2 years 916,883 761,170 329,375 47,894
“EHEARA Between 2 and 5 years 3,044,922 1,626,728 1,149,375 —
AFRNEHEE Wholly repayable
within 5 years 6,046,634 4,329,746 1,684,375 189,769
RELE Over 5 years 5,642,860 4,914,319 — —
11,689,494 9,244,065 1,684,375 189,769
EXNEASEUNTIES BB - The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:
r&EE ERAF
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
BT HKD 3,040,681 625,614 1,684,375 189,769
AR RMB 8,640,466 8,601,618 — —
e usD 8,347 16,833 — —
11,689,494 9,244,065 1,684,375 189,769

FII BB E R B BR A A] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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21. ER (&) 21. BORROWINGS (continued)
REHEBMFERHERAT The ranges of interest rates at the balance sheet date were as
follows:
2009 2008
B AR% Ey BT ARE X
HKD RMB usD HKD RMB usb
ROERREMER Bank borrowings and
other borrowings 1.7%-4.3% 4.4%-6.12% 1.5%-7.17% 1.3%-4.2% 45%-7.0% 1.5%-7.17%
AEBETIRREREREE - The undrawn banking facilities are as follows:
r5E ¥ NG|
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
AN Floating rate
——F R H - Expiring within one year = 4,545,177 3,542,967 400,000 —
— —F A F 3|4 - Expiring beyond
one year 7,093,036 7,382,990 624,787 1,640,000

11,638,213 10,925,957 1,024,787 1,640,000

T2 Fixed rate
— —F A F 3|4 - Expiring beyond
one year 295,354 295,153 — —

11,933,567 11,221,110 1,024,787 1,640,000

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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21. ER (&) 21. BORROWINGS (continued)
FRBEFNEEASBEREAABERT - The carrying amounts and fair values of the non-current borrowings
are as follows:

r&EE b NG|
Group Company
BESE M FESH M
Carrying amounts Fair values Carrying amounts Fair values
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
RITER Bank borrowings 8,664,702 6,399,161 8,634,371 6,485,620 1,478,750 47,894 1,478,750 47,894
H‘rﬁl“m Other borrowings 40,733 5197 40,699 5,002 - — — —
RAEF Corporate bonds 899,230 897,859 904,412 897,859 - - - -
9,604,665 7,302,217 = 9,579,482 7,388,481 1,478,750 47,804 | 1,478,750 47,894
RITERREMERZ AR BETIZEB—MIRIT  The fair values of bank borrowings and other borrowings are

F“*’”ﬁﬂﬂ 50%15 94% (ZZEZE)N\F :
1.50%&5.94%) FTITENIE & Rt EE
F e

REEHFHN AR BEREBRIZENAREST
BEMEL21% (ZFF)\F : 5.50%) T &
miﬁi/}miﬂ‘ ﬁ@i"

HRRENR ZE“TK
FRmE AT

MEBERN R ERE

determined based on cash flows discounted using effective interest
rates ascertained based on the rates of general bank borrowings
at 1.50% to 5.94% (2008: 1.50% to 5.94%) per annum.

The fair value of the corporate bonds is calculated using cash
flows discounted at a rate based on a market interest rate of a
comparable corporate bond at 5.21% (2008: 5.50%) per annum.

The fair values of current borrowings approximate their respective
carrying amounts as the effect of discounting is not significant.
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21. B (&) 21. BORROWINGS (continued)

REER  REBERENREEFHNAREH The exposure of the borrowings to interest rate changes and
EERHMAENRRET - the contractual repricing dates at the end balance sheet date
are as follows:

r&EE NN
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
REREHEERM Borrowings with fixed
Bl F| G rate subject to
repricing date as:
ANEAFAT 6 months or less 713,251 759,227 — —
NETZEA 6 months to 12 months 581,479 3,181 — —
= Jn4E 1 to 5 years 1,104,856 342,009 — —
RENE Over 5 years 4,067,582 4,826,428 - —
6,467,168 5,930,845 — —
FEMEEK Borrowings with
floating rate as:
NEB AT 6 months or less 5,222,326 3,313,220 1,684,375 189,769

11,689,494 9,244,065 1,684,375 189,769

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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. PTEMKEIA 22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
iy | ¥ N
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
FIRZ &4 Interest rate swaps
—ERBAE — non-current liabilities
—-BEREH () - cash flow hedges (a) (51,608) (51,460) (51,608) (45,968)
-RBEE - current assets
—REEE - held for trading - 1,374 — =
-nBEE - current liabilities
—REEE - held for trading (2,693) = — —
BHINES K Foreign exchange
forward contract
-RBEE — current assets
—REEE — held for trading - 5,769 - —

HER_ZZENF+_A=+—BIFE &
B MERRTPERNITEMKITAEZ AR
EHE) D R ABREA30,000C (ZEZENEF B
#49,211,0007T) B #5 057,000 (ZFZF
N\ : #¥7,143,0007T) °

“EENFF+_A=1+—8 " EEFENTF
18%:.:2 9% ( ZZBZENF :2.7%%2.9%) °
MEZMZEMNEEBRBRITAERE - K=
TTNF+_A=+—8 ' A R=gERDR
R R R RN EE (H:E20) - Bk
BEEDERREZEEBRITERAL -

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the fair value change of
derivative financial instruments recognised in the equity and income
statement amounted to HKD430,000 (2008: HKD49,211,000)
and HKD5,057,000 (2008: HKD7,143,000) respectively.

At 31 December 2009, the fixed interest rates vary from 1.8% to
2.9% (2008: 2.7% to 2.9%), and the main floating rates are Hong
Kong Interbank Offer Rate. Gains and losses recognised in the
hedging reserve in equity (Note 20) on interest rate swap contracts
as of 31 December 2009 will be continuously released to the
income statement until the repayment of the bank borrowings.

BB E LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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 TTEBB T A (E)

a) R-ZEZThE+= ﬂ +—HB  RER=2

/JILEiT/EP ﬁilz:clt;:

BHNBER

@%%%3,396,250,00075<:%?%?)\
& : #H9 841,500,0007T) ©

22,

(a)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

As at 31 December 2009, the aggregate notional amount
of the interest rate swaps for cash flow hedge purpose
amounted to HKD3,396,250,000 (2008: HKD1,841,500,000).

—EBENAF
+=-—A=+-—8H
PTEMBITAE
REEW 31 December
EEASD 2009
Outstanding balance of the
notional derivative
principal financial
amount instruments B =! Maturity date
ke 7
HKD HKD
200,000,000 6,157,000 - ==——¢+ AZ+N\BH 28 November 2011
100,000,000 1,001,000 ——F=H=+H 30 March 2012
1,298,125,000 41,964,000 —=FtHA=+—H 31 July 2013
100,000,000 2,450,000 ——F=H=+H 30 March 2012
1,298,125,000 (21,000) ’—’**E‘tﬂ +1HB 29 July 2011
200,000,000 (68,000) — “——i)\ﬂ +—H 31 August 2011
200,000,000 125,000 ——#F#=RA=+H 30 March 2012

3,396,250,000

51,608,000

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

23. PROVISION FOR MAINTENANCE/RESURFACING
OBLIGATIONS - GROUP

2009 2008
FYREFE Opening net book amount 366,426 261,855
W g E A 7] (MY5E41(b)) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 41(b)) 285,809 —
R AER Charged to the income statement:
#ig (M5E31) Additions (Note 31) 143,706 54,929
BERBNREREATZZ (H7F33) Increase due to passage
of time (Note 33) 32,648 27,997
bE = 5E Exchange difference 591 21,645
FREEEFE Closing net book amount 829,180 366,426

ERFAREZHTNEEN—HD - AKE
AR P E BB A RRAETT 4 N K T E 5
MEE e

NEEERTRERAVANRIZREBERFE
NEREENRAXHNRETE  ZHERRE
KhsEeBREENMERETESRROT
fl - BEZRFRIB A MIB N R EER ST SR
= o

BEHREREBN TFERE -

24, WRARES

As part of its obligations under the Service Concessions, the
Group assumes responsibility for maintenance and resurfacing
of the toll roads it manages.

Provision for maintenance/resurfacing obligations are measured
at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

No provision is expected to be utilised in the next year.

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

P | PN
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
BTN Issuer
AR The Company (i) 1,776,430 1,706,676 1,776,430 1,706,676
L=y Shenzhen Expressway (i) 1,426,402 1,360,009 — —
3,202,832 3,066,685 1,776,430 1,706,676
W mBE S Less: current portion () (1,776,430) — | (1,776,430) —
ki) Non-current portion 1,426,402 3,066,685 - 1,706,676

FII BB E R B BR A A] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

24. ARRES (E)

() WAEE  AARNTHREESOEE
mT :

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

()  The movement of convertible bonds of the Company during
the year is as follows:

2009
S&E3H R0
mfE Liability Equity &5t
Face value | component component Total
F1 Beginning of year 1,727,500 1,706,676 209,523 1,916,199
FEER (PHFE33) Interest expense (Note 33) — 69,754 — 69,754
FIR End of year 1,727,500 1,776,430 209,523 1,985,953
2008
BEHH B H
[Nzl Liability Equity &t
Face value | component  component Total
F9 Beginning of year 1,727,500 1,517,977 209,523 1,727,500
FEER (PHFE33) Interest expense (Note 33) — 67,352 — 67,352
IE N =5 Exchange difference — 121,347 — 121,347
FIR End of year 1,727,500 1,706,676 209,523 1,916,199
RZZEZLFE+TZAZ+NAB - XAAM Wi}l\ On 29 December 2007, the Company issued zero coupon convertible

MEEERAER AR (DRI EER]) -
HRITEERE2EHEN AR %ﬂﬁﬁ%
¥ 1,727,500,0007T B = 22 E A 2 /9 0] 12 j%
ﬁ% ERWBRIMEBR L AKERFARAER
NEI([EBAA)100% R RE - FH&
BIERAI N BT HRBF = FANBRESRE
MMERWEEE%%%mﬁM$Qﬂ“
 MAIMBREFN T —ZTF+=A=Th
UU%HDMHW*Lﬁ ZAN/NEIPEY S 1
HEEETARK SR -

AHMERESF2MNEERAERMNEE  BEAE
B ERN X4 40%18 - AIBRKRESEE
MO AR EREEREERD
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bond of HKD1,727,500,000 to Shenzhen Investment Holdings
Company Limited (“SIHCL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Shenzhen
SASAB as the consideration for acquisition of 100% equity interest
in Shenzhen Bao Tong Highway Construction and Development
Limited (“Baotong Company”). SIHCL can convert the bonds from
29 December 2007 for a period of 3 years up to 29 December
2010 (the “maturity date”) into ordinary shares with a par value
of HKDO.1 each of the Company at an initial conversion price of
HKD1.2 per share. If the convertible bond will not be converted
at the maturity date, the Company shall repay the remaining principals
at a predetermined fixed amount of RMB.

Interest expense on the convertible bonds is calculated using
the effective interest method by applying the effective interest of
4.40% to the liability component. The fair values of liability component
of convertible bonds approximate their carrying values.
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24, AIRARES (&) 24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
(i) MAFEE  FISENTHREKESNE (i) The movement of convertible bonds of Shenzhen Expressway
R during the year is as follows:
2009
EEHH ER 0
HE Liability Equity &t
Face value | component component Total
F1 Beginning of year 1,702,804 1,360,009 344,810 1,704,819
&R (PHFE33) Interest expense (Note 33) - 65,399 — 65,399
E N =T Exchange difference - 994 - 994
F IR End of year 1,702,804 1,426,402 344,810 1,771,212
2008
BEHH ‘amabin
[N Liability Equity G
Face value | component  component Total
F) Beginning of year 1,577,287 1,202,028 344,810 1,546,838
&R (PHFE33) Interest expense (Note 33) — 61,725 = 61,725
PE =% Exchange difference 125,517 96,256 — 96,256
F IR End of year 1,702,804 1,360,009 344,810 1,704,819

FINSER_ZETELFE+ A NLHE3ZEIT On9 October 2007, Shenzhen Expressway issued 15,000,000
15,000,000 ZE F| R 51 % [R5 i X 2 MHE  convertible bonds at a par value of RMB1,500,000,000. The bonds
BB ZAEE  ZESFHEEARE  bear face interest of 1% per annum and mature in 6 years from
1,500,000,000 C#t 21T B2 /SFEIHY o 3Zf&  theissue date. Interest is paid annually and the principal is repayable
EBEME  BHER - EHFEFAAERBE  in full upon maturity. The bonds are attached with warrants
BARBEHESFEST 2MHRRMEEREIR  subscription rights which entitle the holders of the bonds subscribe
YD EFBTHARMKRE - E5AERAE®E  newly issued A shares of the Shenzhen Expressway at the rate
REBRIONARBERETESRHET - of 7.2 shares per bond. The fair values of the liability component
and the equity conversion component embedded in the bond
were determined at the date of issuance of the bonds.

FIIBIIE AR B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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24. ARRES (E)

BEBONAAE BEREEFERHE
B HBHE ERSERZIFERE
FHRMBHEHNE - KEFNEASE
NBEBEDBI AR BENKRE  ER
RSB Is s AREE  stARRE
mANEMEET  THRURBZRS
A - ZBEHFNASRFERFPEEE
BITFERINTOTREER - FISRE
BEBENB S RAKA7.30% K & i
BHGETFBREERTFINTHITIEAR
ER o

AR ES 2N EERUAERNEE
BB EHNRERFES50%H - ¥
—ZETAF+T_A=1+—H - mJBKRE
5B BEHXHHNRAEABSBE
1,426,402,000C (Z 2T NF : B
1,360,009,0007T) ° AT BEHFH AR
BEEEZRRASEMNESN TS F A X
455% (ZZZ)\F : 550% ) TiTEH
MEREFTERETE °

RYNBRETHBER Z A EEMHX
RABEEER _ZZEAFTA-_TNAEE
H-BE_FTTNFTA=-+hB A&
70,3261 RIHERITE - TEESER
AR®13.237T  1TERBREE 2 FRLA
78  A R #930,0007T ©

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The fair value of the liability component, included in non-
current liabilities, was calculated using a market interest
rate for a non-convertible bond in the market with equivalent
terms. The residual amount, representing the carrying value
of the bonds after deduction of the fair value of the liability
component, represents fair value of the equity conversion
option, was included in shareholders’ equity under other
reserves, net of the attributable transaction costs. The full
amount of the principal and related interests of the bonds
is guaranteed by the Shenzhen Branch of the Agricultural
Bank of China, which is in turn secured by the 47.30% of
the operating rights of Nanguang Expressway.

Interest expense on the convertible bonds is calculated using
the effective interest method by applying the effective interest
of 5.50% to the liability components. The fair value of liability
components of convertible bonds is HKD1,426,402,000 (2008:
HKD1,360,009,000) as at 31 December 2009. The fair value
of the convertible bonds is calculated using cash flows
discounted at a rate based on a market interest rate for an
equivalent bond at 4.55% (2008: 5.50%) per annum.

The warrants subscription rights attached to the convertible
bonds issued by Shenzhen Expressway matured on 29 October
2009. Up to 29 October 2009, there were totally 70,326
warrants successfully exercised, with an exercise price of
RMB13.23 per share. Shenzhen Expressway received
RMB930,000 for warrant exercise.
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25. DEFERRED INCOME TAX - GROUP

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is

T as follows:
2009 2008
BIEFTISREE Deferred tax assets
— BB+ @A RKE IS — to be recovered after more
than 12 months 235,052 118,527
—E+=EARKE — to be recovered within 12 months 14,340 1,813
249,392 120,340
RE—HRWEERET 2 Offset within the same tax jurisdiction (203,469) (120,340)
BEFMEMEE — 388 Net deferred tax assets 45,923 —
BEFTSMAE Deferred tax liabilities
— BB+ @A ®BKLE By - to be settled after more
than 12 months 1,283,171 978,299
—E+ @A R E D — to be settled within 12 months 604,917 17,962
1,888,088 996,261
RE - EERE T 2 Offset within the same tax jurisdiction (203,469) (120,340)
EXEFEHAaRE — F8 Net deferred tax liabilities 1,684,619 875,921

FII BB E R B BR A A] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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25. ELEFFEH —KE (&) 25. DEFERRED INCOME TAX — GROUP (continued)

BEMSHOBZSMNT - The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as

follows:
2009 2008

n—H—H At 1 January 875,921 937,783
EREEMEmKREID Tax charge relating to components of

r TR IE I other comprehensive income 282,892 39,360
e8P Bk (i FE34) Income statement credit (Note 34) (119,578) (137,461)
W KT E 2 7] (BYEE41(0) Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 41(b)) 598,461 —
bE A= %E Exchange difference 1,000 36,239
R+—RA=+—H At 31 December 1,638,696 875,921

RAFE  BEMEHREEMBERBEZEE The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

A—BHERANEEEROEEHAT - year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances
within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:
BEFBHREE
Deferred tax assets
AREE
ERARE FRB FTREAREK
Provision for ~ BMBM®HE ZEIFHd
maintenance/ Taxable Payroll
resurfacing financial accrued but &5t
obligations subsidies not paid Total
(KiE(a))
(Note (a))
RZZZNF-A—-H#&R Balance at 1 January 2008 65,463 — — 65,463
FiEzRPRA Credited to the income statement 20,413 28,458 = 48,871
IE N =% Exchange differences 5,729 277 — 6,006
RZZTENF+=A Balance at 31
=t+—B#&#% December 2008 91,605 28,735 — 120,340
RZZETNF-A—B&#H Balance at 1 January 2009 91,605 28,735 — 120,340
EEZRPLA/ (HK) Credited/(charged) to the
income statement 44,556 (487) 13,361 57,430
WK B AR Acquisition of subsidiary 71,452 — - 71,452
X =5 Exchange differences 140 19 11 170
ZZTNF+ZHA Balance at 31
Z+ A& December 2009 207,753 28,267 13,372 249,392

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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25. BEFSH &8 (&) 25. DEFERRED INCOME TAX - GROUP (continued)
BEHEHEE
Deferred tax liabilities
BAAEES
ERERNE

BEZAABE  WHHEZ

b&/ (B8 HBEEZ

Fair value A AEENE

gains/(losses)  Fair value
of financial gains of R

assetsat  available- BlEE
fair value for-sale  Concession  A&RKEH
through financial intangible  Convertible ) fit
profit or loss assets assets bonds Others Total
RZEE\E-A-R&H Balance at 1 January 2008 97,856 141,984 686,440 76,966 — 1,008,246
FERTNR Charged to equity
-HEHBAEL L BRD - Change of fair value of
available-for-
sale financial assets — 39,360 — — = 39,360
EREXTIR/ (ZA) Charged to/(credited in)
income statement
-BRrERARRTRL - Change of falr value of financial
BREES assets at fair value through
profit or loss (73915) — — — — (73,915)
—Eft - Others — — (8.921) — 4077 (4,644)
AEhES Convertible bonds - - - (10,081) - (10,031)
EiER Exchange differences = = 36,217 6,028 = 42,245
RIBENETZA=T—-HER Balance at 31 December 2008 23,941 181,344 713,736 72,963 4,217 996,261
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25. IEEFTSH —K£8 (&)

25. DEFERRED INCOME TAX - GROUP (continued)

BEFEHER
Deferred tax liabilities
BOREER
BRIRNE
BEZONEE  WHEEZ
ki/ (BR)  HBEEZ
Fairvalue AAEEKS
gains/(losses)  Fair value
of financial gains of KiiE
assetsat  available- BlVEE
fair value for-sale  Concession  AHRKEH
through financial intangible  Convertible ) ait
profit or loss assets assets bonds Others Total
RoEENE-A-ALH Balance at 1 January 2009 3041 18134 713736 7,063 4T 996,261
FERTNR Charged to equity
- E MBEELLEED - Change of fair value of
available-for-sale
financial assets — 304,144 — — — 304,144
-HETREE HBEERER - Transfer out upon disposal
of available-for-sale
financial assets — (21,252) — — — (21,252)
EREERTNR/ (ZA) Charged tof(credited in)
income statement
-BARERBERTEL - Change of fair value of
HHEES financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (23,941) — — — — (23,941)
~ %t - Others - 563 . 2998 (263%9)
ERES Convertible bonds - - — (11,868) - (11,868)
WERB AR Acquisition of a subsiclary — — 669,913 — — 669,913
ERER Exchange differences = = 663 38 469 1170
RZZENET-R=T-R&H Balance at 31 December 2009 - 464,236 1,327,989 61,133 34,730 1,888,088

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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25. ELEFEH —KE (&) 25. DEFERRED INCOME TAX — GROUP (continued)

ERH i 2T U R AU AR 2B 1D B ARV FRIBINBR 40 The tax charge relating to components of other comprehensive
N income is as follows:
2009 2008
BeA  HENR Bi# B¥A  HENK Bi#
Before tax  Tax charge Aftertax ~ Beforetax  Tax charge After tax
e MBEERABRE Fair value gains on available
-for-sale financial assets 1,309,157 (304,144) 1,005,013 67,751 (39,360 28,391
RETRME HBEE Transfer of fair value gain to
DMAENRERRRR income statement upon
disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets (102,662) 21,252 (81,410) — — —
TERBIALAEER Fair value losses on derivative
financial instruments (5,640) - (5,640) (49,211) — (49,211)
KIFEBHASTEL Derecognition of cash flow hedge 5,210 - 5,210 — = =
REFEHfELNERRR Revaluation surplus arising from
business combination 1,316,175 (338,005) 978,170 — — —
EHEREE Currency translation differences 10,013 — 10,013 643,845 = 643,845
2,532,253 (620,897) 1,911,356 662,385 (39,360) 623,025

(a) tOTEFTEES34(a)Frilt - R=ZZZ )\ FFII
BR - BB AR KA R AR BAIF
EESHRBEM XS K
MW AER T EHANEEMRSH
AR¥39,236,0007T (E® 44,541,000
TL) o IRBEHBSNE@EATE %S5

(a)

As explained in further details in Note 34(a), Shenzhen
Expressway, Meiguan Company and Jihe East Company
became liable to pay PRC corporate income tax of
RMB39,236,000 (HKD44,541,000) during 2008 for certain
financial subsidies and incentives granted by local governments
and received by the Group in prior years. They were initially

BRARBSRBRERKA - KEE exempt from taxation according to the provisions of certain
EH MK RER WA BEEERN policies promulgated by the local government authorities.
BEzE  GTABEBEXRNMABHL S The Group was advised by the relevant local tax authorities

B WAERFREEABER
IR A A AL AT HABR ©

MHZSENEEERERZETHE
MEEEBRRERESEABZHE25%
HEMERELEFSREEARK
24,884,0007T (78%28,267,0007T) (==&
TNF: AR¥25,313,0007T (&4
28,458,0007T) ) °

that after settlement of these tax charges, any future
amortisation of the related financial subsidies, which have
been deferred on the balance sheet of the Group, would
be allowed to claim tax deductions for income tax reporting
purposes in the future.

Accordingly, deferred tax assets of RMB24,884,000
(HKD28,267,000) (2008:RMB25,313,000 (HKD28,458,000))
had been recognised on such deductible temporary differences
originating from the accounting base and tax base of these
subsidies based on a tax rate of 25%, which is the tax rate
expected to enact when a substantial portion of such temporary
differences reverse.

FIIBERIE LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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26. ELEWA-KHE

26. DEFERRED INCOME - GROUP

2009 2008

FE R R (E Opening net book amount 33,608 65,805
EEREED (H:E30) Recognised in the income

statement (Note 30) (83,575) (31,886)

PE o =55 Exchange difference (33) (311)

IR BE T R E Closing net book amount — 33,608

RIEW AR BE B EER T 2%
AREEZYREHEER L - YRAFRMIZ
2%1’/\/\/ Lﬁ_tﬁ@ﬂ/b\ °

RAFH 2 BEERSE

27. EHREAMEMNK

BB

Deferred income represents the amounts granted by the PRC
local government authorities, which are applied to designated
logistic projects and recognised in the income statement on a

systematic basis over the period to match with the cost being
subsidised.

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

rEE NS
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
LR E 2 (a) Trade payables (a) 110,162 45,5692 — =
TIRESREE Payables for
ERZRERE construction projects
and quality deposits 1,218,891 1,109,237 — —
TiREREA E Guaranteed deposits for
BARES construction projects
contracts 160,613 230,514 = =
TIREHRESE Project funds retained
THE#E ﬁ%gﬁ for construction
management contracts 35,081 27,595 — —
TEIREH Accrued expenses 4,206 9,477 — =
RATUREE SR (b) Payable for the
acquisition (b) — 979,631 — —
BEARRNR(O) Advance from an
associate (c) 52,823 52,787 — —
ISR AR EYIER Payables relating to
BE (ETIEE]) Guangshen Yanjiang
FE ST 3R (d) Expressway
(Shenzhen Section)
Project
(“Yanjiang Project”) (d) 10,650 340,561 — —
H b pE 2R Other payables 493,715 438,585 10,070 2,458
2,086,141 3,233,979 10,070 2,458
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27. ¥EBRHEMENLR (E) 27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
(a) HEFENFHOERERAT (a) The ageing analysis of the trade payables was follows:
AEH
Group
2009 2008
0—90H 0-90 days 99,300 39,434
91—180H 91-180 days 444 344
181—365H 181-365 days 9,415 5,144
365H A Over 365 days 1,003 670
110,162 45,592
b)) WHBEBR-_ZEZNF+_A=1+—HA (b) Thebalance at31 December 2008 represented the remaining
REBRDFEIITRE BUEFRINTIRE acquisition consideration owed to Shenzhen SASAB for the
BAERELAT (DREEZAF])100% acquisition of 100% equity interest in Shen Guang Hui Highway
Bmm#HR  YERZZEZEANFAX Development Company (“Shen Guang Hui Company”). The
o amount was settled in 20009.
(c) WHBEAAREBEBLARMRI=IEAA (c) Theserepresentthe interest-free advance from Nanjing Third
REBNF o Bridge Company, an associate of the Group.
(d) #Z#pERFISERER —BEEERES (d The balances related to the Yanjiang Project managed by

RI(T&E)MRELTIHEESR - RE
ZER - RIS R A B REREITIA
BEVEE KeERpEREHTREEER
i’% o

RZZEZENFT_A=+—BHHRES
EARYIEE BT RENRINIREE K
WEREHANBEANBEEERARE
300,000,0007T (#¥340,561,0007T) °
B-ZTAF+— ARJIIREZERER
YSERRFT THIRBARR RIS
EAG R ERA /A TRAZRESER
HBREZRABR - R_ZETNF+ A
=+—H ZHRBR/EETIAEBHEBN
e ZFE - ZREREERRAITIER
ERBREMENT5%CHE

Shenzhen Expressway under a management service contract
(the “Contract”). Under the Contract, Shenzhen Expressway
provides project management services for the construction,
operation and maintenance of the Yanjiang Project to the
government authority.

At 31 December 2008, the balance represented 6-month
loan of RMB300,000,000 (HKD340,561,000) received from
SIHCL, which acts on behalf of the government authority.
After Shenzhen Expressway entered into the Contract with
SIHCL in November 2009, Shenzhen Expressway offset the
loans received against the construction advances made for
the Yanjiang Project. As at 31 December 2009, the balance
represented the net payable relating to the Yanjiang Project.
The management service revenue of Yanjiang Project is 1.5%
of the construction budget.

FIIBIIE AR B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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28. WA 28. REVENUE
2009 2008
e /NS Toll Road
—RREBWA - Toll revenue 2,513,742 2,037,165
— B E B — Construction revenue
ZREEIRA under Service Concession 1,211,696 3,644,727
i & Logistic Parks 176,761 147,441
Y7 AR %5 Logistic Service 178,173 122,281
SEAE Head Office 577 —
4,080,949 5,951,614
Hitrzs — F 88 29. OTHER GAINS - NET
2009 2008
HERAREBEEB Gain on disposals of financial
BRI assets at fair value
BEZ W through profit or loss 96,578 34,080
BEARESEBEER Fair value losses on financial
ARV BEE assets at fair value
AREBE through profit or loss — (197,946)
PTETBEIEZ Fair value losses on derivative
AREBE financial instruments (5,057) —
HEHZ QA Gain on disposals of investments
W 2 W s in associates —_ 290,210
WM - WERRE - Reversal of impairment of property,
FAELH - i plant and equipment,
ERERAEMEE leasehold land, land use rights
BEREBEEM and other leased assets 3,300 —
HEHEE 2B Gain on disposals of available-
BE 7 W for-sale financial assets 258,245 —
HEWE BEK Gain on disposals of property,
=z W plant and equipment 4,511 18,681
HEREMHE Loss on disposals of
) 3= investment properties (1,060) —
U [B] £ s (8 Net compensation
2R on land resumption 21,177 —
Hh Others 14,146 15,125
391,840 160,150
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30. HAzl A 30. OTHERINCOME
2009 2008
BT Bl (P 5£26) Government grants (Note 26) 33,575 31,886
HERKA Rental income 18,352 31,114
A% B W A Dividend income 17,899 26,920
Hh Others 16,233 14,862
86,059 104,782
3. EMELENER 31. EXPENSES BY NATURE
FIFESHEKA - DK - EBERA MK EME Expenses included in cost of sales, distribution costs,
CERANEBERSTAOT : administrative expenses and other operating expenses are
analysed as follows:
2009 2008
REET & 2 HE Construction cost under
2 BAERK AN Service Concession 1,210,811 3,643,105
NEEER ERE Provision for maintenance/
resurfacing obligations 143,706 54,929
e #BHER Depreciation, amortisation and
BB E 1B impairment losses 561,548 422 852
EERAFXZ Employee benefit
(FF3£32) expenses (Note 32) 239,342 182,502
ER KA Transportation expenses 169,479 115,942
HERX Rental charges 26,507 15,400
HMRE N Other tax expenses 92,749 76,347
THERERKEEE Commission and management
fee for toll roads 222,294 196,911
% 1A B Auditors’ remuneration 8,048 8,718
EEREEFBAE Legal and consultancy fees 12,757 27,5637
Hh Others 183,798 158,581
2,871,039 4,902,824
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32. BERAIBAX

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

2009 2008
T & K& Wages and salaries 201,270 141,693
RRE KA — Pension costs — defined
AEEFEE contribution plans 13,420 12,531
Hh, Others 24,652 28,278
239,342 182,502
H-ZETTF+_H—AHE - $'§@“A‘§§F From 1 December 2000, a MPF scheme is set up for eligible
TIEITFRIEAERNBBETLRE - K&EE  employees in Hong Kong of the Group. Contributions to the MPF
MEIMBESE 2 HAKTEIE®RIESETE]  Scheme by the Group and employees are calculated at rates
ZRAIFTET 2 L lztE - @i stE8l 2 EEE  specified in the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
REBZEENH ABUEE2ESHEAF °  MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group by an

K‘ilﬁﬁdﬁﬂiﬂI%:FBﬁJ%Qﬁllﬂqﬂéi@ﬁﬁ

R B BIRIRET BN - B BE M BRA  we
EEARERARE LRIGERKRE T ZRINE
MEME - WEFAS Z2HRARELERERF SRS
KPR -

BRAEBRBER(CTENF - B) EFAKD
A FRIVRAFRER D RAREROFHE
B e

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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independently administered fund.

The Group also contributes to employee retirement schemes
established by the PRC local governments in respect of certain
subsidiaries in the PRC. The PRC local governments undertake
to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired employees of the Group. Contributions to these
schemes are charged to the consolidated income statement as
incurred.

No forfeited contributions (2008: Nil) were utilised during the year
and none is available at the year-end to reduce future contribution.
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(a) EBRSREEEZMN

BHE_TTNEFE+_A=+—RHILFE 8%

EEWHEMMT

4= A

W N

A BHRARNE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BREFIFERES) - BT B 2 881 LB F oL AL T)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

2009 is set out below:

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31 December

BIRGHEM KEEZR

EIfty BUNEE

Employer’s Compensation

Higke Hft#8F contribution  for loss of
we ¥4 Discretionary Other  to pension office as a5
BENS Name of director Fees Salary bonuses benefits scheme director Total
HR Guo Yuan — 272 636 — 90 — 998
E3 %1 Li Jing Qi — 272 604 — 90 — 966
e Liu Jun = 693 124 12 75 — 904
8 Yang Hai — 861 226 17 59 — 1,163
it To Chi Keung, Simon — = = = = = =
TES Wang Dao Hal — — — = = = =

RER Leung Ming Yuen,

Simon 300 — — — — — 300
Till Ding Xun 300 - — - - - 300
BEX Nip Yun Wing 300 — — — — — 300
4,931
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32. RE®AMAX (&)

(a) ESRESREZEEFHMN (B)

BE_ZZN\E+_A=+—RHILFE 8%
E=NHEMMT :

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments
(continued)

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31 December
2008 is set out below:

RN I XrE8%

EEfR  BuMEE

Employer's  Compensation

RfEe Eft8F  contribution  for loss of

e ¢ Discretionary Other  to pension office as 43
BEMA Name of director Fees Salary bonuses benefits scheme director Total
R Guo Yuan - 276 529 - 89 - 894
£ 4 Li Jing Qi - 276 489 - 89 — 854
E Liu Jun - 703 22 13 74 - 812
58 Yang Hai - 811 205 17 61 - 1,004
it To Chi Keung, Simon — — — — — _ _
TS Wang Dao Hai — — — _ _ _ _
R Zhang Hua Qiao — — — — — _ _
IhE Wang Hang Jun — = = — — _ _
RER Leung Ming Yuen,
Simon 300 — — — — = 300
T& Ding Xun 300 - - = — — 300
BHAR Nip Yun Wing 300 - — — — _ 300
4,554

R-ZEZENF+-_A=1+—HILEE TRk
£ EFEFAERIELE=RESTHRINE
ZEEMEBEEA42, 500 (ZZEZ)N\F : B
545,0007T) * &¥474,3007C (Z 2T )\ & :
B #586,0007T) M AE 295 5007 (ZEEN
£ : & ¥388,0007T) °

R-EZNFR_ZEENGFT_A=1t—HL
FE FAEBYERNEENMESIERRER
MARENARE B 2 B ER/RERN
ZEEfE -

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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During the year ended 31 December 2009, Messrs Guo Yuan,
Li Jing Qi and Liu Jun have waived directors’ emoluments of
HKD442,500 (2008: HKD545,000), HKD474,300 (2008:
HKD586,000) and HKD295,500 (2008: HKD388,000) respectively.

During the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008, no
emoluments had been paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation
for loss of office.
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32. EEBHABX (&) 32. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)
(b) AfluEREHAL (b) Five highest paid individuals

AEEAEEANRERSFMALBEIE—S The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the

—TTEN\F: —R)EHF - HBE P EH R X Group for the year include one (2008: one) director whose

2N e BRI E (T )/\F  WA)HE=%H  emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The

ALZMESHTET emoluments payable to the remaining four (2008: four) individuals
during the year are as follows:

2009 2008
HEARFH & MER Basic salaries and allowances 4,502 4,376
TE4L Bonuses 1,715 1,615
RIKE TSR Contributions to the
retirement scheme 142 146
H b 18 7| Other benefits 82 83
6,441 6,220
EHFMETIESHER - The emoluments fell within the following bands:
A
Number of individuals
2009 2008
N Es E Emolument band
78 #1,000,001 7T — 78 #1,500,0007T HKD1,000,001 — HKD1,500,000 3 3
78 #£2 500,001 7T — 78 #3,000,0007T HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 — 1
783,000,001 7T — 74 #£ 3,500,000 HKD3,000,001 — HKD3,500,000 1 —

FII BB E R B BR A A] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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33. MU AR R A

33. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

2009 2008
MEE Interest expense
—fﬁﬁ &5 — Bank borrowings and
EMmER other borrowings 500,482 437,121
— AR AR E 55 (Ft a1 24) — Convertible bonds (Note 24) 135,153 129,077
—fEx - Bonds 66,538 66,194
—HEMFESEA (M:E23) — Other interest expense (Note 23) 32,648 27,997
W ERIEZ Less: interest expenses
& AREF B capitalised in construction
in progress (165,774) (214,628)
569,047 445,761
TEFRF KA Interest income from bank deposits (27,952) (61,866)
B 7S B AN JF 5B Net finance costs 541,095 383,895

“EENGF - BERRBLARNA BERER
EMELI&F@FEE’JFEWZK&NK L
165,774 000713(47 TNEFE B
214,628,0007E) B E- N FiIkN
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%lﬁi%ﬁﬁ%lﬁza’ﬂ%%ﬁzﬁﬁmtﬁﬁ
RANFEEREENT5.35%26.12% (= F
TN\F :593%%F7.05% ) > HMEEKAKRE
EFERANFEEREE A3.63% (ZTT )N\
F o E) o

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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Borrowing costs of HKD165,774,000 (2008: HKD214,628,000)
have been capitalised for the construction of toll roads and related
facilities and other construction in progress in 2009. Borrowing
costs arising on financing specifically arranged for the construction
of toll roads and related facilities were capitalised using the rates
ranged from 5.35 % to 6.12% (2008: 5.93% to 7.05%) per annum,
and other borrowing costs were capitalised using an average
interest rate of 3.63% (2008: Nil) per annum.
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34. FRiEH

REERAFE AR E S M E L AR
&N - MU EPFEFEVEL ERE - FEA
SR 2 R AN TR IR A R B R L R TP
EHRBZBRER  REBERTRIREE %
BRAtE 2 BITHEFH -

SABSROPECEMERERBARAY
B AR A R R ERR A RS A8
Bz R2EMER20% (ZTZTN\F : 18%) &t

St

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

34. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong during the
year. Taxes on overseas profits have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof.

The PRC corporate income tax charged to the income statement
was calculated based on the assessable profits of the Company’s
subsidiaries located in the PRC of the year at a rate of 20%

8o (2008: 18%) applicable to the respective companies.
2009 2008
EHSH Current income tax
FEZEG PRC corporate income tax 386,463 327,504
EXEFTS L (MI5E25) Deferred income tax (Note 25) (119,578) (137,461)
266,885 190,043

FII BB E R B BR A A] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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34. FRfE® (&) 34. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

AEBEBGHRAAN 2 HBELRBERAZLRSE  The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical

BEEWNEARLLEMEPEEANZIIA  amount that would arise using the preferential tax rate in Shenzhen,

BEREMAE 2 ERUBIEBAT ¢ the PRC, the location in which the Group’s major subsidiaries
operate as follows:

2009 2008
B 754 A & A Profit before income tax 1,443,983 1,156,665
R R 20% Tax calculated at a tax rate
(ZZEZENF : 18%) of 20% (2008: 18%) 288,797 208,200
AAEZHIE
MR B Tax impact of:
— H b 3b [= S [ B X — Different tax rates in
other locations 4,487 10,638
—RBRESER A — Profit earned during tax holidays (2,267) (2,438)
—\EART 2 A - Income not subject to tax (37,936) (49,945)
— RAI B 2 2 H - Expenses not deductible
for tax purposes 37,174 27,706
—RERZHIE — Unrecognised tax loss 14,358 9,063
— (R HEREG E — Share of profit of jointly controlled
NP entities and associates (59,454) (40,831)
— (R HEREG E S — Share of losses of jointly controlled
K Bt & N RS 1B entities and associates — 7,720
— JEHIRR B — Withholding tax on dividend 21,726 4,277
— BRI FEESEHD — Additional levies on certain
b 75 B IR 4 B A local financial subsidies
RGN %R received in previous years — 44,111
— BRI FEER - Deferred income tax asset arising
iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂl’\‘_&i‘%ﬁﬁﬁ from PRC corporate income tax
WA ERERH paid on local financial subsidies
EEZIREFED received in previous years — (28,458)
Frig a5 Income tax expense 266,885 190,043

WA NEERRASELEMESREERNSEEE ©  Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
REEBRAIGEELENARRERTAFEIRAN forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
ARG ZMER - R-ZZNF+_H= through future taxable profits is probable. At 31 December 2009,
+—H  NEEWER A EEAIKEARRER  the Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
HEMEOEEE®71,789,000T (—ZTZ )\  HKD14,358,000 (2008: HKD9,063,000) in respect of losses
£ & #39,936,0007T) FERIRLEFMEFEZE amounting to HKD71,789,000 (2008:HKD39,936,000) that can
B 14,368,000 (ZZEZN\F : B,  Dpe carried forward against future taxable income.
9,063,0007T) °

il FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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FRiE#H (&)

KEFBRBE R MY REREENE
BE—_ZSZEN\FEHFRIITIEREMH
HKRHENEEREMNER  FIIWmE
A FHERARNEEE BN - BIE
ZEA R ER  BEARREAER
RAIMBEEMSHARKG0,472,000
7T (&%67,986,0007T) @ AEBEAES
EAAR®E57,986,0007m (K
65,192,0007T) ([T BEDFEMSE
Bl - HHEPHECEMERISHBEAE
B 72 LA BT 4F [E 15 89 30 75 B B 14 # Bk Uk
A o IR IE B BE b 5 KT S0P 28 M A
o S BB A BRI A R A
TEMREH - MBEBN - BEBAE
PFIBE T AEBERBZECEMBHRA

B -

AEB—FEELRFITH A LD
RBEESN EAFR  RFEXEK
HE I REMBTEXRER AR EEE
MEMBTR - BEBEAEEERYITEH
MEBRZRBBNER  ZERAEER
AEREATRCEMSHREBEEAE T
REeZ M AR 18,750,0007T (B4
21,080,0007T) ° At - AEEEEEZ
TENE+-_A=+—HILWHEEEZE
YRR EENFEATRCERSHRA
EHAEHER (M:E25() ) °

BEAGAVBEBRRUER - HHADE
CEFEHRNEE AT - ARE®
ZHRATER  AEARREERR/E
AARAHTBREXMENRNBEESER
RH AR -_ZZENFERRERINE
o

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

34. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(a)

Pursuant to the results of a special examination performed
on the local tax bureau of Shenzhen, which was conducted
by the Shenzhen Finance Supervision Commissioner’s Office
of the Ministry of Finance in 2008, Shenzhen Expressway,
Meiguan Company and Jihe East Company were collectively
demanded by the Futian Tax Bureau in the Notice to pay
PRC corporate income tax amounting to approximately
RMB60,472,000 (HKD67,986,000). The amount attributable
to the Group is RMB57,986,000 (HKD65,192,000) (the “Back
Taxes”). The Back Taxes were levied on certain local financial
subsidies and incentives granted by local government
authorities, obtained and received by the Group in previous
years, which were initially exempt from income taxes according
to the provisions of certain policies promulgated by the local
government authorities. Such exemptions were revoked by
the authorities as a result of the examination.

The Group had lodged an application to the Futian Tax Bureau
for a reassessment of the computation basis of the Back
Taxes, a waiver of the related penalty, as well as a deferral
of the payment. Subsequently, several rounds of discussion
were held between the Group and the Futian Tax Bureau.
According to these communications, the Group consider
that the final amount of the Back Taxes would highly probable
be reduced by RMB18,750,000 (HKD21,080,000). Accordingly,
the Group had recognised a provision for the Back Taxes
as current year income tax expense in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2008
(Note 25(a)).

As at the date of approval of these financial statements,
the amount of the Back Taxes, the related penalty and the
exact settlement arrangements had not yet been finalised.
The directors of the Company considered that the amount
of provision for the Back Taxes recognised was sufficient
and thus no additional provision has been made during 2009.

FIIBERIE LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. RAFAREFEAELERRT

AARREREE ARAFEEERENBERERR
R SRR P B S5 A5 181,627,000
(ZZZTN\F : BFE17,525,00075T) ° fAH
T4.2(a)fTilt  AEER _ZEZLF+ A=
+faﬁﬁima o BE R 2R B B R A B B

AaEl - RRREERBAFTEETERMBER
RIERERE - R—_TETENF+_A=+—H "
KRN AE A B B A S 2,157,255,0007T
—EBENE : $%2,442,291,0007T) (FfFE
20(iv) )

ARBNRERHKEBOT -

35. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent of
HKD 81,627,000 (2008: profit HKD 17,525,000). As described
in Note 4.2(a), the Group has significant amount of distributable
profits from its PRC subsidiaries prior to 31 December 2007.
The directors of the Company do not require its PRC subsidiaries
to declare dividends in the year. Distributable reserve of the Company
at 31 December 2009 amounted to HKD2,157,255,000 (2008:
HKD2,442,291,000) (Note 20(iv)).

The movement of the retained earnings of the Company is as
below:

KA F
Company

2009 2008
F 1] Beginning of year 2,174,253 2,796,816
FE (&8, HF (Loss)/profit for the year (81,627) 17,525
% B Dividends (203,409) (640,088)
FR End of year 1,889,217 2,174,253
36. EREF 36. EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) ER (a) Basic

BREXRBNRBARRRREREARIGE
A - BRAFABRBRITE B ME A &

St

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number

5o of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2009 2008

RARRERE A Profit attributable to equity holders

&G & A of the Company 865,859 574,986
BT T BRI INE Weighted average number of ordinary

FEHE (T4 shares in issue (thousands) 14,037,374 14,154,014
FREXRAZF Basic earnings per share

(=B (HK cents per share) 6.17 4.06

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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36. BRER (&)
(b) #§

BREERN I EBRRAA A ETNELEER
BRI - ERED BIT SRR INEFS
REMEEF/E - AR ARMAR#ENE

BER AT RRES R ERE o (T RBRESR
RIS E R - 0% BN S8 A S A
BERRRBETE - ERERE - RIBERTTE
BREAMORBENERER BERAA
B (BE/RRARBRMNNTFHAFETE) TEA
MR EE < A LT AFTENRMHEUE - &
REBRETEMES RTHNRMOEE EL

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has two
categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares: convertible bonds
and share options. The convertible bonds are assumed to have
converted into ordinary shares, and the net profit is adjusted to
eliminate the interest expense less the tax effect. For the share
options, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares
that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average annual market share price of the Company’s shares)
based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
to outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated
as above is compared with the number of shares that would
have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

2009 2008

RARERFEA Profit attributable to equity holders

JiE 15 B 7| of the Company 865,859 574,986
AR ESFEE A Interest expense on convertible bonds 69,754 —
FALATEE B % Profit used to determine diluted

#E A A earnings per share 935,613 574,986
BT T BRI Weighted average number of ordinary

8 (FAL) shares in issue (thousands) 14,037,374 14,154,014
FE AR (T Adjustments — share options (thousands) 51,586 69,954
FE - AR ES Adjustments — conversion of

53 (F62) convertible bonds (thousands) 1,439,583 —
AESREERMW Weighted average number of

T B IR & AN ordinary shares for diluted

FEHE(F4) earnings per share (thousands) 15,528,543 14,223,968
EREERT Diluted earnings per share

(BB (HK cents per share) 6.03 4.04

HE-_ZZ ) \F+-_A=+—HILFE » %#¥ The impact of conversion of convertible bonds to earnings per

R ESHERBNAEREETE - share is anti-dilutive for the year ended 31 December 2008.
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37. BRE

E_ZEENFRAIMNOBRERE_SENFE
REARR B8 # 203,398,000 T (BB
0.01457T) - E_ZEZENFAXNHRE BT
—ETLFERAARE BB 142,182,000
(Bl E®0.01 L) REFRIKREEK
497,636,0007T (B 0.0357T) - R=F
—ZF=ZA1+=HNEZ  BEFEZ_TZT
NFE RIS BFZIRAEE0.01467T @ HFRIK

BEAEERAERK0.0071 T AstABE
306,880,0007T ° WEREBRBREBAF RS
BEIE  c AMBHRERRRBIIESEMSK

B o
15N

cial Statements

37. DIVIDENDS

The year of 2008 final dividend paid in 2009 amounted to
HKD203,398,000 (HKDO0.0145 per share). The year of 2007 final
dividend and special dividend paid in 2008 were HKD142,182,000
(HKDO0.01 per share) and HKD497,636,000 (HKDO0.035 per share),
respectively. At the meeting dated 23 March 2010, the directors
recommend the payment of the year of 2009 final dividend of
HKDO0.0146 per ordinary share and special dividend of HKD0.0071
per ordinary share, totalling HKD306,880,000. Such dividends
are to be approved by the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. These financial statements do not reflect this
as dividend payable.

2009 2008
BRAHKE - Zi% Proposed final dividend of
AT #0.01467T HKDO0.0146 (2008: HKD0.0145)
(ZZEZT)\F : #&%0.01457T) per ordinary share 206,472 203,398
BEKERRE @ 5K Proposed special dividend of
BB #0.00717 HKDO0.0071 (2008: Nil)
(ZZEZENF + |) per ordinary share 100,408 —
306,880 203,398

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

38. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(a) BHAIANEFELELTHMANIRS (@ Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash used in

HERFJAN operations is set out as below:
2009 2008
B 352 A & 7 Profit before income tax 1,443,983 1,156,665
FHEIEE - Adjustments for:
— ¥ & (HI3E6) - Depreciation (Note 6) 136,537 114,777
—HELH - £ — Amortisation of leasehold land,
FRAEREMHEERE land use rights and
2 B 3E (f5E8) other leased assets (Note 8) 22,924 12,672
— B EE — Amortisation of intangible
(Ft5E10) assets (Note 10) 402,087 282,911
—WE - MERRE — (Reversal of impairment)/
2 (#[E) RE impairment of property,
(B zE6) plant and equipment (Note 6) (660) 1,691
— |\ EE MR (Fi5E10) — Write off intangible assets (Note 10) — 1,388
—MHELH - THEAE — (Reversal of impairment)/impairment
FEMEEEEY of leasehold land, land use rights and
(8E) RE (fEs) other leased assets (Note 8) (2,640) 6,766
—BEWATEEBER - Deferred income recognised in
TR (Ft5E26) the income statement (Note 26) (33,575) (31,886)
—REEERME — Provision for maintenance/
B (M97E23) resurfacing obligations (Note 23) 143,706 54,929
— EBREWFORE — Provision for impairment
B (fEE17) of trade receivables (Note 17) — 158
—HEUHEEZHB — Gain on disposals of available-for-
BE 2 W (M15E29) sale financial assets (Note 29) (258,245) —
—HEREMEZ — Loss on disposals of investment
B 18 (M97E29) properties (Note 29) 1,060 —
—HEWE - BEK — Gain on disposals of property,
& W (MEE29) plant and equipment (Note 29) (4,511) (18,681)
—HEBERR R — Gain on disposals of investments
Z e (f15E29) in associates (Note 29) —_ (290,210)
— e T E 2 — Gain on net compensation
F e (MFEE29) on land resumption (Note 29) (21,177) —

FIIBIIE AR B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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38. BEELEMRE (8)

38. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(continued)

(a) MHAi&AAEE AL ELTHMANIRS () Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash used in

HEERWOT © (&)

operations is set out as below: (continued)

2009 2008
FEIAE ¢ Adjustments for:
—HEZRARE — Gain on disposals of financial
FRBm R W assets at fair value
BE 2 e (M15E29) through profit or loss (Note 29) (96,578) (34,080)
—BRARESEABERLRR — Fair value losses on financial
ZUHBEEARE assets at fair value through
&5 18 (M9 5E29) profit or loss (Note 29) — 197,946
—REYERNE — Fair value (gains)/losses on
(Wz) 518 (FEE7) investment properties (Note 7) (347) 4,035
—F B A (FF7E33) — Interest income (Note 33) (27,952) (61,866)
—F B &R (7E33) - Interest expense (Note 33) 569,047 445,761
—PTEMBIAZ — Fair value losses/(gains) of
ARhEEEER derivative financial
(M=) (FH5E22) instruments (Note 22) 5,057 (7,143)
—E(hEE &N R],HE — Share of profit of associates/
EHIER AT jointly controlled entities
(Bt&E12 % F15E13) (Note 12 and Note 13) (297,269) (226,838)
— iR B A - Dividend received (17,899) —
HEBREE Changes in working capital
(TERENBRER (excluding the effect of exchange
EHEBNTE) : differences on consolidation):
— 5 R E A R UK — Trade and other receivables 259,375 (155,398)
— X REAMEARK — Trade and other payables (388,423) (76,650)
LEBELENES Cash generated from operations 1,834,500 1,376,947

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

38. ¥ EELMNRE (B) 38. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
(continued)
(b) ERERERAN  HEWE -  #ENK (b) Inthe statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposals of
ERRSREEE property, plant and equipment comprise:

2009 2008
BREFE (M 5E6) Net book amount (Note 6) 7,132 11,239
& e (f1EE29) Gain on disposal (Note 29) 4,511 18,681
HEEX Proceeds from disposal 11,643 29,920
(c) ZeHBABEIMWEZFITEZEERE () Theamount represented net cash outflows on the acquisitions

BRARAR ([ERR]) 2 BB
22,767,0007T (FtzE41(a) ) ~ UnBEM R
NEZHRIBHEN,124,286,0007T (M 5F
41(b) ) U ERZZETNF R 2 WHE R
ERARNAREEHIER 979,631,000
TR E N 2 8RB 4,837,000
=

of Shenzhen International Huatongyuan Logistics Co., Ltd.
(“Huatongyuan”), of HKD22,767,000 (Note 41(a)) and Jihe
East Company of HKD1,124,286,000 (Note 41(b)) and the
settlements of outstanding considerations arising from the
acquisition of Shen Guang Hui Company of HKD979,631,000
and the acquisition of Qinglian Company of HKD4,837,000
which both were completed in 2008.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. U BERRIBIEE

39. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) R—_ZZNF+_-_A=+—H A&EE (a Asat31December 2009, the Group has the following financial
MBRERET - guarantees:
REE PIN/N|
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
TRl HEBAERITRIK ©  Irrevocable banking guarantee:
— BB (i) — Related parties (i) 57,935 74,923 — —
AEE b /NG|
Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
IRAIRITRIE 2 (D ¥EER © Corporate guarantees for bank
=G facilities utilised by:
— Subsidiaries — — — 200,484
() IEEZEESR ()  Project Construction Management Contracts

N —HEE R ﬂrlitiai,ﬁﬁféixaﬁz%iél
2 FRERE R R ARREAR
%50,000,0007c(/%%56,799,00071))SU\E
#1,000,0007T (B%1,136,0007T) B9 A~ AT fa $4
JBHIRITIR K o
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In associated with Nanping (Phase Il) Project and the renovation
project of the Shenyun-North Ring Interchange in Shenzhen,
Shenzhen Expressway had arranged with banks to issue irrevocable
performance guarantees on its behalf to the Shenzhen
Communications Bureau amounting to RMB50,000,000
(HKD56,799,000) and RMB1,000,000 (HKD1,136,000) respectively.
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MBRARIBEE (&)

R-ZFZOFE+-ANA - FIISERE
RORINT A E IR Z R BT RER T
BhERITEREZEEEER A A
(DRYIMEE ) FATEREF —HHaE
Rl - R -TELFERINBHELHZZE
RERBATHFNEBMERNEERA
REZ RARYFHEZESHBME - B
ERGEMBRRULER  ZFRHEE
BIEZH - RIEZA FA B IGRN 2
BER AEEEERRZMHERTE
BAEERLENRELBEARATE °

RZZZEWFRA—B RleRER
ARYTHFEEZRNEFER—HH
EEMERBBEBEIARAA (K
W) R EEEF—HNaR - R-F
ZANF+-A REEHZERET A
DEEBEMBRNIEEREERAR
& AARJTHFREREEHFME - B
ENGEMBHRRALER  ZHFREE
BB 2H o IRI\ZE R A BRI 2 ED
BER AEEEERRZMAHERTE
HAKEREUREEERBHRTE -

HTRERAEHERTAE

kS FE25(@)FTit - R=ZTETNF+=A
—t+t—HBHAEEEIRERIEEEEA
R #39,236,0007T (&% 44,571,000
J0) ° BIEAREGA MK IER - EHE
SR  BRE  UARBRTH AR
BIRFETE ©

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES

(0)

(continued)

At 8 December 2004, the Shenzhen Expressway signed a
construction contract with Shenzhen Pengcheng Construction
Company Limited (“Shenzhen Pengcheng”) for Nanping (Phase
l) Project. As disputes concerning the unit prices of some
items under the construction contract arose that were not
resolved by mutual agreement, Shenzhen Pengcheng applied
for arbitration to Shenzhen Arbitration Commission against
the Shenzhen Expressway in 2007. As at the date of approval
of these financial statements, the arbitration process was
still in progress. The directors of the Company had sought
advice from the legal counsel and concluded that the result
of the arbitration would not lead to any significant adverse
impact on the Group’s operating results.

On 1 June 2004, Shenzhen Expressway signed a construction
contract with Jilin Great Wall Construction Company Limited
(“Great Wall”) for Nanping (Phase I) Project. As disputes
concerning construction volume and the unit prices of some
items under the contract arose that were not resolved by
mutual agreement, Great Wall applied for arbitration to
Shenzhen Arbitration Commission against Shenzhen
Expressway in December 2009. As at the date of approval
of these financial statements, the arbitration process was
still in progress. The directors had sought advice from the
legal counsel and concluded that the result of the arbitration
would not lead to any significant adverse impact on the
Group’s operating results.

Penalty on Back Taxes

As mentioned in Note 25(a), the Group had made a provision
for the Back Taxes liabilities in the amount of RMB39,236,000
(HKD44,571,000) as at 31 December 2009. As at the date
of approval of these financial statements, the amount of
the Back Taxes, the related penalty and the exact settlement
arrangements had not yet been finalised.

FIIBERIE LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

40. A&IE
(a) BEAREIE

REFEBRARBELENERFAOT ¢

40. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but

not yet incurred is as follows:

2009 2008
§$7¥< E—YE  BEREEHEL Capital commitments — expenditure
S RBmIEE 7T H of property, plant and equipment
and concession intangible assets
BB LB RBE — Contracted but not provided for 904,848 560,181
— E;Lt/gfa KRB — Authorised but not contracted for 2,162,894 2,395,499
3,067,742 2,955,680
&iéfﬁkj%‘ Investment commitments
B LB RBE — Contracted but not provided for — 318,970
— E?Lt/g{a REL — Authorised but not contracted for 149,949 —
3,217,691 3,274,650

(b) BEHEERIE-—FREFBAERBAA (b) Operating lease commitments - the Group as the

lessee

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-

REBETAHELERE  ARKEHRENHE

(I N cancellable operating leases are as follows:
2009 2008
T+ R EEY): Land and buildings:
NER:EA—FE Not later than 1 year 4,592 2,956
BB —FENBBRSF Later than 1 year and not later
than 5 years 3,294 479
iBiEh T Over 5 years 1,325 13
9,211 3,448

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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40. A (&)

(c) @EHERE-FAEEHEHBEAA

BRETIHEEERE  ARKEBERFE
B :

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

40. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(c) Operating lease commitments - the Group as the
lessor

The future aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows:

2009 2008
T i R EEY) - Land and buildings:

THEBE—F Not later than 1 year 51,505 26,274

BB —FENEBRF Later than 1 year and not later
than 5 years 20,600 27,092
BiE AT Over 5 years 3,136 7,508
75,241 60,874

XS 6 41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a) WEEEBEFES1%MEDS

“ETAFE—FAE AEBUREHEE
%50 949,000 T FEAK W BB ZE 5B R 51 % M) #E
HoERFER _TTAF+_A=Z+—HHEX
EREE  FIREBEERKEBZE_ZTNF
+ZA=+—REBEHFRKAHLF -

(i) WEHNFEEIRNOT

W iESHE
—R-ZEZNFXMNRE
—HEEBEENEERRA

WHE1%FEEN R A EE

BEESARER

(@) Acquisition of 51% equity interest in
Huatongyuan

On 9 January 2009, the Group completed the acquisition of 51%
equity interest in Huatongyuan for a cash consideration of
HKD50,949,000. As Huatongyuan has not commenced its operation
as at 31 December 2009, the business acquired has not contributed
any revenue or net profit from the date of acquisition to 31 December
2009.

()  Details of net assets acquired are as follows:

Purchase consideration:

— Cash paid in 2009 50,949
— Direct cost relating to acquisition 828
Fair value of 51% net assets acquired (52,079)
Negative goodwill credited to income statement (302)

FIIBERIE LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

41. ESH &) 41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
(a) WHBEBIRS1%MER (&) (@ Acquisition of 51% equity

Huatongyuan (continued)

interest in

iy WHEEEMBSEMEEHNALEBMEEE (i) Thefairvalue and carrying amount of the assets and liabilities

EEYRET : arising from the acquisition are as follows:
wWWiEE
KRR E
Acquiree’s
AREE carrying
Fair value amount
BEMECEEY Cash and cash equivalents 29,010 29,010
M RE N Property, plant and equipment 444 444
EEITE Construction in progress 82,846 69,505
HuIEmaEeE Other non-current assets 464 464
AR 2RI Prepayment for construction 34,243 34,243
FE S 2% 2k R b ST 2R Payables for construction and
other payables (44,892) (44,892)
HEE Net assets 102,115 88,774
o 49% DB R AE R Less: 49% minority interests (50,036)
W BE 951 % S F B B 51% of net assets acquired 52,079
(i) U BEMIRS R (i)  Cash outflow on acquisition
BITEEENEEKA Direct cost relating to acquisition (828)
R-ZEENERS T HWERE Purchase consideration settled in cash in 2009 (60,949)
FTkEET B AR H R4 RIB4 % EY Cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiary acquired 29,010
(22,767)

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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41. ES 6 (BE)

(b) WEBHETTR A R45%MV S

RZZEZANFALA=Z+THUA  AEBES
5% MR AR MR - MAETRARAAEE
ZHREIEHELE c NFA - AEBIREKAR
REBRT45% M iER -  ARBEHE_ZSTNF
+ZA=+—HHHE  RENEREAEE
B RAA A4 F 5 Bl &% % 136,770,000
N B#64,214,0007T - ERBEWER-_ZTT A
F—A—HELRLE  AAEEEEZE_ZTTAN
FH+ZRA=F+—RALFEE=ZF 2 WEMEF
BRI hn& ¥ 208,090,000 T & i #
89,759,0007T ° W ESRBENBAEEMN
B WiBBRAEZHBARNEEARRE
REWE  BELRRENELEENARER
BE_TTHFE—F—BmMECHERAOEEINT
EmEy, EREENHEEZEMmMTE -

(i) WERSHFEEIRNOT
—RESEER RO WBERE
—BERRFARIEELETHRER
—HEBERNERRAN

WRER A A &t

WEnFEEAAE

kS
RERGER DGR ERBTKE  AREK
ESRERARBE _ZETNFOA-—RBREL
MATARER - ARKER _ZETAFAA=
TH {OA-—BEARA=THELANEER
o REBNESLETOED  HEAERE

FrA - Bt - BER DR RMBEBER AR
B/% o

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

(b) Acquisition of 45% equity interest in Jihe East
Company

Jihe East Company was a jointly controlled entity of the Group,
which the Group owned 55% equity interest before 30 September
2009. During this year, the Group acquired the remaining 45%
equity interest in Jihe East Company. The acquired business
contributed revenue of HKD136,770,000 and net profit of
HKD64,214,000 to the Group from the acquisition date to 31
December 2009. If the acquisition occurred on 1 January 2009,
the Group’s share of revenue and net profit would have been
increased by HKD208,090,000 and HKD89,759,000, respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2009. These amounts have
been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by
adjusting the results of the subsidiary to reflect the additional
depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged
assuming the fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets had applied from 1 January 2009, together
with the consequential tax effects.

(i)  Details of net assets acquired are as follows:

— Purchase consideration as specified

in equity transfer agreement 1,213,443
— Distribution derived from Jihe East Company

originally attributable to the seller (82,288)
— Direct cost relating to acquisition 92,747
Total cost of acquisition 1,223,902
Fair value of net assets acquired (1,223,902)

Goodwill _

In accordance with the equity transfer agreement, the Group is
entitled to all cash distribution derived from Jihe East Company
since 1 April 2009 when the acquisition is completed. Since the
acquisition was completed on 30 September 2009, the proportion
of cash distribution generated from 1 April to 30 September,
which is originally attributable to the seller is entitled owned by
the Group. Therefore, it has been treated as a deduction item to
the cost of acquisition.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

41. ESH &) 41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
(b) UREEHETT R N Fl45% MR (&) (b) Acquisition of 45% equity interest in Jihe East

Company (continued)

The revaluation surplus of original 55% equity interest owned
by the Group amounting to HKD1,014,001,000 was credited
to the other reserve on the date of acquisition.

(iy MNUWEB ANEERZALRERME ()
B 2B 1,014,001,0007T 5 A H At
1 o

“EFNFALA=+TH - WKEAR On 30 September 2009, the acquisition date

Fair value of net assets and shareholders’ loan

BERARFEEMRRBRD

N4 (B of Jihe East Company 2,719,783
[E55% HE 25 ] R B 2 2k iy The fair value of original 55% equity interest
N fE and shareholders’ loan 1,495,881
B 55 % KE 25 [ iR BT 5 2 1) Less: the carrying value of original 55% equity
EEERA interest and shareholders’ loan (481,880)
AR AHEANEGRS Revaluation surplus arising from the business
combination

1,014,001

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as

(il WEBEAHNBEENBBENAABERE (i)

N

T

EEATRAT : follows:
wU g E
H R E B
Acquiree’s
AREE carrying
Fair value amount
BehESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 181,694 181,694
TR T 4 U 3R Trade and other receivables 15,068 15,068
Ty Inventory 259 259
EEFTEHREE Deferred tax assets 16,094 16,094
Him#EE Other current assets 794 794
L E R Property, plant and equipment 55,016 55,016
FEEIR Construction in progress 974 974
e BT 4 A T R B Concession intangible assets 3,513,823 1,055,601
TR H b E A< =R Trade and other payables (140,585) (140,585)
NEEES (TEE Provision for maintenance/resurfacing
obligations (285,809) (285,809)
HHIFT SR A A Current income tax liabilities (22,990) (22,990)
EEFTETFaE Deferred tax liabilities (614,555) =
SHEEE Net assets 2,719,783 876,116
RS B Net assets acquired 1,223,902

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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E& 0 (B
W BT R D R46% MR (8)

72 8 [ 4 P9 1 5 SR B RE T IR A )
MEERRRUBENA A E - WEE
ARAMTEREARSRRSSENA
BHRERTEE - AR RS RRLE
B 4 R ES B IR E B -
im0 AR KT E
| ERHMRERT

BRREFTRABNUERESE T —
RF EFH20% :

REREXBGHNEREINETHFE
Z o AHHBINZAT » RIEBLERE
AEBEBRREHENRIENRGRARMN
RKER

REBBRRRITHER SRR - KT -
B I o8 14 4 3 4 T A 4 7 B D
MEBBR TG ENEAED)

AEBERRE R R b5 e iR E 1 R
SREMEREREST

AEERZEENLCEHANKTIEE
KEREMBLERREERPHRBRNE
D

41.

(b)

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Acquisition of 45% equity interest in Jihe East
Company (continued)

The Group adopted valuation technique to assess the fair
value of net assets of Jihe East Company on the acquisition
date. Main assets of Jihe East Company are cash and cash
equivalents and concession intangible assets. The fair value
of cash and cash equivalents is equal to its carrying amount,
while concession intangible assets are assessed using “Present
Earning Value Method” based on the following key estimations:

Assume that the toll rate of Jihe East Company would increase
20% from 2015;

In order to realise the growth potential of the business and
maintain the competitive edge, additional manpower,
equipment and facilities are necessary to be employed. For
this valuation exercise, the Group has assumed that the
facilities and systems proposed are sufficient for future
expansion;

The Group has assumed that there will be no material change
in the existing political, legal, technological, fiscal or economic
conditions, which might adversely affect the business of
the Jihe East Company;

The Group has assumed that the operational and contractual
terms stipulated in the relevant contracts and agreements
will be complied;

The Group has assumed that no flooding and other types
of scurvy weather will occur which may extend closure of
the expressway;
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41. EE 6t (&)
(b) UWiEBHETRIER D B]45%MIFREZ (48)

s REMTRARMEANBBEER &~

EEBRIJESENKEHNMERAOM
KMT -

(1) REH MM

I8

Tax item

BEN—IWE R

Business Tax -Toll Road

EEM—-HEBRA

Business Tax -Rental Income

YT A RE R AR T

Urban Maintenance and Construction Tax
B &M

Educational Surtax and Surcharge

(2) TERBH
F1n

Year

FTiEHi =

Income tax rate

BERETRELEERAZIUREXE  ZE
yﬂl% BREER TR REBEHS 288

Pl EERRE - ARBEZEER AL
Mlﬁuﬁmﬁﬁm%Z%ﬁiﬁmi%

v) KENBEER
WEHER -—STEAFURE XM
TG A

T EHBARNBRERIREEEY

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
3R 2009 Annual Report

cial Statements

41. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Acquisition of 45% equity interest in Jihe East
Company (continued)

(b)

o Based on tax regulations applicable to the Jihe East Company,
the Group has assumed the tax rate over the concession
period of the expressway as follows:

(1) Turnover tax and surtax

& it &

Tax base Tax rate
ILE-UNiZIPN

Toll road’s revenue 3%
a2 WA

Rental income 5%
e

Business tax amount 1%
EEEE

Business tax amount 3%
(2) Income tax

2009 2010 2011 2012 — 2027
20% 22% 24% 25%

In determining the discount rate for the operation adopted in
the valuation, the Group has taken into account a number of
factors including the current market condition and the underlying
risks inherent in the business, such as uncertainty risk, etc. These
risk factors have been considered in determining the appropriate
discount rate, 13.2%, for the valuation.

Cash outflow on acquisition

(V)

Purchase consideration settled in cash in 2009  (1,213,443)
Transaction costs (92,537)

Cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiary
company acquired 181,694
(1,124,286)
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42. BBE RS

R EE 1 FTAl - AR AR B BRI § 5 AR IR
BEI o PAMIFE17 ~ 24 ~ 27(b) ~ 27(c) * &

39(aFF M RX F R ANKENBB IR S -
BR A EPTIRERE SN - AN S B0 AN 2 P B R
TETHNEBR M ¢

(@) AEER-_ZFZENFER-_ZTAF K

(c)

SEN—RARNGRRIN T BEBEAFRT
FEFRREDBER  FREEXRD 5
EENMBWARER -

AEBR-_ZZNFR_ZTTNFHE
HAECENEATHERERTRZE
REBMERTRERARES - WER
—EEZAF+_RA=+—HAHEEA®
ENENERIRRRRES

XNIREERBE

FIlSREHBE N R - BB ARRR]
EERBER - REZER - BEAA
AFRYERIHETRER - BERE
& FHAAZEL)E1107,071,0007T © RARE
B R EEmER AR EIERG
& BH27 445,000 (ZEE/)N\F : B
19,944,0007T) * HE - TZTNF+ A
=+—Hit FISHEE RFTHERAQ
A EEREE B 45 %82,755,000
5T o

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

42. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As described in Note 1, the Company is de facto controlled by
SIHC. The transactions as mentioned in Notes 17, 24, 27(b),
27(c) and 39(a) are related party transactions of the Group. Save
as disclosed above, the Group has the following significant
transactions with related parties during the year:

(a)

During the year 2008 and 2009, the Group has bank deposits
in and obtained borrowings from state-owned banks in normal
commercial terms. Interests are earned and incurred on
these deposits and borrowings respectively.

The Group has capital expenditure incurred for service
concession projects and construction in progress with state-
owned contractors both in 2008 and 2009 and payable
balances due to state-owned contractors for construction
projects and guaranteed deposits as of 31 December 2009.

Payment of project management service fee

Shenzhen Expressway entered into project management
service contracts with Consulting Company, another associate
of Shenzhen Expressway, under which Consulting Company
assumes the management of the reconstruction project of
Shenzhen Expressway. The value of the management service
contract is approximately HKD107,071,000. During the year,
Shenzhen Expressway paid a management fee of
approximately HKD27,445,000 (2008: HKD19,944,000) to
Consulting Company. The cumulative management fee paid
by Shenzhen Expressway to Consulting Company amounted
to approximately HKD82,755,000 up to 31 December 2009.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

42.

43. &

B & G LB T T R E)

BBt LR 5Z (&)
R AR HA

MRARY B REENREQNROMIE D

o REBBREERARZKNEAERN
WERBEEREMGHEERKEE - ©
REE > FISEABERA ﬂﬁ%ﬂ
BB A HAERS88,209,0000T (—EE
N\ : ##155,399,0007T) * iR
NSRS wm@%HZ%EDAE%%
79,021,000 (ZEENF : B
141,949,0007T) ° 1&4&2@?%&%%7]};‘?
BEWRIBEBRRIEHIBEIRAEE T
B WANRERERFES -

ERHREE
&R EAR

R-ZTE—ZTE—F—HBHEARER XK
SERFINEHRSFTHEMBHNREIE
EBAR 4,706,833/ - FHEEEA
ERAR®K19.97T  BREHARKE
9,400B 7T - MARERH » AEEEEHF
£99,109,048R % £ EARRAR D - hFE
WEB D BITIRABRELNS11% ' FTiA
AEEBARKG AIRRIESFZZE

EEEE °
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(d)

43.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Toll income collection

Due to the geographical layout of the toll roads operated
by Shenzhen Expressway, certain toll gates of the toll roads
of Shenzhen Expressway and Jihe East Company are
overlapping. As a result, Shenzhen Expressway and Jihe
East Company collect toll income for each other. During
the year, the aggregate toll income collected by Shenzhen
Expressway on behalf of Jihe East Company was
HKD88,209,000 (2008: HKD155,399,000), while the aggregate
toll income collected by Jihe East Company on behalf of
the Group was HKD79,021,000 (2008: HKD141,949,000).
All toll revenue collected was paid back to the counterparties
within three days after collection without charging any handling
fees.

Key management compensation

Details of key management compensation are set out in
Note 32.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
Disposal of CSG A shares

From 1 January 2010 to the date of this report, the Group
has disposed of a total of 4,706,833 CSG A shares via
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The average selling price was
RMB19.97 per share, giving a total consideration of
approximately RMB94 million. As at the date of this report,
the Group beneficially owned 99,109,048 CSG A shares,
representing approximately 8.11% shares in the total issued
share capital of CSG. All CSG A shares held by the group
are freely tradeable on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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RERHREE @)

#rRIMmEBEREERA (DRIIFZE])
EITEE

RZZE—ZEF=A=-+—H ARA&
BEZ2EWBARIFEBZEMR OF
INERAE ([2EYR]) B BB M
=RHARAE (FREBEM]) RFIIH
EHEERRAR ([EH])FTILES
B - B\ - 2R T EE R E R
wIMZES H£)FE AR1,030,125,000
T EHF2EREEARK
347,981,2507C * HF R HE AR
682,143,750 L R R = # LM &
AR([BE]) - RREETKE  =28Y
MR R MERRERHI10%IE INE
25% - i/ B B 0B E & o Bl B R
IHLZE51 % A1 24 % HY AL AE -

BEBKARR AR PTES EHRA
([EMRAUDEBEBTH-—EBETERS A
SARSBIRPNBERAE LR AR ]
BE - BHEEENHBTENARRHA
PR_T—ZEF=A_F+—HHORF -

RYIRETARENELT

FIERAPEETRTERZEHE
HBERTASBAREIETHHER
(T2 ML ESHE - X)X+ H
ZEESAMEET  BR=F HAW
B EHAEZmMERET - HPFE—H
REBARKLIEBL BEEMNEXRAEBF
3.72% ' ER_ZE—ZF=A+HHZE
1T2E -

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

43. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

(0)

(continued)

Capital Injection to Shenzhen Airlines Limited (“Shenzhen
Airlines”)

On 21 March 2010, the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Shenzhen International Total Logistics (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (“Total Logistics”), entered into a capital increase
agreement with Air China Limited (“Air China”) and Shenzhen
Huirun Investment Co., Ltd. (“Huirun”), pursuant to which
Total Logistics and Air China have conditionally agreed to
make a capital contribution totaling RMB1,030,125,000 to
Shenzhen Airlines, of which, Total Logistics will contribute
RMB347,981,250 and Air China will contribute
RMB682,143,750 to subscribe for additional registered capital
of Shenzhen Airlines (the “Capital Injection”). Upon completion
of such capital increase, Total Logistics will increase its
equity interest in Shenzhen Airlines from 10% to 25%, and
Air China and Huirun will own 51% and 24% equity interests
in Shenzhen Airlines, respectively.

The Capital Injection constitutes a major transaction of the
Company under the Rules Governing Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
and is therefore subject to the approval by the shareholders
of the Company at a general meeting. For details of the
Capital Injection, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 March 2010.

Issuance of medium term notes

Shenzhen Expressway’s application for the issuance of medium
term notes (the “Notes”) with principal amount of RMB700
million has been approved by the National Association of
Financial Market Institutional Investors. The Notes would
be issued in two phases, of which the first phase with principal
amount of RMB400 million has been successfully issued
on 15 March 2010. The Notes have terms of three years
and bear floating interest rate. The applicable interest rate
of the first phase notes is 3.72% per annum.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

44, FEMB R EFHE

=L

Name

P NGIE

Subsidiaries:

AMEEZR (RID
BERARA

REIRR 2R ORI
BERAR (AIEEE
i ORI BRAE]) ©

Shenzhen International Total
Logistics (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. (formerly known as
Total Logistics (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.)¢

MBEEERE (ORI
BRAAFA

Xin Tong Chan Development
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. 2

AR R B R 2 7 00
BR 2R (BERYI™
FErBRR
BRAAR)®

Shenzhen International South-

China Logistics Co.,
Ltd. (formerly known as
Shenzhen South-China
International Logistics
Co., Ltd.) @

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

ERITEBER
=R A EHE
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

7% 10,000,000 7T
HKD10,000,000

AR #200,000,0007T
RMB200,000,000

AK#200,000,0007T
RMB200,000,000

AR #240,000,0007T
RMB240,000,000

FII BB E A% B BR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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RARFEER
Interest held by
the Company

H#

Direct

ke

Indirect

100

100

100

100

EREK

Principal activities

WEZERK

Investment holding

RE2EDR R

BRRERY

Provision of total

logistics and
transportation
ancillary services

REER

Investment holding

EEERYRE

Development,

construction,
operation and
management of South
China Logistic Park



44, T EH B R RFE (&)

=L

Name

BRI AR ORYI) BIR
Al (AEREERER
R BR AR~

Shenzhen International
Holdings (SZ) Limited
(formerly known as Yiwan
Industry Development
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.)#

ERES 2R
BRAAF®

Nanjing UT Logistics
Co., Ltd. @

me%§L %%F
RMBERA
Shenzhen EDI Co., Ltd. @

R T R B B P BB
AR A (AR
uﬁmmuﬁﬁﬁ )
Shenzhen International West
Logistics Co., Ltd. (formerly
known as Shenzhen Western
Logistics Co., Ltd.) @

fre R MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(B BT EA5)

BB LB T T R El)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
ERTEER
&t it BR A< E B

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered share

capital

75 #2,180,000,0007T
HKD2,180,000,000

A K #88,000,0007T
RMB88,000,000

AR #22,760,0007T
RMB22,760,000

AKR#450,000,0007T
RMB450,000,000

ARBFHER
Interest held by
the Company

HiZ

Direct

CikE3

Indirect

100

100

68.54

100

TEEK

Principal activities

REER
Investment holding

W7 PR 75 T2 46
BREREER

Logistic services and
related warehouse
facilities

REBEFERH -
EHIgEEA
HARY

Provision of electronic
information exchange,
transmission
and value-added
information sharing
services

- 2Z& K&
ERTEHYRERR

Development,
construction,
operation and
management of
Western Logistic Park

FIIBERIE LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

44, T EH B R RFE (&)

(continued)
ERTZER
= AR A< H B

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
=1 registered share
Name capital

AR #1,533,800,0007T
RMB1,533,800,000

FINTERD Eﬂi_nx
REBERA

Shenzhen Bao Tong Highway
Construction and
Development Limited®

RYBEAR BRI AR ¥5,000,0007T
BRAAAF® RMB5,000,000
Shenzhen Longda Expressway
Company Limited®

ANER#2,180,770,3267T
RMB2,180,770,326

wYE R DR G
BRAR

Shenzhen Expressway Company
Limited”

MR RAELE 28,000,0003 7T
BRAFA USD28,000,000
Hubei Magerk Expressway
Management Private
Limited 2~

IWERIEB 2 REYR
BERAR (RIEES
ILRMRBR AT

Shandong Booming Total Logistics
Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
Yantai Beiming Logistics Co.,
Ltd.) @

A #90,000,0007T
RMB90,000,000

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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RRBFHER
Interest held by
the Company

H#

Direct

ke

Indirect

100

89.93

50.89

100

55.39

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

TEER

Principal activities

M- BF% R’RE-
REREBRKE RN

Development,
construction,
investment, operation
and management of
toll highway

KEREREASR
N

Operation and
management of
Longda Expressway

KRE  ER RKeERE
W B X B A 8 B

Investment, construction,
operation and
management of toll
highways and roads

RERERRRARE

Operation and
management of
highways and
expressways

Ym R & AB A A
RS

Logistic services and
related warehouse
facilities



fre R MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44, T EH B R RFE (&)

(BRHEBIEERS) - T 2 B LB T T s E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
ERTEER
&t it BR A< E B

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

=58 registered share
Name capital
RN IRE BN F % AR %105,600,0007T

#nme RMB105,600,000
Shenzhen Shen Guang Hui
Highway Development

Company®

HRAEHGIEEER AR
Nanjing Xiba Wharf Co., Ltd.®

AR #455,000,0007T
RMB455,000,000

RINTIEE = R DR
BRATA®

Shenzhen Meiguan Expressway
Company Limited®

A K #332,400,0007T
RMB332,400,000

R EHREEBER QA

Shenzhen Expressway
Advertising Company
Limited®

A K #2,000,0007T
RMB2,000,000

Ff%/az_ W*J?é AR ¥1,200,000,0007T
BRI RMB1,200,000,000
Guangdong Qinglian Highway
Development Company
Limited ©

ARBFHER
Interest held by
the Company

TEEK

Principal activities

HiZ iz
Direct Indirect
— 100 REER

Investment holding

— 70 ER - RENEEM
NERABERT

EEDS &7/ NinkasllIN
Construction, operation
and management of
Warf and Logistics
Centres at Xiba Port

of Nanjing
SEEYNS

Construction, operation
and management of
an expressway

R B3R A R A
B & IR
Advertising agency in
the PRC

= 100

— 76.37 R RERER
= RN B
Development, operation
and management of
highways

FIIBERIE LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRHBIREERS) - FTE 2 B LB T B E )

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

44, T EH B R RFE (&)

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
ERTZER
= AR A< H B
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/ RARFEER
=1 registered share Interest held by FEXEK
Name capital the Company Principal activities
=k e
Direct Indirect
IR TR = R D RER AR#440,000,0007C — 100 &R - RENERE
BERAAF® RMB440,000,000 = RN

Shenzhen Airport-Heao
Expressway (Eastern
Section) Company Limited @

Construction, operation
and management of
an expressway

/mﬂH m rEIREBRYRE AR #60,000,0007C — 51 WImBRE RAEHEAE &
Aal (BRI TmER RMB 60,000,000 B
EECFZJ?ﬁﬁﬁE@ m))e Logistic services and

Shenzhen International
Huatongyuan Logistics
Co., Ltd. (formerly known
as Shenzhen Huatongyuan
Logistics Co., Ltd.) @

A SNEBE
¢ INEE
@ NAEDRE

: SR AR ARAE
EHER 2 A

AREAEERR  LRIFEZERDBHALE
BARFEZREREAFENIBRNAEEE
EFEERBH2MBLR - LEHE QR
EHBEEMEEE - WA EBHBRRZE
o BEEERENBRITE °

RYIBIFR 2% A PR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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related warehouse
facilities

o Foreign-owned enterprise
© Sino-foreign Joint Venture
e Domestic enterprise

Foreign invested joint stock limited company

For identification purpose only

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results of the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. These subsidiaries are incorporated and
operating in the PRC. To give details of other subsidiaries would
result in particulars of excessive length.
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Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors:

Guo Yuan (Chairman)

Li Jing Qi (Chief Executive Officer)
Liu Jun (Vice President)

Yang Hai

Non-Executive Directors:
To Chi Keung, Simon
Wang Dao Hai

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Leung Ming Yuen, Simon

Ding Xun

Nip Yun Wing

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Leung Ming Yuen, Simon (Chairman)
Ding Xun

Nip Yun Wing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Ding Xun (Chairman)

Leung Ming Yuen, Simon

Li Jing Qi

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Ding Xun (Chairman)

Leung Ming Yuen, Simon

Li Jing Qi

COMPANY SECRETARY
Tam Mei Mei

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Rooms 2206-2208, 22nd Floor

Greenfield Tower, Concordia Plaza

No. 1 Science Museum Road

Tsimshatsui East

Kowloon, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda
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Corporate Information

NAPE

http://www.szihl.com

iz 43 4K 5%
00152

B Em

R’ oK E R TR E RS
HEE D

BB

EEEE

BEWIR - BOK R EENTT (BBAFEER)

T EARET

B4R (BE)
SERRURIRT  BB%T
BB - BEHT
BERTT

BB

ERERERT

18 4R 4T

th B T RSB 4T (0 B 3R 7T)
EEREBRET (FEEREF)
BT RAT

R R BRI

TERGBFERTE
Codan Services Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

EEBRMBFEERSE
FEEERERAR
BEAERKNEBER28%R

& B E R 0261

REZEBREAER™

BE e FELESHARARA
BEETHEFRIR
KEZFRDI12E
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COMPANY WEBSITE
http://www.szihl.com

STOCK CODE
00152

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS
Loong & Yeung, Solicitors (Hong Kong Legal Adviser)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong)

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Hong Kong Branch
China Construction Bank, Hong Kong Branch

China Merchants Bank

DBS Bank

Guangdong Development Bank

Hang Seng Bank

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (PRC Domestic Bank)
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank (PRC Domestic Bank)
Standard Chartered Bank

Shenzhen Development Bank

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Codan Services Limited

Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Tengis Limited

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT
Rikes Hill & Knowlton Limited

Room 1312, Wing On Centre

111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong



RAFE®RA @ BRIENESFPIE

SENATEE

VNI

“Company”

[(EERFA
“CG Code”

[FaEE ]
“CSG”

a3
“Board”

[AREE |
“Group”

=)
“Huatongyuan”

[T R A A
“Jihe East Company’

[ EmARA

“Listing Rules”

[1ZAE=FH |
“Model Code”

[FERASHIEEAR ]
“Nanjing Xiba Wharf Company”

877 R BB A1 ]
“SFO”

LR NG
"SCGC"

[ ZE
“Shenzhen Airlines”

[ &/ |
“Shenzhen EDI”

Ry ]
“Shenzhen Expressway”

Definitions

ZHRITFIE  In this report, the following expressions have the meanings set
out below unless the context requires otherwise:

Shenzhen International Holdings Limited CGRYIEIFEIERAR AT *)

AR B EE+ [EERB R
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the “Code on Corporate Governance Practices”

FEREEEEEROERA A
CSG Holding Co., Ltd.

ARFEFR
the board of directors of the Company

AR REKE LR

The Company and its subsidiaries

RITORBIFR ZE BRI AR A A
Shenzhen International Huatongyuan Logistics Co., Ltd.

R =R AR RERBRAF]
Shenzhen Airport-Heao Expressway (Eastern Section) Company Limited

B X PrE 2 AR Al
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

FHRETAESTETESF R HHIRESTA
The Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers

MRS EER AR
Nanjing Xiba Wharf Co. Ltd.

BH LB
The Securities and Futures Ordinance

AYTEIFIREEEGR AT
Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd.

FYIMZEEREERFR
Shenzhen Airlines Co., Ltd.

YIS S EE FEBERBRARAR
Shenzhen EDI Co., Ltd.

R AE RN BRAE]
Shenzhen Expressway Company Limited

FRIIBBRE LA IR A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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Definitions

DRI EE S RITEBEELREERR

“Shenzhen SASAB” Shenzhen State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Bureau
[Ea B | FRYTIRE R E R B R AR

“Shenzhen Western Logistics” Shenzhen International West Logistics Co., Ltd.

DRI EERE AR EEE AR

“SIHC” Shenzhen Investment Holding Corporation

DRI E AL AT IREZERAR A A

“SIHCL” Shenzhen Investment Holdings Company Limited

Eaturd AT RERERYRERAR

“South China Logistics” Shenzhen International South-China Logistics Co., Ltd.

[ B 32 P EEMARIMAERAT

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

(MR AR RSB RIS BE SR LERAR

“SZ Airport Express Center” Shenzhen Airport International Express Supervision Center Co., Ltd.
X7/ il REE2ER ORI BRAR

“Total Logistics” Shenzhen International Total Logistics (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
“Ultrarich” Ultrarich International Limited

[RFE ] HE-_ZTNEF+_A=+—HLFE

“Year” For the year ended 31 December 2009

RAFRA > PEEENECABIHEP XS  Inthis report the English names of the PRC entities are translations

TAES - EHER - HAEEE  BIAPXE  of their Chinese names and included herein for identification purpose

TR o only. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese names shall
prevail.

* EHHE A

For identification purpose only

FI BT B R A 7] Shenzhen International Holdings Limited
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Shenzhen International

UL =2 A
/7K X, 7N

The upper part of the logo is rhythmic, open and translucent, reflecting Shenzhen International’s
spirit of proactive development and strong adaptability towards changes, as well as its
ambition of establishing a foothold in the Pearl River Delta whilst expanding across
China with an international perspective. The silver grey colour is a refreshing colour of
the sky, a symbol of aspirations and visions.

The lower part of the logo is solid, regulated and pragmatic, reflecting Shenzhen International’s
philosophy of strengthening its foundation and advancing steadily and gradually, as
well as its character of being trustworthy and ambitious. The navy blue colour is a
colour of the vast and fathomless ocean, a symbol of wisdom and strength.

Shenzhen International carries the great expectations of its shareholders, customers,
staff and the society. It will relentlessly strengthen the capacity of its development, the
impact of its brand name and the cohesiveness of its staff, thereby continuously enhancing
its corporate value.

Advancing Together Harvesting Together
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